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Interloop Limited, known across the globe for its manufacturing excellence in 
Hosiery products and service delivery, is expanding its Hosiery business and 
diversifying into Apparel manufacturing including, Denim, Seamless Active wear 
and Knitwear, positioning itself as a multi-category multi-country partner with a 
growth mindset, providing end to end solutions to its customers and creating value 
for its stakeholders.    
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COMPANY 
INFORMATION



VISION 2020
To double our turnover by 2020 through 
value addition, process improvement and 
nourishing talent

To be an agent of positive change for the 
stakeholders and community by pursuing an 

ethical and sustainable business

MISSION

CORE VALUES

Care
Nurturing a 

Caring Culture

We promote a caring attitude 
towards our employees and 

the community as a whole. We 
acquire, nurture and reward 

talent

Integrity
Act with Integrity

We act with integrity 
and are ethical in our 

functions and dealings 

Excellence
Achieving the Highest Standards

We believe in excellent customer 
service, latest processes & 

technology; quality product & 
services; personal growth & 

development

Respect
Respect for Environment, Respect 

for the People

We make efforts to preserve the 
environment we live in and ensure 
that self-respect of our workforce 
is maintained. We are good team 

players

Accountability
Accept Responsibility, 

Be Accountable

We take decisions through 
collective wisdom, accept 

responsibilities and avoid undue 
financial risks
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
2018 - 19

Sales Revenue

37,478 
PKR in Million

Net Profit
after Tax

5,195 
PKR in Million

Profit before
Tax

5,421 
PKR in Million

Export

231
USD in Million

Total Assets

40,783
PKR in Million

Price
Earning Ratio

6.64 
Times 

Share Price

44.27 
PKR 

Gross Profit
Margin

31.90%
EBITDA

7,961 
PKR in Million 

Shareholders'
Equity

17,880 
PKR in Million

Cash
Dividend

per share*

3.00 
PKR 

Return on
Equity

29.00% 

Net Profit
Margin

13.86%

Current Ratio

1.27
Times

*Includes PKR 1.75 per share Final Dividend, 
recommended by the Board of Directors in Board meeting 
held on September 23, 2019, subject to approval at 
Annual General Meeting 
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CODE OF CONDUCT

Interloop Limited conducts its business based on the highest ethical standards in 
full compliance with all applicable laws. Honesty and integrity take precedence 
in all relationships including those with customers, suppliers, employees and 
other stakeholders.

Sales 
Grow sales by delivering innovative/value added products 
faster, expanding hosiery product offering and diversifying 
into adjacent product categories including denim, seamless 
activewear and knitwear. Our new categories will be igniting 
our next phase of growth as we prepare to deliver end to end 
solutions to our customers across multiple categories.

Costs
Whilst maintaining a growth mindset, our focus is to remain 
competitive by efficiently managing our cost base, focusing 
on improving productivity, reducing input costs, improving 
equipment efficiency, reducing wastage and improving our 
energy efficiency.

Quality
To deliver on our ambitions, it is important that we not only 
maintain our quality and service level but also continuously 
improve our quality management processes and systems, 
driving efficiency through standardization and automation, 
using preventive and ultimately predictive solutions to 
achieve 100% pass rates.

Speed
As we move forward towards our vision, achieving speed 
in sampling and manufacturing become catalysts for 
transformation. By streamlining our processes, innovating 

With unparalleled economic uncertainty in the local and global markets, it has 
been imperative for Interloop to maintain a growth mindset and work towards 
increasing the value of our organization for all our stakeholders. We aspire to 
be a partner of choice for our customers with multi-category and multi-country 
capabilities, leveraging our manufacturing scale and flexibility, underpinned by 
incredibly diverse and empowered teams.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

Ethics and Business 
Practices
• We conduct the company’s business in an 

environmentally responsible and sustainable manner 
and provide employees with a safe and healthy 
workplace.

• All employees are expected to understand the permits, 
Health, Safety & Environment Policy and local laws 
and business regulations related to their work and 
comply fully so that our shareholders, other employees, 
customers, suppliers, stakeholders and the government 
have complete faith in the way we operate and that our 
business decisions are made ethically and in the best 
interests of the company.

• Over the years, Interloop has developed a robust 
organizational culture based on the strong foundation 
of company’s Mission & Values i.e. Integrity, Care, 
Accountability, Respect & Excellence.

• We have recently launched Uniform Behaviors; 
a complete manual outlining essential behaviors 
expected of our employees while doing business 
across the organization. The Uniform Behaviors Manual 
has been developed to replicate the same culture 
across rapidly growing multiple business categories. 
Uniform Behaviors lead to mutual trust, measuring 
success, personal & professional growth, performance 
management, succession planning, continuous learning 
& improvement and will act as a sustainable roadmap 
for employees, for succeeding in their personal and 
professional lives.

Assets and Proprietary 
Information
We consider our company’s physical and intellectual assets 
very valuable and have an obligation to protect them in the 
interest of the company and its shareholders. Safeguarding 
company information is important for our business and 
all employees are expected to know which information is 
proprietary and must not be disclosed to unauthorized 
sources. Employees are responsible for applying all available 
tools to manage the company’s information resources and 
records.

Relations with Business
Partners
We seek to do business with suppliers, vendors, contractors 
and other independent businesses who demonstrate high 
standards of ethical business behavior. Our company will not 
knowingly do business with any persons or businesses that 
operate in violation of applicable laws and regulations for 
employment, health, safety and environment. We shall take 
steps to assure that our suppliers, vendors and contractors 
understand the standards we apply to ourselves and expect 
them to do the same.

Our People
We believe that highly engaged employees are a key 
ingredient for professional development and business 
success. Therefore, we invite our employees to contribute 
their best and to avail the opportunities for improvement and 
growth. We are an equal opportunity employer and promote 
gender diversity, inclusion, self-development and innovation. 
We provide employees with tools, techniques, and trainings 
to master their current jobs, broaden their skills, and advance 
their career goals and groom as good human beings.

our ways of working and digitizing our supply chain, we will 
be able to drive efficiency and manufacture more sustainably, 
with the aim to be the fastest in South Asia.

Culture
We believe groundbreaking performance is only possible 
when teams are empowered and equipped to deliver. We are 
bringing our vision to life by developing an agile organization 
structure and launching skill development programmes 
focusing on leadership, analytical and technical skills. 
Workplace safety is paramount to the work we do and with 
over 17,000 people working for us, their health and safety 
comes first. We have focused on developing a competent 
team with specialist experience who understand health and 
safety risks and have stringent policies and procedures 
in place to manage such risks, helping eliminate serious 
injuries.

Business with Purpose
Our ultimate destination is our mission which is more 
than just words - it is reflected in all our decisions and 
our business practices. Our ambition is to transform lives, 
improve wellbeing and build diverse, empowered and 
inclusive workforce whilst ethically using our resources. In 
today’s world our success is determined by staying true to 
our mission – an agent of positive change.
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OUR FOOTPRINT

  Manufacturing

  Services

Global Presence through Associates & Affiliates

Subsidiary
• IL Apparel (Pvt.) Limited

Affiliated Companies
• ILNA Inc. - USA

• Interloop Japan Limited - Japan 

Associated Companies
• Interloop Holdings (Private) Limited

• Interloop Dairies Limited

• IL Bangla Limited

• Texlan Center (Pvt.) Limited

• Interloop Welfare Trust

• Momentum Logistics (Pvt.) Limited

• Global Veneer Trading Limited

• Euro Sox Plus B.V.

Associates & Subsidiaries

USA

PAKISTAN

SRI LANKA

JAPAN

CHINA

BANGLADESH

NETHERLANDS
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Establishment 
of 2nd Unit with 
addition of 400 
Knitting Machines

Established Spinning 
Unit - I at Interloop 
Industrial Park 
(IIP), Faisalabad 
comprising 20,400 
spindles

Commencement 
of Interloop 
Operations at 
Faisalabad with 10 
Knitting Machines

Established 
vertically integrated 
Hosiery Plant 1 at 
Faisalabad with 
current monthly 
production 
capacity of 14.3 
million pairs of 
socks

Established 
vertically integrated 
Hosiery Plant 2 at 
IIP, Faisalabad with 
current monthly 
production 
capacity of 17.9 
million pairs
of socks 
--------
Established Yarn 
Dyeing Division 
at IIP, Faisalabad 
with current 
dyeing capacity of 
354,000 Kgs per 
month

Created business 
alliance with 
Euro Sox Plus, 
Netherlands to 
provide sales, 
marketing, market 
intelligence, 
design, logistics, 
warehousing 
and distribution 
services to 
customers in 
Europe & UK

Established 
Hosiery Plant 3 at 
Lahore through 
acquisition, with 
current monthly 
production 
capacity of 13.7 
million pairs of 
socks 

As part of business 
diversification 
strategy, 
established 
Interloop Dairies 
Limited

Expanded Hosiery Manufacturing 
footprint to Sri Lanka through 
affiliation with Texlan Center 
(Pvt.) Ltd, with current monthly 
production capacity of 3.25 
million pairs of socks
-------  
Set-up a dedicated Tights & 
Leggings Production Unit at 
Plant 1, Faisalabad with monthly 
production capacity of 0.45 
million pieces
--------
Constructed the New Distribution 
Center at IIP, Faisalabad with 
storage capacity of around 26.4 
million pairs of socks 
--------
15.4 MW Interloop Power Plant 
based on Tri-Fuel Engines was 
setup at IIP, Faisalabad to cater to 
energy requirements of existing 
facilities and new extensions 

Established Hosiery Plant 5 pilot 
project with 94 modern Italian 
Knitting Machines currently 
producing 900,000 pairs of socks 
per month. Planned to scale it to 
a vertically integrated sustainable 
manufacturing facility with 
installed capacity of 1,280 knitting 
machines, producing 17.28 
million pairs of socks per month
--------
Constructing LEED Platinum 
certified Interloop Denim Apparel 
manufacturing plant at Lahore. 
Operations will commence in 
Q3, 2019 with planned output 
exceeding 1 million garments per 
month, to be enhanced to 1.2 
million garments by 2021
--------
Held the largest private sector 
IPO in Pakistan’s history and 
listed at Pakistan Stock Exchange 
(PSX) as the 2nd Largest 
Textile Company by Market 
Capitalization
--------
Installed 2.0 MW Grid Tied Solar 
Power Generation System at 
Hosiery Plant 4 & Spinning, IIP; 
a renewable energy venture 
focused at reducing around 
1500 tons of Carbon Emissions 
annually

Commissioned Regions First LEED 
Gold Certified Socks manufacturing 
facility (Plant 4) at IIP, Faisalabad 
with installed capacity of 720 
Specialized Knitting Machines and 
monthly production capacity of 5 
million pairs
--------
Interloop Limited was demerged 
in order to separate non-textile 
business into a separate Holding 
company & Interloop Limited 
looking after the textile business, 
with approval of LHC
--------
Established IL Apparel (Pvt.) 
Limited; a subsidiary for 
manufacturing Knitwear Apparel

Established 
Interloop North 
America; an 
affiliate and 
exclusive North 
American 
representative 
of Interloop 
Limited to provide 
trend analysis, 
design & product 
development, 
sales, marketing, 
warehousing & 
logistic services

Established IL 
Bangla Limited, 
Bangladesh, a 
vertically integrated 
Hosiery Plant with 
current monthly 
production 
capacity of 2.5 
million pairs of 
socks

Set up Interloop 
China Office to 
source top quality 
yarns, dyes, 
chemicals & other 
raw materials cost 
effectively and to 
ensure better lead 
time

Established
Interloop Spinning 
Unit - II at IIP, 
Faisalabad 
comprising 26,304 
spindles 
--------
Set-up a dedicated 
Vertical Sampling 
Facility at IIP, 
Faisalabad

OUR JOURNEY

1992 2009 2017 20192003 20112006 2013

2000 2010 20182005 20122007 2014
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COMPANY PROFILE BUSINESS CATEGORIES 

700Million 

Pairs of Socks & Tights 

annually

HOSIERY

26Million

Kgs Yarns, 5 Million Kgs Dyeing capacity 

with 0.9 Million Kgs Air Covering annually

YARNS

12Million 

Garments planned capacity

annually by 2021 

DENIM

6.50Million 

pieces planned capacity 

annually by 2021

SEAMLESS ACTIVEWEAR

65Million 

pieces planned capacity 

annually by 2021

KNITWEAR

Interloop Limited, launched with 10 knitting machines in 
1992, has grown into one of the world’s largest Hosiery 
manufacturers. A complete vertically integrated company 
with state of the art Spinning, Yarn Dyeing, Knitting and 
Finishing facilities; Interloop is Pakistan’s 7th largest 
exporting firm and the 2nd largest Listed Textile Company 
on Pakistan Stock Exchange by Market Capitalization.

With over 5,000 latest Italian knitting machines, 17,000 
employees and an organizational network spread across 

3 continents, Interloop has the proficiency to work with 
different materials and produces 700 million pairs of Socks 
& Tights annually, for top international brands & retailers. 
With current annual turnover to the tune of USD 250 
million, Interloop is expanding its Hosiery business and 
also venturing into the Apparel segment including Denim, 
Knitwear & Active wear.
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Product Development
A dedicated Vertical Sampling Facility (VSF) at Interloop 
Industrial Park, Faisalabad comprising a Yarn Library, 
dedicated Yarn Dyeing Machines, 100 Knitting Machines 
and Linking to Finishing capabilities develops premium 
quality products for customers. The Product Development 
Lab houses a complete range of latest colour development 
machines. We also offer a Product Development facility 
through our associate company in Sri Lanka.

Quality Assurance
The Quality Department looks after Quality Assurance, 
Quality Control, Quality Testing Labs & QMS. The Quality 
Policy refers the way our teams follow the working processes 
to produce quality products and deliver excellent services to 
our valued customers. QD has five product & raw material 
testing labs; a central development lab at VSF for testing 
of new developments and four production labs for product 
testing. Three labs are ISO/IEC 17025:2005 accredited from 
PNAC (Pakistan National Accreditation Council). The central 
development lab is also ISO/IEC 17043 accredited which 
makes Interloop the First Textile Company in Pakistan to 
provide Local Proficiency Testing (PT).

Research & Innovation 
A dedicated Research & Innovation (R&I) Centre at the 
Global Headquarters - Pakistan, is a self-sufficient facility 
with hi-tech knitting, processing and finishing operations, a 
modern lab, and is looked after by an extremely competent 
team. A Global Innovation Forum having representation from 
our worldwide teams and R&I Centre, works as the heart 
of entire innovation process. From raw concepts to testing 
and commercialization, multiple commercial concepts have 
been launched including innovative knitting constructions, 
processing treatments, specialty yarns and finishing 
operations. Three Patents have already been granted to 
Interloop and patents for two products are in the application 
process.

Hosiery
Headquartered in Pakistan, Hosiery manufacturing & exports 
is the Flagship business category of Interloop Limited. Spread 
across South Asia, it comprises of 5 vertically integrated 
manufacturing facilities in Pakistan, spread over 250 Acres 
across 3 industrial zones, and 1 each in Bangladesh and 
Sri Lanka through associated companies. 

The vertically integrated production is equipped with the latest 
Italian Knitting Machines, Spanish Processing Machines and 
Italian Dyeing Machines, having quick changeover capability 
and highly skilled staff to produce high volumes of standard
mix and low volumes of customized products. Interloop 
Plant 4, located at Interloop Industrial Park, is Pakistan’s & 
Region’s First LEED Gold Certified Socks Production Facility, 
ensuring 26% Energy Savings, 51% Reduction in Portable 
Water Usage & 25% Enhanced Fresh Air Intake.

With current capacity of 5,000+ knitting machines, Interloop 
produces over 700 million pairs of socks and tights annually. 

We will be expanding the hosiery business by adding another 
1,200 knitting machines in Plant 5, expanding our capacity 
to c.6,500 knitting machines with production capacity of 
900 million pairs annually. We produce a wide range of top 
quality products for World's leading brands and retailers.

Our Product Range Includes
• Socks (Performance, Athletic, Casual, Formal, 

Specialty)
• Tights & Leggings

We are Focused on Delivering
• Design & Fashion Trends
• Premium Quality
• Inventory Planning & Management
• Lean Manufacturing Techniques
• Timely Delivery
• peed To Market
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As part of business diversification, Interloop is entering 
into the Denim Apparel Segment and has envisioned a 
production facility with minimal environmental impact, 
prioritized worker well-being and which will maintain high 
standards of operational and cost efficiency, ensuring that 
Interloop continues to serve its customers, effectively. 

The production facility will be LEED Platinum Certified and 
will be the most technologically advanced and sustainable 
denim apparel production facility in this part of the world, 
underpinning Interloop’s Mission. 

With current capacity of 125,000 pcs per month at the Denim 
Development Center, the plant is going into production in 
Q3, 2019 with planned capacity of 500,000 pcs per month, 
to be enhanced to 1 million pcs per month in 2020. The plant 
has been designed in line with Lean concepts, will promote 
gender diversity and is expected to achieve 50:50 male to 
female ratio.

The scope of operations includes Cut & Sew, Laundry and 
Packing & Accessories. Automated precision machinery 
has been installed to improve productivity. Overhead 
hanging systems have been put in place to ensure a Lean 
manufacturing system. Eco-friendly technologies are being 
used to replace aggressive processing agents and reduce 

water consumption. Latest machinery including Laser 
machines have been commissioned to replace manual 
processes for minimizing impact on workers and improving 
quality. Built-in quality measures have been put in place to 
minimize defects and rework. 

The implementation of new and eco-friendly technologies 
will have favorable impacts both on our people and our 
planet and will enhance worker safety, boost productivity and 
minimize risk of work-related accidents or long term illness.

Spinning
Interloop produces over 26 million Kgs of top quality Yarn 
for a range of textile customers, following strict testing 
standards, on Automated Spinning Plants, using latest 
European machinery. Raw materials include:

• Pakistani and Imported cotton 
• Sustainable materials including BCI and Organic cotton
• Synthetic fibers including Acrylic, Viscose, Polyester,

Pre-consumer waste fibers

Multiple varieties of yarns produced include: Plain, Slub, 
Multi Count, Slub Lycra Core, Lycra Core, Polyamide Core, 
Siro, etc.

40% yarn is consumed in house with remaining serving 
world’s renowned weavers, knitters, denim and towel 
producers.

Yarn Dyeing & Air Covering
A state of the art Yarn Dyeing (YD) facility, equipped with 
modern machines including highly automated dyeing 
operations, automatic dyestuff, chemical dispensing 
system, etc., is providing a wide variety of colors in Spun 

and Filament Yarns. With annual dyeing capacity of over 5 
million Kgs, Interloop is providing a wide variety of colours 
in yarns including Polyester, Nylon, Acrylic, Coolmax, Modal, 
Tencel, Viscose, Wool, Bamboo, Blended, Microfibers and 
Recycled Yarns.

Modern Italian Air Covering Machines with annual production 
capacity of 0.9 million Kgs are being used for covering all 
types of in-house dyed, dope dyed and raw white yarns 
with various brands of spandexes like Lycra and Creora, at 
different customized percentages.

Yarns Denim
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Seamless Active Wear
Interloop has also ventured into Seamless Active-wear and 
set up a vertical Pilot Plant at the Interloop Industrial Park. 
With current production capacity of 90,000 pcs per month 
the ramp up plan being considered includes increasing 
the production capacity to 270,000 pcs per month with 
installation of 50 knitting machines during 2020 and to 
540,000 pcs per month by installing 100 machines by 2021. 
Modern yarn and garment dyeing machines offer a variety 
of functional finishes. The in-house filament yarn dyeing 
unit is the largest in Pakistan. Latest Japanese sewing 
machines provide a large variety of sewing capabilities as 
well as variety of styling from basic to hi-tec. The Seamless 
garments will offer 360 stretch with no restricting seams. 
Interloop offers special synthetic material range in recycled 
as well as biodegradable materials, combining durable 
performance with sustainability.

Body mapping technology builds required construction, 
meeting the needs of different body zones. The product 
range includes basic under garments to hi-tech active wear 
for men and women.

Xterity 3.0
With the assistance of our US affiliate, Interloop has developed 
and is selling its own brand Xterity 3.0; performance active 
wear, online at Amazon. Xterity 3.0 is designed with body 
mapping intelligence to provide comfort where you need it 
most. 

Made for men and women both, Xterity 3.0 workout clothing 
is stylish and ultra-functional, offering a seamless, smooth 
appearance and maximum stretch for unlimited movement. 
Using lightweight quality fabrics for a breathable fit, our 
apparel is anything but basic.
 

Interloop is expanding into the Apparel Segment and has 
established IL Apparel (Private) Limited; a subsidiary of 
Interloop Limited which handles the Knitwear business 
category of the company. The Knitwear Pilot Project – a cut 
to pack garment manufacturing facility has been operational 
since Jan 2019 and made its 1st export shipment in March 
2019.

A resourceful fabric sourcing team having strong linkages 
with reliable spinners, knitters, dye houses and printers 
sources best quality fabric and embellishments, as per 
customer requirements. IL Apparel has a dedicated Product 
Development Center with 40 sewing machines for quick turn 
sampling for its customers.

The stitching plant has the production capacity of 1.2 million 
garments per month. This includes a good combination 
of tee shirts, under wears, polos, sweatshirts and fleece 
jackets. With 540 hi-tech Japanese sewing machines from   
Jukie, Pegasus & Brother, IL Apparel is manufacturing all 

kinds of fashion diversity in cut to pack garments.

IL Apparel plans to put up a complete vertically integrated 
(fabric production to cut and sew) garment manufacturing 
complex at Interloop’s second Industrial Park. This complex 
is expected to house 175 knitting machines with 65 tons 
capacity per day, dyeing & finishing set up with 70 tons 
capacity per day and projected capacity of producing 5.4 
million garments per month.

Knitwear
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OUR CUSTOMERS 

Some of our top clients include: Interloop has been recognised all over the globe for instituting sustainable 
practices for its people, operations and the community

AWARDS & RECOGNITION

Interloop was conferred 
the 14th EFP - OSH 

Diamond Award 2018 
in recognition of its best 

practices in safety, health & 
environment

In recognition of 
Interloop’s efforts 

towards Triple Bottom 
Line Sustainability, 

Interloop was among the 
7 companies from around 

the world, endowed 
with the ‘Sustainability 

Innovation Award 2015’, 
by Business School 

Lousanne, Switzerland. 

Target Corporation recognized 
Interloop Limited with the 

2017 ‘Partnership Award’ for 
Responsible Sourcing and 
Community Development

Interloop was among the 2 out 
of 34 suppliers from 6 countries 
to receive PUMA Sustainability 

Award 2018 for outstanding 
performance in Social 

Compliance & Environmental 
Sustainability

In 2016 & 2017 Interloop was conferred 
adidas Performance Award for its PEOPLE 

category based on Employee Welfare 
Initiatives & CSR

In 2018, adidas awarded Interloop for 
Zero Waste Water discharge at its LEED 

Gold Certified facility, 120KW solar energy 
generation being enhanced to 2MW by Q3, 

2019, significantly reducing the use of plastic & 
commitment to plant 73,000 trees by 2020

H&M conferred the 
Sustainability Award 

on Interloop Limited in 
2016 for its People and 
Environment focused 

Initiatives

Interloop won the Global 
Supplier ‘Best in Quality’ 

Award from C&A for 
2016-17 for complying 

with the quality 
performance criteria 
though out the year

practices for its people, operations and the community

In 2016 & 2017 Interloop was conferred 

OUR CUSTOMERS 

Some of our top clients include:
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE



Board of Directors
Musadaq Zulqarnain 
Chairman / Director
........................................................................................

Navid Fazil  
Chief Executive Officer / Director

........................................................................................

Muhammad Maqsood    
Chief Financial Officer / Director    

........................................................................................

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth 
Director

........................................................................................

Shereen Aftab 
Director

........................................................................................

Saeed Ahmad Jabal                                                  
Independent Director
........................................................................................

Tariq Iqbal Khan                                                   
Independent Director
........................................................................................

Group Chief Financial 
Officer
Muhammad Maqsood

........................................................................................

Company Secretary
Rana Ali Raza
........................................................................................

Head of Internal Audit
Jamshaid Iqbal

........................................................................................

Chief Information Officer
Yaqub Ahsan
........................................................................................

Key Business Executives
Tariq Rashid Malik 
President Yarns & Sourcing 

........................................................................................

Azhar Sadiq
Vice President Operations 
........................................................................................

Faryal Sadiq
Vice President Sales & Marketing 

........................................................................................

Feroze Ahmed 
Vice President Denim 

Zain Sadiq
Vice President

........................................................................................

Masooma Naufel Zaidi
Vice President Hosiery Sales 
........................................................................................

Aqeel Ahmad
Assistant Vice President People & OD

........................................................................................

Legal Advisor
HaidermotaBNR & Co
........................................................................................

Auditors
Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.
Chartered Accountants
........................................................................................

Audit Committee
Tariq Iqbal Khan  
Chairman

........................................................................................

Saeed Ahmad Jabal 
Member

........................................................................................

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth  
Member  

........................................................................................

Human Resource & 
Remuneration Committee 

Saeed Ahmad Jabal  
Chairman

........................................................................................

Navid Fazil 
Member

........................................................................................

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth 
Member 

........................................................................................

Nomination Committee
Musadaq Zulqarnain 
Chairman

........................................................................................
Navid Fazil 
Member 

........................................................................................
Muhammad Maqsood 
Member

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Registered Office
Interloop Limited
Al – Sadiq Plaza, P – 157,
Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Phone: +92 – 41 – 2619724
Fax: +92 – 41 – 2639400
Email : info@interloop.com.pk
Website: www. interloop-pk.com

Corporate Office
Interloop Limited
1 – KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road,
Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Phone: +92 – 41 – 4360400
Fax: +92 – 41 – 2428704

Plant Sites
Plant 1
1 - KM Khurrianwala-Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala,
Faisalabad, Pakistan

Interloop Industrial Park 
(Plant 2 & 4, Spinning & Yarn Dying, Seamless Active 
wear) 

7 - KM Khurrianwala-Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, 
Faisalabad, Pakistan

Plant 3 & Denim
8 - KM, Manga-Raiwind Road, Distt. Kasur, Lahore, 
Pakistan.

Share Registrar
Central Depository Company of 
Pakistan Limited
Karachi Office

Share Registrar Department
CDC House, 99-B, Block B,
S.H.C.H.S, Main Shahra-e-Faisal,
Karachi – 74400
Tel: (+92-21) 111-111-500
Fax: (+92-21) 34326031

Lahore Office

Mezzanine Floor,
South Tower, LSE Plaza,
19 - Khayaban-e-Aiwan-e-Iqbal, Lahore.
Tel: (+92-42) 36362061-66

•  Allied Bank Limited 

•  Askari Bank Limited 

•  Bank Alfalah Limited 

•  Faysal Bank Limited 

•  Habib Bank Limited 

•  Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited 

•  MCB Bank Limited 

•  MCB Islamic Bank Limited 

•  Meezan Bank Limited 

•  National Bank of Pakistan 

•  Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited 

•  Summit Bank Limited 

•  The Bank of Punjab 

•  United Bank Limited 

BANKERS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Musadaq Zulqarnain is the Chairman of Interloop Limited, Interloop Dairies Limited, IL Bangla 
Limited and Chairman & CEO of Interloop Holdings (Pvt.) Limited. He is a Member of the Board 
of Port Qasim Authority & Karandaz Pakistan and President of Interloop Welfare Trust. He is 
also associated with The Citizens Foundation (TCF), the largest not-for-profit organization 
providing primary and secondary education to underprivileged children in Pakistan. 

A mechanical engineer by professional training, Musadaq’s leadership experience spans 
over almost four decades. He initially worked for 14 years at senior positions with a top gas 
transmission company in Pakistan and later on transformed into a successful entrepreneur, 
developing and expanding one of the world’s largest Hosiery manufacturing and export 
business, Interloop Limited, over last 27 years. Musadaq is a development enthusiast and 
philanthropist, actively engaged in nurturing the youth of Pakistan by facilitating education, 
women empowerment and sports.

Musadaq Zulqarnain
Chairman / Non-Executive

 Director

Navid Fazil is a Founding Director & CEO of Interloop Limited. He is also a Member of 
the Boards of IL Bangla Limited & Interloop Holdings (Pvt.) Limited and Vice President of 
Interloop Welfare Trust. Navid enjoys more than 27 years’ experience as a business leader and 
entrepreneur and has played a key role in developing Interloop Limited as one of the world’s 
largest Hosiery manufacturing and export business. 

Navid is an Electrical Engineer and earned his Master in Industrial Management from the 
University of Oxford, UK. With a technically trained and intellectual mind, he puts great 
emphasis on continuously improving the Hosiery Operations and has a special focus on Lean 
Manufacturing, Research & Innovation and Sustainability. Navid is actively involved in many 
social responsibility programs, both professionally and personally.Navid Fazil

Chief Executive Officer / Executive 
Director

Muhammad Maqsood is President / Group CFO Interloop Limited, Executive Director on 
Interloop Limited’s Board & CEO, IL Apparel (Pvt.) Limited. He is also a Member of the Boards 
of Interloop Dairies, IL Apparel (Pvt.) Limited, Texlan Center (Pvt.) Limited and Interloop 
Welfare Trust. With an overall experience of 23 years, Maqsood’s association with Interloop 
spans 16+ years. 

His current responsibility portfolio includes finance, taxation, yarn sales and supply chain 
& logistics. Maqsood is a fellow member of Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan 
& Institute of Financial Accountants, UK and trained at INSEAD on Strategic Financial 
Management in Global Markets.

Muhammad Maqsood
President / Group CFO 

Tariq Iqbal Khan is an Independent Non-Executive Director on the Board of Interloop Limited 
and is also serving on the Boards of various eminent listed and non-listed companies. 
Previously, he has served on the Boards of multiple banks, pharmaceutical, chemical & 
petroleum companies and as the Chairman of SNGPL and ARL, etc. 

A fellow member of Institute of Chartered Accountants, Pakistan, Tariq has been serving 
the country for more than four decades by holding prominent positions in the private and 
public sectors. He played a pivotal role in founding the Islamabad Stock Exchange and 
subsequently served as its President. He also served as Member Tax Policy & Co-rdination at 
the Central Board of Revenue, followed by working as Commissioner, Securities & Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and later as Chairman SECP (acting) for a brief period where 
he was instrumental in restructuring SECP. Tariq served as the Chairman & MD of NIT for more 
than 8 years which played a key role in establishing and stabilizing the capital markets. 

Tariq Iqbal Khan
Independent Non-Executive Director

Shereen Aftab is a Non-Executive Director on the Board of Interloop Limited and has served 
on the Board as a Director since 1999. In the past, she has also been associated with Interloop 
as Director Merchandising. She holds a PhD degree in Immunology from the University of 
Manchester, UK and is a MBBS Medic. She has profound interest in Arts & Crafts and is 
currently running her business in this field.

Shereen Aftab
Non-Executive Director

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth is currently serving as a Non-Executive Director on the Board of 
Interloop Limited. A chemical engineer by profession, Jahan Zeb was previously working 
with Interloop Limited as Director Technical, strategically leading the maintenance of Hosiery 
manufacturing equipment, expansion projects, BMR and the Energy Division. Of the overall 
rich professional experience of 38 years, Jahan Zeb has spent the last 21 years with Interloop. 

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth
Non-Executive Director

Saeed Ahmad Jabal is an Independent Non-Executive Director on the Board of Interloop 
Limited. A Chartered Accountant by profession, Saeed enjoys four and a half decades’ 
experience of working in Pakistan and overseas, at leadership positions as CFO, Director 
Finance, Executive Director, Corporate Secretary & Chief Internal Auditor in Fruit Juices 
Industry, Spinning, Weaving, Fabric Processing, Apparel, Home Textile & Hosiery industries, 
etc.

Saeed also looked after enhancement of computerized financial system on IBM - AS400 
platform and supervised conversion and implementation of Oracle ERP System in a composite 
textile manufacturing company. Besides Finance & Accounts, he has also developed SOPs 
for ISO 9000 certification and systems, procedures & policies for business operations, 
management and organizational development, etc.

Saeed Ahmad Jabal
Independent Non-Executive Director
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KEY BUSINESS EXECUTIVES 

Faryal Sadiq is Vice President Sales & Marketing at Interloop Limited. She is responsible for 
all aspects of business development, sales and customer service across Interloop’s Europe, 
North America and Japan markets.

Before joining Interloop in 2016, Faryal worked for over 10 years as a management consultant 
at Ernst & Young and Deloitte, UK, specializing in the consumer products and retail industry. 
She has advised clients on a range of areas including commercial strategy, operating model, 
enterprise cost reduction and growth strategies, and has delivered multiple transformation 
programs working with global clients including Tesco, Waitrose, J. Sainsbury’s, British 
American Tobacco, L’Oreal, Universal Studios and World Rugby.

Faryal has an MBA from the University of Oxford and is an Economics Major from the London 
School of Economics.

Feroze Ahmed is Vice President Denim at Interloop Limited and oversees the Business 
Development, Operations & Quality Assurance functions. Feroze began his career with Ernst 
& Young, UK in their business advisory practice and worked on projects involving operating 
model redesign, cost reduction and post-merger integration, for renowned organizations. 
In 2011, Feroze joined Banco Santander to lead the post-merger integration of Santander’s 
digital banking channel after making strategic acquisitions in the UK banking sector. Prior to 
joining Interloop in 2016, Feroze was managing the implementation of digital initiatives across 
the corporate, retail and wealth segment at Barclays UK. 

Feroze graduated from the University of Toronto in Economics and pursued his postgraduate 
degree in International Business & Emerging Markets from the University of Edinburgh, UK.

Zain Sadiq is serving as Vice President at Interloop Limited. He supervised setting up of Plant 
4; Interloop’s cutting-edge LEED Gold Certified Hosiery manufacturing facility commissioned 
in 2018, and is currently looking after further expansion of Hosiery business by overseeing 
establishment of Plant 5, at Faisalabad. 

He started his professional career at Interloop Dairies Limited where he was member of the 
core team responsible for project visualization and establishment of a 2,500 milking heads 
dairy farm. Interloop Dairies, with the current herd size of 4,538 cattle, is one of the leading 
modern dairy farms in Pakistan. 

Zain graduated with Bachelor’s Degree in Economics in 2009 from Davidson College, 
North Carolina, USA. Having interest in finance, he pursued the Chartered Financial Analyst 
Certification after college and became Level 2 qualified.

Yaqub Ahsan is working as the Chief Information Officer at Interloop Limited and is looking 
after the Information Technology function. Yaqub is a technology enthusiast. His areas of 
interest include knowledge based venture creation and commercialization of technology. Over 
the past 25 years, Yaqub has worked with various multi-national organizations in Pakistan, 
the Middle East and North America and has been involved in multiple entrepreneurial and 
intrapreneurial initiatives. He has held multiple senior level technical and management 
positions at IBM and other technology companies. He has wide teaching experience and has 
conducted trainings in Pakistan and overseas.

Yaqub holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Engineering 
& Technology, Lahore, Pakistan and a Master’s degree in Business, Entrepreneurship & 
Technology from the University of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.Yaqub Ahsan

Chief Information Officer

Zain Sadiq
Vice President

Feroze Ahmed
Vice President Denim 

Faryal Sadiq
Vice President Sales & Marketing

Navid Fazil is a Founding Director & CEO of Interloop Limited. He is also a Member of 
the Boards of IL Bangla Limited & Interloop Holdings (Pvt.) Limited and Vice President of 
Interloop Welfare Trust. Navid enjoys more than 27 years’ experience as a business leader and 
entrepreneur and has played a key role in developing Interloop Limited as one of the world’s 
largest Hosiery manufacturing and export business. 

Navid is an Electrical Engineer and earned his Master in Industrial Management from the 
University of Oxford, UK. With a technically trained and intellectual mind, he puts great 
emphasis on continuously improving the Hosiery Operations and has a special focus on Lean 
Manufacturing, Research & Innovation and Sustainability. Navid is actively involved in many 
social responsibility programs, both professionally and personally.

Tariq Rashid Malik is one of the Founding Directors of Interloop Limited. As President Yarns 
& Sourcing at Interloop Limited, he is managing all procurement and sourcing activities of 
Interloop and looking after the Spinning Division. He is also a Founding Director of IL Bangla 
Limited and presently serving as it’s Managing Director, based at Dhaka, Bangladesh.

As part of his professional commitments, he travels extensively across the globe and is 
pursuing a sustainable procurement model where materials, goods, utilities and services are 
arranged in an environmentally-friendly, responsible and ethical way. He envisions Interloop 
to continuously grow as a profitable entity, to scale excellence in Hosiery business and also 
expand in to non-textile sectors. Tariq is an Economics & Political Science graduate from the 
University of Punjab, Lahore. 

Muhammad Maqsood is President/Group CFO Interloop Limited, Executive Director on 
Interloop Limited’s Board & CEO, IL Apparel (Pvt.) Limited. He is also a Member of the Boards 
of Interloop Dairies, IL Apparel (Pvt.) Limited, Texlan Center (Pvt.) Limited and Interloop 
Welfare Trust. With an overall experience of 23 years, Maqsood’s association with Interloop 
spans 16+ years. 

His current responsibility portfolio includes finance, taxation, yarn sales and supply chain 
& logistics. Maqsood is a fellow member of Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan 
& Institute of Financial Accountants, UK and trained at INSEAD on Strategic Financial 
Management in Global Markets.

Azhar Sadiq is Vice President Hosiery Operations at Interloop Limited since 2014 and is the 
first employee to rise to the level, after starting his career with Interloop in 1998 as a junior 
officer. He has led various functions including manufacturing, planning, quality assurance and 
strategic HR.

Being a Lean manufacturing expert, Azhar is leading Lean transformation at Interloop and 
has spearheaded many breakthroughs in KAIZEN application. His management philosophy 
is based on learning by doing, developing autonomous teams, delegating and a structured 
organizational approach. Azhar holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration.

Azhar Sadiq
Vice President Hosiery Operations 

Muhammad Maqsood
President / Group CFO 

Tariq Rashid Malik
President Yarns & Sourcing

Navid Fazil
Chief Executive Officer / Executive 

Director
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Masooma Zaidi is Vice President Hosiery Sales at Interloop Limited. She looks after Interloop 
Europe (Direct Customer Division) along with Sales & Merchandising Divisions 3 & 4. She 
is a seasoned leader with more than 24 years’ experience spanning various industries. Her 
last role before joining Interloop was Chief Supply Chain Officer for Khaadi SMC Pvt. Ltd. 
Previously, she has worked on key commercial positions at Walmart, JC Penney & MAKRO-
HABIB Pakistan.

Masooma holds a BSc Honors Degree in Food Technology from Barani Agriculture College 
and a LLB. Her areas of interest are gardening, travelling with family & cooking. 

Since early 2019, Aqeel Ahmad is serving as Assistant Vice President People and Organization 
Development, managing the Group HR & OD functions at Interloop Limited. He joined 
Interloop 17 years ago in the Audit Department and subsequently moved to manufacturing. 
Aqeel enjoys rich experience in manufacturing operations. One of his key strengths is setting 
up new factories and he has been successful in running company’s Lahore and Sri Lanka 
Hosiery plants. He holds multiple certifications in Lean Application Programs and has applied 
Lean successfully in process improvement. Aqeel holds a Master’s degree in Business 
Administration and loves playing squash and swimming.

Masooma Zaidi
Vice President Hosiery Sales

Board of Directors

Company Secretary Board Committees

President
Hosiery

President/
VP Yarns

President/
VP Denim

Audit
Committee

Internal
Audit

HR &
Remuneration

Committee

Nomination
Committee

BU Head
Seamless

VP Hosiery
Sales

VP Sales & 
 Marketing

VP Hosiery
OPS

VP Finance VP People CIO

CFO

VP Sourcing

Yarn Dyeing
& Covering

Yarn Sales

Spinning

Lean

EHS

Interloop
Way

HRFinance

Energy

CEO’s Office 
(Corp Coms, Sustainability, 

Strategy Office, Other Specialists)

 CEO

Aqeel Ahmad
AVP People & OD

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
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Interloop recognizes the criticality of Information Systems 
and Technology Governance for achieving company’s 
strategic and operational objectives. IT resources of the 
company have been aligned to provide an efficient operating 
and decision making platform, consequently adding value to 
all stakeholders.

In view of technological advancements, Interloop 
continuously explores the prospects of implementing 
the latest and innovative technologies to enable efficient 
and timely decision making in the changing business 
environment. The Digital Agenda at Interloop is being 
evolved under the guidelines of Industry 4.0 framework.

MIS Department has developed and provides support for 
Enterprise Applications, Business Analytics, IT Infrastructure, 
Industrial Automation, Collaboration, Information Security 
and IT Service Management. 

The business applications automate order to cash cycle 
and comprise of product development, order management, 
capacity and material planning, procurement, inventory, 
production, warehousing, quality management, finance and 
HR functions. Interloop uses Oracle ERP for back office 
functions and a variety of specialized and custom developed 
applications for specialized functions.

Interloop operates core applications from its Production 
Data Center in Hosiery Plant 2 with a Disaster Recovery 
Data Center in Hosiery Plant 1. Data Centers are built to 
industry best practices. Data is protected and backed up 
on two sites. The production and DR Data Centers host a 
Private Cloud. However, Interloop is a consumer of a Hybrid 
Cloud architecture when it comes to Business Applications 
in order to conform to the scalability, availability and security 
requirements of business.

Interloop has multiple manufacturing facilities. Remote 
premises are connected through redundant communication 
links and are served by the Hybrid Cloud. All infrastructure 
is designed to be highly available to ensure Business 
Continuity. 

IT Service Desk is maintained and operated by ITIL trained 
and certified staff. Information Security is fundamental to our 
operations. Policies, procedures and guidelines covering 
data, user, infrastructure and application security are evolved 
and documented. 

Interloop’s IT strategy also draws from our drive to be a 
sustainable business. We have commissioned Energy 
Star rated equipment in the Data Center. Consolidated 
private cloud based infrastructure further reduces power 
consumption requirements. By using cloud based 
collaboration and video conferencing tools,  we try to 
minimize the physical travel requirements. Our business 
functions are becoming increasingly automated and 
paperless in the offices and on the production floor. 

Information Technology landscape is monitored using 
advanced tools for impending failures, performance 
bottlenecks and capacity planning in order to respond in a 
proactive manner and ensure business continuity. 

Progress during Last Year:
Interloop is working towards increased digitization of 
business functions and leveraging the use of mobile 
devices, Internet of Things, analytics and location detection 
technologies. 

Some of the major initiatives in the past year have been:

1. Robotic Process Automation has been introduced for 
customer order processing under the SPEED initiative 
to improve customer lead times 

2. Increased mobility for selected employees for pervasive 
access to enterprise applications

3. Increased automation and Process improvement 
for Finance and Procurement functions for process 
efficiency

4. Analytics dashboards design for Chief Financial Officer 
and Chief Procurement Officer for improved visibility, 
control and decision making

5. Increased automation for order re-work 

6. Extension of IT Infrastructure to the new Denim plant 
(under construction)

7. Training and certification of IT staff on Information 
Technology Infrastructure Library (ITIL) for standardized 
IT service management

8. Oracle ERP upgrade to a newer version with committed 
Oracle support for coming years

9. IT Project Management function has been added to 
improve governance around delivery of IT Projects

10. IT Security function has been added to ensure IT Security 
is treated across all layers of information systems

INFORMATION SYSTEM 
& CONTROL 

LISTING ON PAKISTAN STOCK 
EXCHANGE (PSX)

Interloop Limited (ILP) was listed on the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange (PSX) on April 5, 2019 at PSX, Karachi. In the 
process of Interloop Limited’s Initial Public Offering (IPO), 
Book Building was completed on March 13 - 14, 2019. The 
general public was offered shares on March 21 - 22, 2019 
at Rs. 46.10 per share. Despite tough market conditions, 
the IPO was oversubscribed by 1.5 times and Interloop was 
able to successfully raise PKR 5.02 billion, the highest by a 
private company in the history of Pakistan, placing Interloop 
amongst the top 50 companies and the 2nd Largest Textile 
Company listed on PSX, by market capitalization. 

The investors include insurance and asset management 
companies, banks, local and foreign institutions, TREC 
holders and high net worth individuals. The retail sector 
also showed confidence in Interloop and ordinary people 
also participated in good numbers. Around 1,500 Interloop 
employees including executives & non-executives 
participated voluntarily in our IPO which speaks volumes 
about their trust in the company.

The capital raised through this IPO will be used for 
business expansion by setting up a state of the art Denim 
Apparel Manufacturing Plant at Lahore and the 5th Hosiery 
Manufacturing Plant at Faisalabad. 

Benefits of Listing
Raise Long Term Low-Cost Capital
Listing results in reducing Financial Risk to the company with 
following benefits:

• Growth and expansion
• Invest or carry out merger & acquisition plans
• Diversify business
• Meet working capital requirements

Enhances Company’s Public Profile
IPOs add a level of prestige to a company. It can be used as 
a branding and marketing tool as they attract media interest, 
attention and scrutiny.

Inclusion in Indices
Benchmark used by investors all around the world to 
measure Pakistan’s performance. Listing will give chance 
to be included in these indices, providing with global 
recognition.

Enhanced Corporate Governace
Listed Companies have proper check and balance from 
governing Authorities. They practice Best Practices of 
Corporate Governance and disclose information to the 
governing authorities on timely basis.

Improved Relations with Bankers and 
Suppliers
A listed company has to disclose and disseminate all material 
and price sensitive financial information which adds to:

 • The business transparency
 • Improved relations with bankers, lenders and   

 clients

Business Continuity and Succession 
Planning
Listing bridges any discord that may arise during a transition 
from the first generation to the next, by introducing:

 • Corporate Governance Structures
 • Succession Planning

People - Human Resource
Enables attracting and retaining the best talent for the 
company because of enhanced reputation.

Higher Valuation
By going public, all stakeholders involved use fair valuation 
of the company by the market which is generally higher than 
the book value, discovering the true worth of an organization.In
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Shareholders / Institutional 
Investors
Interloop acknowledges and honors the trust our investors 
and shareholders have placed in us. Safeguarding their 
interest is our prime responsibility. Our investors and 
shareholders’ interest revolves around good returns, 
profitability, growth and regulatory compliances. We respond 
to their expectations through improvement in business 
mechanics, effective governance and corporate reporting 
framework. Annual General Meetings and statutory reporting 
are the most effective means of our engagement with our 
investors & shareholders. Support of shareholders and 
investors is critical in achieving the company objectives.

Investors’ Grievance Policy
The Company has a Investors’ Grievance Policy in place. Any 
complaints or observations received either directly by the 
Corporate Affairs Department or during General Meetings 
are addressed by the Company Secretary. The Shareholders 
are given the information as desired by them and as per the 
law. All written complaints are responded in writing.

Minority Shareholders
The management of the company believes, encourages and 
ensures the equitable treatment of all shareholders including 
minority shareholders. Company ficilitates all share holders to 
attend, speak and vote at the General Meetings and appoint 
another member as his/her proxy in his/her absence. The 
notices of General Meetings are circulated by the company 
within the regulatory timeframes to the registered addresses 
of the shareholders (including minority shareholders) as well 
as published in Urdu and English newspapers.

Investor Relations Section
To keep transparency in the relationship between the 
company and its shareholders, the website of Interloop 
Limited (interloop-pk.com) contains all major financial 
information needed for investors’ decision making in a 
separate tab.

Banks and other
Lenders
We value our relationship with our financial partners and 
lenders who are engaged with the company on an on-going 
basis in relation to negotiation of rates, lending purposes, 
short term financing, deposits and investments. Banks are 
also consulted on issues linked with letters of credit and 
payments to suppliers, along with other disbursements of 
operational nature. Periodic briefings, quarterly financial 

reporting, Head Office and Plants’ visits are the important 
means for our engagement with this category of stakeholders.

Suppliers and Vendors
Our sustainable growth is also attributable to engaging 
reputed and dependable suppliers & vendors as 
business partners for supply of raw material, industrial 
inputs, equipment and machinery. We believe in strategic 
relationships and have developed strong connections 
with top local and international vendors in the industry. 
Our Procurement & Supplies team stays in continuous 
contact with suppliers and vendors through meetings and 
correspondences to resolve all issues for on time deliveries, 
any concerns about terms and conditions and timely 
payments.

Customers
Developing and sustaining long term relationships with 
our customers forms the key to our business success. 
Their expectations are focused on product quality, pricing 
and service delivery. While our Operations teams focus 
on producing top quality products according to customer 
specifications, our Sales and Merchandising teams remain 
in close contact with this stakeholder segment to resolve 
issues, if any, on a priority basis. We continue to engage 
with our customers through meetings, plant visits and other 
communications. We derive success from our scale of 
production, flexibility of order sizes processing, variety and 
quality of products and customer servicing.

Regulators
Our commitment to compliance with laws and regulations 
is evident from our Corporate and Legal team‘s continued 
efforts for efficient and effective legal and regulatory 
conformity. The engagement includes submission of 
periodic reports, communicating through letters and emails 
and responding to enquiries and meetings as and when 
required. Active engagement with regulators improves level 
of compliance.

Our People
Interloop’s commitment to its People, a dedicated and 
competent workforce, is at the core of its human resource 
strategy. We provide a nurturing and caring environment 
to our people where they give peak performance. We 
invest heavily in their professional and personal trainings. 
We have introduced family friendly policies and world-

class daycare centers for working mothers. Besides 
monetary compensation, Interloop provides long-term 
employment benefits, scholarships for employees’ children, 
health benefits, sports facilities for physical fitness, free 
transportation, subsidized meals and organizes multiple 
social events for employees. Along with regular meetings, 
communication takes place through emails, company 
notices, intranet and online media.

Local Community & General 
Public
Interloop’s Mission and reason for existence is to bring 
about a positive change in the community. To pursue this 
cause, Interloop has invested heavily in the community. 
Its main areas of focus include Education, Sports, Literary 
Activities, Health Care and Disaster Relief. The company 
has long term KPIs and every year a CSR spending target 
is fixed and implemented through an organized system. 
The management encourages hiring workforce including 
women from local vicinities and considers engaging less 
privileged and special persons. The company’s social 
and environmental initiatives are aligned with Sustainable 
Development Goals of United Nations Development 
Programme.

Media
Different communication mediums are used  to apprise the 
general public about new developments, hiring, various 
activities and social & environmental initiatives of Interloop 
Limited. This creates effective awareness about the company 
and a positive corporate brand image.
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GROUP STRUCTURE & 
ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Interloop Limited takes pride in its heritage. Having started its operations in 1992, it has grown into one of the world’s largest 
Hosiery manufacturers. Interloop is a vertically integrated company with state of the art Spinning, Yarn Dyeing, Knitting and 
Finishing facilities. IL Apparel (Private) Limited; the wholly owned subsidiary of Interloop was established in October 2018 which 
handles knitwear business of the company.

Subsidiary company, associated companies and undertakings, entities under common directorship and welfare trust are as 
follows: 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

Name of Company  :  Interloop Limited 
Year Ending   :  June 30, 2019

The company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner: 

1. The total number of directors are Seven (7) as per the following: 

a. Male  :   Six (6)
b.  Female :   One (1)

2. The composition of Board is as follows:                           
                     

3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than five listed companies, including this 
company. 

4. The company has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate 
it throughout the company along with its supporting policies and procedures.

5. The Board has developed mission statement, vision & overall corporate strategy and significant policies of the company. 
A complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates on which they were approved or amended has 
been maintained.

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken by Board/ 
shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these Regulations. 

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected by the Board 
for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of Act and the Regulations with respect to frequency, 
recording and circulating minutes of meeting of Board. 

8. The Board of directors have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance with 
the Act and these Regulations. 

9. The company stands complied with requirements of Director training program under the CCG. Name of Directors who   
obtained certificate of DTP: 

• Musadaq Zulqarnain 
• Navid Fazil
• Jahan Zeb Khan Banth
• Muhammad Maqsood
• Shereen Aftab
• Tariq Iqbal Khan

Independent Directors

Other Non-Executive Directors

Executive Directors 

• Tariq Iqbal Khan
• Saeed Ahmad Jabal 

• Musadaq Zulqarnain
• Shereen Aftab
• Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

• Navid Fazil
• Muhammad Maqsood

Category Names

Company Names Nature of Relationship
Percentage 

Shareholding 

Company's Shareholding in the Associate   

IL Apparel (Private) Limited 
Subsidiary / Common

Directorship
100%

IL Bangla Limited 
Associate / Common 

Directorship
31.61%

Associate with NIL Shareholding and Vice 
Versa

  

Interloop Holdings (Private) Limited

Associate / Common
Directorship

Nil

Interloop Dairies Limited

Momentum Logistics (Private) Limited

PrintKraft (Private) Limited 

Texlan Center (Private) Limited 

Global Veneer Trading Limited 

N/AEuro Sox Plus B.V.

Interloop Welfare Trust

(WITH LISTED COMPANIES CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REGULATION, 2017) 
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In addition to the Directors, following Management Executives also completed DTP, arranged by the company:

• Azhar Sadiq   Vice President
• Feroze Ahmed   Vice President
• Zain Sadiq    Vice President
• Faryal Sadiq    Vice President
• Aqeel Ahmad   Asst. Vice President
• Khawaja Nadeem Abbas  GM Finance
• Rana Ali Raza   Company Secretary 
• Jamshaid Iqbal   D.G. M. Audit
• Umer Javed   D.G. M. Finance
• Rahat Naseem   Deputy Manager Audit 

10. The Board has approved appointment of CFO, Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit, including their remuneration 
and terms and conditions of employment and complied with relevant requirements of the Regulations. 

11. The CFO and CEO duly endorsed the financial statements before approval of the Board.

12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below:

a)  Audit Committee
1. Tariq Iqbal Khan   -   Chairman (Independent Director) 
2. Saeed Ahmad Jabal  -   Member (Independent Director) 
3. Jahan Zeb Khan Banth  -   Member (Non-Executive Director)

b)  HR and Remuneration Committee
1. Saeed Ahmad Jabal        -   Chairman (Independent Director)
2. Navid Fazil                   -  Member (Executive Director) 
3. Jahan Zeb Khan Banth    -   Member (Non-Executive Director)

c)  Nomination Committee
1. Musadaq Zulqarnain     -   Chairman (Non-Executive Director)
2. Navid Fazil                  -   Member (Executive Director) 
3. Muhammad Maqsood    -   Member (Executive Director)

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to the committee for 
compliance.

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the committee were as per following:

a)  Audit Committee
The audit committee is performing its duties in line with its terms of reference as determined by the Board of Directors. 
As the Company became listed during the last quarter of the fiscal year under consideration, therefore, only ONE Audit 
Committee Meeting was held.

b)  HR and Remuneration Committee
The Human Resource & Remuneration Committee is performing its duties in line with its terms of reference as determined 
by the Board of Directors. During the year under review, ONE Human Resource & Remuneration Committee Meeting was 
held.

15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function which is considered suitably qualified, experienced for the purpose 

and conversant with the policies and procedures of the company. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function 
jointly to KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants &  Messers. Faran Associates who are considered suitably 
experienced and qualified for the purpose and are conversant with the policies and procedures of the company.

16. The statutory auditors of the company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating under the quality 
control review program of the ICAP and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they or any of the partners 
of the firm, their spouses and minor children do not hold shares of the company and that the firm and all its partners are in 
compliance with International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the ICAP. 

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other services except in 
accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other regulatory requirement and the auditors have confirmed that they 
have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard. 

18. We confirm that all other requirements of the Regulations have been complied with.

   
Faisalabad

September 23, 2019
Navid Fazil

Chief Executive Officer
Musadaq Zulqarnain

Chairman / Director
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DIRECTORSÕ  REPORT &  
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS



CHAIRMANÍ S REVIEW

It is a matter of great privilege for 
me to present performance review 
of Interloop Limited and the role 
played by the Board in achieving the 
objectives of the Company for the 
year ended June 30, 2019. 

Economic Outlook
During FY19 challenges to the macro-economy of Pakistan 
have continued to persist. Fiscal deficit further deteriorated 
and while the current account gap relatively improved, its 
sustainability remained a concern. The CPI on a YoY basis 
also soared by 8.89% in June, 2019 over June, 2018 as 
compared to 5.21% a year earlier. Pakistan’s GDP growth 
moderated to 3.3% during FY19 after achieving a 13 year 
high growth of 5.8% in FY18. With stabilization policies in 
place and the economy moving along the reforms agenda 
as a result of IMF program, the country’s macroeconomic 
indicators are expected to slowly revert to a stable trajectory. 
In this process, however, the real GDP growth is likely to 
remain contained. 

Textile industry continues to be the largest employer in the 
manufacturing sector, however, industry has been struggling 
to cope up with the multiple challenges that are adversely 
impacting the progress both on the external and internal 
fronts. The textile industry continues to face stiff competition 
from China, India, Bangladesh, Cambodia and other 
emerging countries in the region. With the adjustment in 
exchange rate & rationalization of energy rates, it is expected 
that overall situation for the Textile industry will improve. 
Investment for capacity enhancement and modernization 
can result in  substantial growth in textile exports and create 
additional jobs in the industry. 

Business Performance
I would like to congratulate Interloop Limited on completing 
27 years of successful operations. During these years, the 
company has created consistent value for all stakeholders 
through impactful geographical presence, proud history 
of customer trust amid simultaneously contributing to the 
socio- economic development of Pakistan. 

Interloop Limited was listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange 
(PSX) at a prestigious Gong Ceremony, held on April 5, 
2019 at PSX, Karachi. In the process of Interloop Limited’s 
Initial Public Offering (IPO), Book Building was completed 
on March 13 - 14, 2019. General public was offered shares 
on March 21 - 22, 2019 at Rs.46.10 per share. Despite 
tough market conditions, the IPO was oversubscribed by 1.5 

times and Interloop was able to successfully raise PKR 5.02 
billion, the highest by any private company in the history of 
Pakistan, placing Interloop amongst the top 50 companies 
listed on PSX, by market capitalization.
 
I am also pleased to share that, by the grace of God, despite 
unfavorable economic and market conditions, primarily 
impacted by deteriorating macro-economic indicators, 
higher interest rates & increased inflationary pressure, 
during the year under review your company has been able 
to achieve a Sales Turnover of Rs. 37.478 billion compared 
to Rs. 31.139 billion during last year. The  net profit after tax 
of the company is Rs. 5.195 billion compared to Rs. 3.886 
billion of last year, that is an increase of 33.69% over last 
year, driven by our better planning, efficient operations, and 
favorable exchange rate. This accomplishment highlights 
the trust placed in us by our customers and the persistent 
efforts and commitment of our people – our most valuable 
asset.

This net profit translated into Earning per share (EPS) of Rs. 
6.67 per share against Rs. 5.10 of last year.

Furthermore, the Company continued to play an important 
part in the economic growth of Pakistan by providing 
employment opportunities, earning foreign exchange and 
dealing with multiple vendors for buying of raw materials 
as well as other services, directly or indirectly and by 
investing in community. Keeping in view our Mission, we 
pursue a Triple-P bottom line Sustainability Policy covering 
People, Planet & Prosperity.  Interloop Limited is a business 
for Purpose and is now recognized as one of the most 
Responsible Manufacturer around the globe.

Role of the Board of Directors
Despite the challenging macro-economic challenges and 
stiff global competition, the company has increased its 
profitability through unrelenting efforts by the directors. The 
Board has played an effective role in devising an appropriate 
strategy for the company to attain its objectives. 

Interloop Limited has seven-member Board of Directors 
which comprises of individuals with diverse backgrounds, 
having core competencies, knowledge and expertise relevant 
to the business of the company. The Board is assisted by 
its sub-committees i.e., Audit Committee, Human Resource 
& Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. 
These sub-committees held meetings and reported to the 
Board as per stipulations of the Listed Companies (Code of 
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2017.  

I would like to share that all the Directors, including 
Independent Directors, fully participated and contributed 
in the decision-making process of the Board. The Board 
performed its duties and responsibilities diligently, inter alia, 
by: 

1. Ensuring mission, vision and values of the company are 
being followed

2. Effectively guiding the Company in its strategic affairs

3. Setting annual goals and targets for the Management
4. Overseeing Management’s performance and focusing 

on major risk areas
5. Evaluating significant Investments
6. Ensuring high standards of Corporate Governance to 

preserve stakeholders’ value 

Furthermore, all significant issues throughout the year 
were presented before the Board or its committees, and 
particularly, all related party transactions of the company 
were approved by the Board on the recommendation of 
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee and Human 
Resources and Remuneration Committee met regularly to 
strengthen the functions of the Board. The Board carried out 
its self-evaluation and identifed potential areas for further 
improvement, in line with global best practices. 

Finally, I would like to appreciate the valuable contributions 
made by the Chief Executive Officer, Management, Staff 
Members and Workers in achieving the company’s 
objectives. I would also like to express gratitude to our Board 
of Directors, Shareholders, Customers, Bankers, Regulatory 
Authorities and other Stakeholders for their continued 
support. 

Musadaq Zulqarnain
Chairman

Faisalabad: 

September 23, 2019                       
Musadaq Zulqarnain

Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of Interloop Limited are pleased to present the annual report of 
the Company together with the audited financial statements of the Company 
for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

2019 2018

(Rs. In Millions)

Sales – net 37,478.32 31,138.74

Gross profit 11,954.71 9,144.50

EBITDA 7,960.92 5,903.89

Profit before Tax 5,420.98 4,005.77

Less : Tax Expense 226.22 119.95

Profit after Tax 5,194.77 3,885.81

Unappropriated profit brought forward 7,142.57 12,522.99

Profit available for Appropriations 5,001.94 3,794.50

Appropriations

 - Interim dividend 2017 950.55

 - Payment under swap arrangement 8,224.37

 - Bonus Shares 2018    5,688.06

 - Interim dividend 2018 1,090.25

Unappropriated profit carried forward 5,366.21 7,142.57

Earnings per share – Basic (Rs.) 6.67 5.10

Earnings per share – Diluted (Rs.) 6.67 5.10

Operating Results 
The summary of operating results for the year and appropriation of divisible profits is given below:

Financial Year 2019 was a tough year for Pakistan due to 
challenges to the macro-economy. Consolidation measures 
to tackle the challenges brought a lot of pressure on the 
performance of business and industry. After entering the 
IMF Program, Pakistan is now on the path of consolidation 
to tackle sizeable fiscal and current account deficits but the 
imbalances are expected to diminish slowly. The World Bank 
estimates the country’s GDP growth rate to deteriorate to 
2.7% in 2019-20. However, the consolidation measures, 
coupled with other macro-economic improvements, are 
likely to lead to an increase in the economic growth to 4% in 
the beginning in fiscal year 2020-21.

Textile & Apparel industry contributes 57% percent of total 
export volumes and 8.50% of the GDP of Pakistan. Annual 
Export during FY18 stood at $25.0 billion out of which $13.53 

billion was from Textiles & Apparel. According to Textile 
Policy 2014-2019, Textile exports were to double i.e. from 
$13.0 billion to $ 26.0 billion, which could have created some 
3.0 million additional jobs. Due to unfavorable economic 
conditions, inconsistent government policies, shortage of 
energy and lack of investment to modernize and enhance 
capacity, Textile and Apparel exports have stagnated. 

Despite all these challenges, your company, by the grace 
of God Almighty, has been able to achieve a record Sales 
Turnover of Rs. 37.478 billion (FY18: PKR 31.139 billion). 
At the same time, Net Profit for the year has increased by 
33.69% over the corresponding year.

Textile & Apparel Sector and 
Economic Overview

During the year under review, the Board of Directors 
approved 300% Interim Bonus Shares in the proportion of 3 
share(s) for every 1 share(s) held, followed by 12.5% Interim 
Cash Dividend and allotted/paid to the shareholders within 
stipulated time period, in accordance with the applicable 
laws & regulations.

The Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting 
held on 23rd September, 2019 have proposed a final cash 
dividend of Rs. 1.75 per share (i.e. 17.5%). This is in addition 
to Rs. 1.25 per share (i.e. 12.5%) first interim cash dividend 
already distributed; which make a total cash distribution of 
Rs. 3 (i.e.30%) for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

The proposed final cash dividend is subject to the approval 
of members at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 
October 14, 2019. These financial statements do not include 
the effect of above proposal which will be accounted for in 
the period it is approved by the members.

Financial and Operational 
Performance
By the grace of God Almighty, the year has ended on a 
positive note for the company with better performances 
both operationally as well as financially. Machinery has 
been added with the prime objective of reducing imbalance 
and inefficiencies, reducing utilities and maintenance 
requirements and produce additional value-added material 
and finished products. 

Vertical Analysis

Performance of the company during the year remained good 
in spite of all the challenges like pressure on export selling 
prices, shortage of gas, increase in minimum wages, lack of 
timely sales tax refunds by Government, etc.

At the same time, adjustment of exchange rate had a 
favorable impact on company’s profits. During the year 
under review, company sales suffered a slight set back due 
to filling of Bankruptcy by one of the customers, namely 

Payless Shoe Source Inc. While financial loss was prevented 
as receivables from this company were insured through a 
factoring company, sales revenue suffered a slight set back. 
Company’s sales and marketing teams have worked hard 
and secured two other customers to fill the gap during next 
year. 

Operational results show that the company achieved 
revenue growth of +20.36% for the year ended June 30, 
2019 compared to preceding year. Sales revenue stood at 
Rs. 37.478 billion (FY18: Rs. 31.139 billion). 

Gross profit for the year stood at Rs. 11.954 billion (FY18: 
Rs. 9.144 billion) whereas profit before taxation stood at Rs. 
5.421 billion (FY18: Rs. 4.006 billion). The profit after tax for 
the year under review was Rs. 5.195 billion (FY18: Rs. 3.886 
billion) whereas earning per share (EPS) stood at Rs. 6.67 
per share (FY18: Rs. 5.10) per share.

Despite the factors stated earlier, the company performed 
with great resilience and maintained its position in the 
foreign markets. In the opinion of the directors, the results 
of the operations of the company during the said financial 
year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature other than what 
has been mentioned in this report. Directors believe that the 
company will be able to achieve even better results in the 
next financial year. 

Business Segments
The management of the company has determined the 
operating segments based on the information that is 
presented to the Board of Directors of the company, for 
allocation of resources and assessment of performance. 
Segment performance is generally evaluated based on 
certain key performance indicators including business 
volume and gross profit.

Based on internal management reporting structure and 
products produced and sold, the company is organized into 
the following operating segments:

a - Hosiery - This segment relates to the sale of socks & 
tights

b - Spinning - This segment relates to the sale of yarn
c - Other Operating Segments - This represents various 

segments of the company which currently do not 
meet the minimum reporting threshold mentioned in 
international financial reporting standards. These mainly 
include domestic sales, energy, yarn dyeing, denim and 
active-wear.

2019 2018

Percentage

Gross profit 31.90 29.37

Operating profit 17.10 14.42

Profit before tax 14.46 12.86

Profit after tax 13.86 12.48

EBITDA 21.24 18.96
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Fiscal year 2018  - 19 at a 
Glance
InterloopÍ s Listing on the Pakistan 
Stock Exchange (PSX)
Interloop Limited (ILP) was listed on the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange (PSX) at a prestigious Gong Ceremony, held on 
April 5, 2019 at PSX, Karachi. In the process of Interloop 
Limited’s Initial Public Offering (IPO), your Company 
received wide-spread participation from investment 
community ranging from major commercial banks, 
insurance companies, local and foreign institutions, asset 
management companies, TREC holders and high net worth 
individuals.

Interloop Limited successfully raised Rs. 5,025 million 
through the largest private sector Initial Public Offering 
(IPO), placing it amongst the top 50 companies listed on 
the Pakistan Stock Exchange by market capitalization. Book 
building portion of the IPO took place on the 13th and 14th 
of March, 2019 and was oversubscribed by 1.37 times. The 
general public was offered shares on March 21 - 22, 2019 
at Rs. 46.10 per share. Despite tough market conditions, 
the IPO was oversubscribed by 1.5 times. We are confident 
that, God willing, the Denim segment will turn out to be even 
bigger for us than the Hosiery sector. World’s top brands and 
retailers are our customers and consider us a responsible 
manufacturing company. We’ll move forward with them in 
our Hosiery business and believe that many of them will 
become our Denim customers

Denim Project
As part of business diversification & expansion, Interloop is 
entering into the Denim Apparel Segment and has envisioned 
a production facility which will have minimal environmental 
impact, prioritise worker well-being and will maintain a very 
high standard for operational and cost efficiency, ensuring 
that Interloop continues to serve its customers effectively. 

The production facility will be LEED Platinum Certified and 
will be the most technologically advanced and sustainable 
denim apparel production facility in this part of the world, 
underpinning Interloop’s Mission. The plant has gone into 
trial production in Q3, 2019 and has been conceived with a 
planned output exceeding one million garments per month. 
A fully operational development/sampling center, with 125 
sewing machines from Italy and Japan, with an approx. 
capacity of 3,400 pieces per day is already operating 
successfully. 

As per our commitment to environmental conservation, the 
production facility will:

• Focus on women empowerment with the target to 
engage females as 50% of the total workforce

• Plan initiatives such as in-house day care to enable 
women to continue work after childbirth, if they wish to 
do so      

• Plan at least 30% of the area as green space

• Discharge ZERO hazardous material and waste

• Reduce the carbon footprint by up to 50% by    
maximising use of daylight, solar energy, insulation, 
bio-mass boilers, heat recovery and energy efficient 
systems 

• Introduce technology and redesign traditional  
processes to save 35 litres of water per garment –     
approximately 35m litres of water a month 

• Implement new technology aimed at enhancing    worker 
safety, boosting labour productivity and minimising risk 
of work-related accidents or long term illness

A budget of PKR 3.90 billion approx. was allocated for plant 
and machinery. About 57% of this budget has already been 
consumed in the form of LCs retired, LCs which have been 
opened but are yet to be retired and machinery purchased 
locally.

We have successfully secured the financing of PKR 2.80 
billion from Habib Bank Limited - Islamic Banking Division at 
a very competitive rate. Negotiations for a further financing of 
PKR 1.00 billion are in process with the Allied Bank Limited - 
Islamic Banking Division.
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Pilot Project of Hosiery Plant 5
The Hosiery Plant 5 Pilot Project became operational on 
January 22, 2019 with 94 modern Italian Knitting Machines. 
This Plant is distinct from the existing facilities because of 
the New Team Organogram concept.  The new structure 
is designed to remove extra supervision layers, the 
Management working in shifts and Knitting Technical and 
Knitting Operations teams merged as one team. 

With the current production of 900,000 pairs of socks 
monthly, the Pilot project will be scaled up to a vertically 
integrated sustainable manufacturing facility with installed 
capacity of 1,280 knitting machines, producing approx. 
17.28 million pairs of socks per month. 

At present, Land measuring 76 acres has been successfully 
procured at an Ideal location on Khurrianwala - Jaranwala 
bypass. The location is well planned as our power supply 
lines from Interloop Energy Division are passing near to this 
location and we will be able to supply energy to our newly 
planned division from our own energy division.

As this unit will be one of its kind, supplying products to 
major brands in the world, layout planning and structural 
design is of paramount importance. Meetings are being held 
with top notch architectures and internationally renowned 
lean and layout experts to design the building and layout for 
machines. It will be LEED certified (Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design) and will be a state of the art structure 
in textile industry in Pakistan.

Subsidiary Company
The Company has also annexed consolidated financial 
statements along with separate financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and Companies Act, 2017.

Following is a brief description of the subsidiary company of 
Interloop Limited:

IL Apparel (Private) Limited
This is a wholly owned subsidiary of the company which 
looks after the Knitwear & Active-wear business of the 
company. The Knitwear Pilot Project at Faisalabad, a Cut to 
Pack garment manufacturing facility, spread over 6 acres, 
commenced operations in January 2019 and exported the 
first shipment in March 2019. IL Apparel plans to put up 
a state of the art vertically integrated Knitwear garments 
manufacturing plant in the new Interloop Apparel Park near 
the Interloop Industrial Park.

Employee Stock Option 
Scheme (ESOS)
We consider our employees to be our most important 
stakeholder and to get their commitment and efforts, we 
firmly believe in providing them conducive environment and 
making them feel a sense of security. The company operates 
an equity settled stock option scheme called ‘Interloop 
Limited - Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2016’ duly 
approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission of 
Pakistan (SECP). The compensation committee evaluates 
the performance and other criteria of employees and 
recommends to the Board for grant of options. The Board 
on the recommendation of the committee, on its discretion, 
grants recommended options to employees. These options 
vest after a specified period, subject to fulfillment of certain 
conditions as defined in the scheme. Annual Performance 
Report on Offer and Administration of the Employees Stock 
Option Scheme (ESOS) - Interloop Limited as at June 30, 
2019 along with the summary of the options granted till date 
is annexed with this report.

It is pertinent to mention here that the scheme is not in 
operation since listing of the Company on PSX, primarily 
due to the fact that the terms of the scheme require to be 
consistent with the increased legal compliance for a listed 
entity. The proposal for subject updation in the existing 
scheme is under review and pending approval from 
shareholders of the company and SECP, respectively.

Corporate Governance
Statement on Corporate and 
Financial Reporting Framework
The Directors are pleased to state that the company is 
compliant with the provision of the Code of Corporate 
Governance as required by the Securities & Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and the Rule Book of 
Pakistan Stock Exchange. The Board of Directors reviews 
company’s strategic decisions and is committed to maintain 
high standards of corporate governance. A formal statement 
of compliance as required under the Listed Companies 
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2017 is 
annexed which forms part of this Annual Report.

Following is the Directors’ Statement on Corporate and 
Financial Reporting framework:

   1. The financial statements, prepared by the management 
of the company, present fairly its state of affairs, the 
result of its operations, cash flows and changes in 
equity

   2. Proper books of account of the company have been 
maintained
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   3. Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently 
applied in preparation of the financial statements and 
accounting estimates are based on reasonable and 
prudent judgment

   4. International Financial Reporting Standards, as 
applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in 
preparation of financial statements and any departure 
there from has been adequately disclosed

   5. A mission statement, vision and overall corporate 
strategy for the company is prepared, adopted and 
reviewed as and when deemed appropriate by the 
Board

   6. The system of internal control is sound in design and 
has been effectively implemented and monitored

   7. There are no significant doubts upon the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern

   8. There has been no material departure from the best 
practices of corporate governance as detailed in the 
listing regulations

Composition of Board of 
Directors
Interloop Limited has seven member (6 Male & 1 Female) 
Board of Directors which comprises of individuals with 
diverse backgrounds having core competencies, knowledge 
and expertise relevant to the business of the company. 
The Board is assisted by its sub-committees i.e., Audit 
Committee, Human Resource and Remuneration Committee 
and Nomination Committee. These sub-committees held 
meetings and reported to the Board as per stipulations of 
the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2017.  The diverse mix of gender, knowledge, 
expertise and skill sets of the members enhances the 
effectiveness of our Board. Our Board composition 
represents the interests of all categories of shareholders and 
it consists of :

   »  Independent Directors  2
   »  Other Non-Executive Directors 3
   »  Executive Directors  2

In order to adopt and adhere to the best practices of the 
Code of Corporate Governance regulations, the company, 
prior to  filing of listing application with the PSX, appointed 
Tariq Iqbal Khan and  Saeed Ahmad Jabal as Independent 
Directors of the company, followed by appointment of Jahan 
Zeb Khan Banth as Non-Executive Director in place of the 
casual vacancy created by the outgoing Director of the 
company.  

Furthermore, during the period under consideration, Navid 
Fazil was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the 
company w.e.f. September 8, 2018 to fill up the casual 
vacancy caused by resignation of Musadaq Zulqarnain.

Meetings of the Board of Directors & 
Committees
Since Interloop Limited became listed on the Pakistan 
Stock Exchange on April 5, 2019, the information on the 
meetings of the Board of Directors of the company is being 
shared from date of formal listing. Two meetings of Board of 
Directors and one meeting each of Audit Committee and HR 
& Remuneration Committee were held respectively during 
the year after listing on PSX. Attendance by the directors/
members is as follows:

Board of Directors:
   »   Musadaq Zulqarnain (Chairman)  2
   »   Navid Fazil (Chief Executive Officer) 2
   »   Jahan Zeb Khan Banth 2
   »   Muhammad Maqsood 2
   »   Shereen Aftab 0
   »   Saeed Ahmad Jabal 2
   »   Tariq Iqbal Khan 2

Audit Committee:

   »   Tariq Iqbal Khan (Chairman)  1
   »   Saeed Ahmad Jabal 1
   »   Jahan Zeb Khan Banth  1

HR & Remuneration Committee: 
 
   »   Saeed Ahmad Jabal (Chairman) 1
   »   Navid Fazil 1
   »   Jahan Zeb Khan Banth  1

Related Party Transaction 
and Transfer Pricing
It is the policy of the company to ensure that all transactions 
entered with related parties must be at arm’s length. The 
company has fully complied with best practices on Transfer 
Pricing as contained in the Listing Regulations of Pakistan 
Stock Exchange while executing all transactions with related 
party.

Adequacy of Internal 
Financial Controls
The company has established an effective and efficient 
system of internal financial controls to safeguard the assets 
of the company, prevent and detect fraud and ensure 
compliance with all statutory and legal requirements. 
The internal control structure is regularly reviewed and 
monitored by the Internal Audit function, duly established 

by the Board. Audit Committee reviews the internal control 
system on quarterly basis, in accordance with its terms of 
reference.

Pattern of Shareholding
Two statements of the pattern of shareholding as at June 
30, 2019, for Ordinary Shares, & Non-Voting Ordinary Shares 
respectively, which are required to be disclosed under the 
reporting framework, are annexed to this report.

DirectorsÍ  Remuneration
The remuneration of the Board members is approved by 
the Board itself. However, in accordance with the code of 
corporate governance, it is ensured that no Director takes 
part in deciding his own remuneration. The company does 
not pay remuneration to non-executive directors except fee 
for attending the meetings.

External Auditors 
The present auditors M/s. Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Company, 
Chartered Accountants, are retiring and being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-appointment. The Board of Directors 
proposes the re-appointment of M/s. Kreston Hyder Bhimji 
& Company, Chartered Accountants, as the auditors until the 
next Annual General Meeting.

Health, Safety & Environment 
Health, Safety & Environment is our core value. We take pride 
in our practices and will ensure that we run safe operations 
and are not a source of environmental degradation. The 
health and safety of our employees, the safety of our assets, 
the security of our operations and healthy environment 
always remain among the top priorities of the company. 
Safety is an all-encompassing priority for the company, from 
the Board down to the business units.

Corporate Social 
Responsibility 
The company is committed towards fulfilling its Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) and actively takes part in social 
work programs. During the year under review, as part of our 
CSR program, substantial contribution was made in the 
education, health, culture and sports sectors.

Material Changes 
There have been no material changes since June 30, 2019 
to date of the report and the company has not entered into 
any commitment during this period which would have an 
adverse impact on the financial position of the company.

Description of Principal Risks 
& Uncertainties
We expect no principal risks & uncertainties as at the closing 
period of June 30, 2019.

Business Risks, Challenges 
And Future Outlook
While observing the rise in immense global competition in 
textiles, including speed to market requirements by retailers 
and brands, the company has to keep an eye on the shift in 
sourcing patterns. This can be effectively mitigated through 
efficiency improvements & interventions in supply chain thus 
reducing lead times.

With the present economic conditions that are expected to 
prevail for foreseeable period, the company aims to develop 
and implement measures that will enable the company 
to minimize the adverse effects. We feel, in today’s highly 
competitive global environment, the textile sector in Pakistan 
needs to upgrade its supply chain, improve productivity, and 
maximize value-addition to be able to survive in the global 
market. 

Consolidated Financial 
Statement 
Consolidated financial statements for the period ended 
June 30, 2019 of the company and its subsidiary IL Apparel 
(Private) Limited are annexed.

Acknowledgment
The Directors would like to thank all stakeholders of the 
company including, customers, shareholders, vendors, 
government agencies, bankers & all other business 
associates for their continued support during the year. We 
place on record our appreciation for the contributions made 
by the employees at all level.

For & on behalf of the Board of Directors

Faisalabad: 
September 23, 2019

Navid Fazil
Chief Executive Officer    

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth
Director

For & on behalf of the Board of Directors

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

For & on behalf of the Board of Directors

Navid Fazil
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37,478.32

11,954.71

7,960.92

31,138.74

9,144.50

5,903.89

2018 2019
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ANNEXURES TO DIRECTORSÍ  
REPORT 
Annual Performance Report on Offer and Administration of the 
Employees Stock Option Scheme (ESOS) - Interloop Limited at 
June 30, 2019

Following is the summary of the options granted till to date:
Interloop Limited - Employees Stock Option Scheme (ESOS)

Financial Year 2015-2016 (i) 2015-2016 (ii) 2016-2017 (i) 2016-2017 (ii)

Date of Grant 2/9/2016 3/2/2017 7/2/2018 21/2/2018

Date of Entitlement 1/9/2016 31/1/2017 31/1/2018 31/1/2018

Share Price (Option Price) - Breakup Price as per 
latest Audited Accounts

49.67 65.70 76.04 76.04

Weighted Average Price i.e. Exercise Price in Rs. Per 
Share

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Revised Price i.e. Exercise Price in Rs. Per Share 
(Revised)

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Minimum Vesting Period : from 3/9/2016 4/2/2017 8/2/2018 22/2/2018

Minimum Vesting Period : to 2/3/2017 3/2/2018 7/2/2019 21/2/2019

Exercise Option Period : from 3/3/2017 4/2/2018 8/2/2019 22/2/2019

Exercise Option Period : to 2/3/2018 3/2/2019 7/2/2020 21/2/2020

Share Outstanding (at the Date of Grant) 189,600,000 189,600,000 189,600,000 189,600,000

Grant of Option as % of Shares Outstanding 0.55% 0.34% 0.47% 0.02%

No. of Options Granted 1,041,715 637,387 888,195 44,713

No. of Options Exercised 338,499 171,924 319,097 44,713

No. of Options Declined / Lapsed but subsequently 
Offered

Nil N/A 426,460 N/A

No. of Options Lapsed / Declined - (and subsequentlly 
NOT Offered)

703,216 465,463 742,219 N/A

Maximum option granted to a single employee 18,875 11,415 13,315 44,713

No. of Shares Issued (Pursuant to exercise of options 
granted & offered)

338,499 171,924 745,557 44,713

Status Closed Excerciseable Vesting Period

No. of Employees 1,507 823 0

Minimum Lock Period 3 years 3 years 3 years

Summary - Til Date

No. of Options Vested 2,612,010

No. of Options Exercised 874,233

No. of Options Declined / Lapsed but subsequentlly Offered 426,460

No. of Options Lapsed / Declined - (and subsequentlly NOT Offered) 742,219

No. of Shares Issued (Pursuant to exercise of options granted & offered) 1,300,693

ANNEXURES TO DIRECTORSÍ  
REPORT 
No. of Shares Outstanding Latest

Option Pool                    130,410,000

*15% of Latest Paid up Capital

No. of Shares Outstanding Latest

Grant of Option        2015-2016 (i) 1,041,715

Grant of Option        2015-2016 (ii)  637,387

Grant of Option        2016-2017 (i) 888,195

Grant of Option        2016-2017 (ii) 44,173

Options Granted 2,612,010

Balance Available in Option Pool 127,797,990
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 



KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Profitability Ratios
Gross Profit Margin %  31.90  29.37  26.48  28.27  23.38  23.86 

Operating profit Margin %  17.08  14.39  13.22  16.50  14.32  13.43 

Profit Before tax Margin %  14.46  12.86  11.74  14.71  10.64  9.76 

Net Profit Margin %  13.86  12.48  11.35  13.90  10.32  9.56 

EBIT to Sales %  16.84  14.20  12.94  16.27  14.11  13.20 

EBITDA to Sales %  21.24  18.96  17.47  20.63  18.63  16.80 

Return on Equity %  29.05  42.78  20.85  29.39  26.45  27.83 

Return on Assets %  12.74  11.86  10.57  15.48  10.84  10.13 

Return on Capital Employed %  27.73  35.95  19.76  25.38  22.74  22.80 

Operating Self Sufficiency Ratio Times  1.17  1.15  1.13  1.17  1.12  1.11 

Liquidity Ratios
Current Ratio Times  1.27  0.86  1.26  1.53  1.28  1.24 

Quick/Acid Test Ratio Times  0.84  0.56  0.85  0.97  0.71  0.64 

Leverage Ratio Times  0.93  2.04  0.74  0.62  1.16  1.42 

Total Liabilities To Equity Times  1.28  2.61  0.97  0.90  1.44  1.75 

Interest Cover Times  7.09  10.62  10.81  10.44  4.06  3.84 

Cash and Cash Equivalent to Cur-
rent Liabilities Times

0.15 
 0.01  0.01  0.01  0.01  0.01 

Cash flow from operations to sales %  15.63 (8.96)  4.67  20.17 14.69  10.94 

Efficiency Ratios
Inventory Turnover Times  3.91  4.33  4.86  4.54  3.88  3.71 

Debtors Turnover Times  4.82  5.14  5.53  5.82  6.21  6.45 

Creditors Turnover Times  8.09  9.68  9.81  9.94  10.78  10.45 

Total Assets Turnover Ratio Times  1.02  1.02  1.02  1.13  1.09  1.16 

Fixed Assets Turnover Ratio Times  2.22  2.13  2.09  2.27  2.23  2.49 

Capital employed Turnover Ratio Times  1.65  2.53  1.53  1.56  1.61  1.73 

Equity Ratios
Cash dividend per share (declared) Rs  3.00  5.00  5.21  3.03  4.30  4.33 

Earnings per share - basic Rs  6.6706  5.1007  3.9541  4.8073  3.2718  2.8450 

Earnings per share - diluted Rs  6.6706  5.1003  3.9539  4.8073  3.2718  2.8450 

Break up value per share Rs  20.50  47.78  76.04  65.70  49.67  41.06 

Bonus share issue for the year No. in '000 571,831  -    -    -    -    63,200 

Dividend cover Times  1.99  4.09  3.04  6.37  3.06  2.64 

Dividend pay out %  50.37  24.46  32.84  15.69  32.73  37.93 

Plough back ratio %  49.63  75.54  67.16  84.31  67.27  62.07 

GRAPHICAL REPRESENTATION
OF RATIOS
OUR PERFORMANCE OVER THE YEAR 

Gross Profit
On account of effective management and prompt decision 
making, the company has been performing steadily over the last 
six years. The impact of increased sales volume, coupled with cost 
efficiencies, better sales mix and operational improvements resulted 
in ever highest gross profit of PKR 11,954 Million as compared to 
PKR 5,404 Million in 2014. Consequentially, compound annual 
growth rate ‘CAGR’ of gross profit rate reached 17.2% over the past 
Six years.

Net Profit Margin and Return
on Equity & Assets

Net Profit Margin
A strong topline along with effective cost management has allowed 
us to reach the highest ever profit after tax of PKR 5,194 Million as 
compared to PKR 2,166 Million yielding a CAGR of 19.1 % over the 
last Six years.

Return on Equity & Assets
The Company continuously monitors its capital structure and aims 
to keep it at its optimum level. Strong growth and optimal capital 
structure has enable the company to reap higher return on equity 
and assets. For FY 2019, the return on equity and return on assets 
recorded at 29.05% and 12.7 % respectively.

Liquidity Ratios   

By devising strong cash and working capital management policies 
over the years, liquidity of the company is in stable position.

Activity/Turnover 
The inventory turnover of the company witnessed a healthy trend 
as the company strives to implement more effective inventory 
management. To remain competitive in the market and to gain 
market share,  the company extends credit to its customers keeping 
in view the credit worthiness of the customer. Company tends to pay 
to its supplier in a timely manner, in order to ensure smooth supply 
of goods and services.

Earning per Share  

Effective management of controllable factors has allowed company 
to reach highest ever Earning Per Share of PKR 6.76. The healthy 
growth in earning per share provides a strong financial base for 
supporting the implementation of the Company’s growth strategy.

Gross Profit Margin
40.00

30.00
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Net Profit Margin and Return
on Equity & Assets
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Liquidity Ratios
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DUPONT CHART       
For the year ended June 30, 2019                              Rupees in ï 000 

           

Return on Equity

29.05%

Return on
Assets

12.74%

Net Profit
Margin

13.86%

Total Assets

40,782,622
Net Sales

37,478,321
Net Profit

5,194,767

Current
 Liabilities

16,791,470

Non-Current 
Liabilities

6,111,368

Net Sale

37,478,321
Total Costs

32,283,554
Current Assets

21,357,471
Non-Current

 Assets

19,425,151

Financial 
Leverage

2.28 Times

Share Capital 
& Reserves

17,879,784

Total Assets

40,782,622

Assets
Turnover
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Total
 Liabilities

22,902,838

Share Capital
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17,879,784
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DUPONT ANALYSIS

Year

Net Profit Margin
Net Profit/Sales

Asset Turn Over
Sales/Total Asset

Financial  
Leverage

Total Assets/Total 
Equity

ROE

A B C AxBxC

2014   9.6%  1.06  2.75 27.83%

2015 10.3%  1.05  2.44 26.45%

2016 13.9%  1.11  1.90 29.39%

2017 11.3%  0.93  1.97 20.85%

2018 12.5%  0.95  3.61 42.78%

2019 13.9%  0.92  2.28 29.05%

Comments on Dupont Analysis 

1. Profit margin of the company increased during the year on account of effective management of the company’s resources 
and devaluation of the currency.

      
2. The asset base of the company improved during the year on account of continuous expansion of production facilities and 

balancing, modernizing and replacement of existing manufacturing facilities and other routine capex investments.  
     

3. The financial leverage of the company has dropped due to the increase in equity base of the company over the period due 
to equity injection.       
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LAST SIX YEARS STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS ON 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Rupees in ‘000

Assets
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment  18,256,474  15,451,969  13,639,799  11,710,739  11,443,616  10,196,342 
Intangible Asset  66,161  42,410  47,205  34,923  28,356  31,792 
Long term investments  1,008,735  380,549  1,400,159  1,400,159  1,204,452  830,087 
Long term loans  65,762  60,747  50,027  63,227  28,853  28,132 
Long term deposits  28,019  25,055  29,372  48,356  71,870  62,945 

Total non current assets  19,425,151  15,960,730  15,166,563  13,257,404  12,777,147  11,149,298 

Current Assets
Stores and spares  887,659  779,198  696,743  583,261  559,983  556,955 
Stock in trade  6,282,491  5,121,718  3,565,881  3,176,741  4,005,721  4,422,082 
Trade debts  8,247,740  7,293,008  4,814,220  4,778,114  4,277,049  3,501,181 
Loan and advances  1,063,342  617,743  1,007,837  621,987  292,616  702,803 
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables  204,985  179,864  480,505  227,858  94,516  118,055 
Tax refunds due from government  1,925,439  2,451,806  1,971,626  952,073  930,589  827,858 
Short term investments  1,207,251  147,425  716,526  -    -    -   
Deferred employee share option compensation 
expense

 -    5,014  968  -    -    -   

Cash and bank balances  1,538,564  193,687  58,599  51,374  42,660  96,408 

Total current assets  21,357,471  16,789,463  13,312,905  10,391,408  10,203,134  10,225,343 

Total Assets  40,782,622  32,750,193  28,479,468  23,648,813  22,980,281  21,374,641 

Equaty & Liabilities
Equity
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital  8,721,975  1,901,104  1,899,385  1,896,000  1,896,000  1,896,000 
Reserves  3,791,602  38,863  21,052  -    -    -   
Unappropriated profit  5,366,207  7,142,570  12,522,990  10,560,457  7,522,173  5,889,245 

Total equity  17,879,784  9,082,537  14,443,427  12,456,457  9,418,173  7,785,245 

Non current liabilities
Long term financing  3,628,745  2,247,936  1,916,475  3,133,871  4,451,888  4,486,997 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  -    615  1,084  -    146,080  128,360 
Deferred liabilities  2,482,623  1,925,612  1,572,461  1,262,174  984,358  746,857 

Total non current liabilities  6,111,368  4,174,163  3,490,020  4,396,045  5,582,326  5,362,214 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  3,576,861  2,730,414  1,815,056  2,159,892  1,641,861  1,790,580 
Dividend payable  130,935  475,276  -    -    -    -   
Accrued mark up  110,483  137,856  83,140  88,958  166,495  214,844 
Short term borrowings  11,726,000  15,180,937  7,636,573  3,255,000  5,055,000  5,360,000 
Taxes payable  -    -    -    -    -    13,726 
Current portion of non current liabilities  1,247,191  969,010  1,011,252  1,292,461  1,116,426  848,032 

Total current liabilities  16,791,470  19,493,493  10,546,021  6,796,310  7,979,782  8,227,182 

Total equity and liabilities  40,782,622  32,750,193  28,479,468  23,648,813  22,980,281  21,374,641 
 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Particulars 2019 vs 2018 2018 vs 2017 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015 2015 vs 2014 2014 vs 2013

Percentage

Assets
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 18% 13% 16% 2% 12% 29%
Intangible Asset 56% -10% 35% 23% -11% 73%
Long term investments 165% -73% 0% 16% 45% 37%
Long term loans 8% 21% -21% 119% 3% 41%
Long term deposits 12% -15% -39% -33% 14% 15%

Total non current assets 22% 5% 14% 4% 15% 29%

Current Assets
Stores and spares 14% 12% 19% 4% 1% 13%
Stock in trade 23% 44% 12% -21% -9% 15%
Trade debts 13% 51% 1% 12% 22% -1%
Loan and advances 72% -39% 62% 113% -58% 7%
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 14% -63% 111% 141% -20% 22%
Tax refunds due from government -21% 24% 107% 2% 12% 48%
Short term investments 719% -79% 100% 0% 0% 0%
Deferred employee share option compensation 
expense

-100% 418% 100% 0% 0% 0%

Cash and bank balances 694% 231% 14% 20% -56% 88%

Total current assets 27% 26% 28% 2% 0% 11%

Total Assets 25% 15% 20% 3% 8% 20%

Equity & Liabilities
Equity
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 359% 0% 0% 0% 0% 50%
Reserves 9656% 85% 100% 0% 0% 0%
Unappropriated profit -25% -43% 19% 40% 28% 12%

Total equity 97% -37% 16% 32% 21% 19%

Non current liabilities
Long term financing 61% 17% -39% -30% -1% 25%
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease -100% -43% 100% -100% 14% 30%
Deferred liabilities 29% 22% 25% 28% 32% 45%

Total non current liabilities 46% 20% -21% -21% 4% 27%

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 31% 50% -16% 32% -8% 19%
Dividend payable -72% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Accrued mark up -20% 66% -7% -47% -23% 31%
Short term borrowings -23% 99% 135% -36% -6% 9%
Taxes payable 0% 0% 0% 100% -100% 89%
Current portion of non current liabilities 29% -4% -22% 16% 32% 83%

Total current liabilities -14% 85% 55% -15% -3% 16%

Total equity and liabilities 25% 15% 20% 3% 8% 20%
 0%   0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
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Assets  
Non-Current Assets
Non current assets mainly include propertly, plant & equipment, which have increased by PKR 8,060 Million on account of 
continuous expansion of production facilities and balancing, modernizing and replacement of existing manufacturing facilities 
and other routine capex investments. 

Current Assets        
Current assets mainly include stock in trade and trade receivable, which have increased steadily over the period on account of 
expansion in operations.

Equity & Liabilities
Equity
Issuance of bonus shares and equity injection as a result of IPO in FY 2019 has resulted an increase in share capital over the 
period of six years from PKR 1,896 Million in FY 2014 to 8,722 Million in FY 2019 representing an increase of 360%.

Non-Current Liabilities
Non current liabilities include long term financing and defferred liabilities. Long term financing has reduced over the course of 
six years on account of payment of the loan and deffered liabilities have increased over the period on account of increase in 
staff retirement gratuity.           

Current Liabilities 
Current liabilities mainly include trade and other payables and short term financing which has increased inline with the increase 
in operations.           
             
        

COMMENTARY ON ANALYSIS 
OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

VERTICAL ANALYSIS ON 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION
Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Percentage

Assets
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 44% 47% 48% 50% 50% 48%
Intangible Asset 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Long term investments 2% 1% 5% 6% 5% 4%
Long term loans 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Long term deposits 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total non current assets 46% 48% 53% 56% 55% 52%
48% 53% 56% 55% 52%

Current Assets
Stores and spares 2% 2% 2% 2% 3% 3%
Stock in trade 15% 16% 12% 14% 18% 21%
Trade debts 21% 23% 17% 20% 19% 16%
Loan and advances 3% 2% 4% 3% 1% 3%
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1% 1% 2% 1% 0% 1%
Tax refunds due from government 5% 7% 7% 4% 4% 4%
Short term investments 3% 0% 3% 0% 0% 0%
Deferred employee share option compensation 
expense

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Cash and bank balances 4% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total current assets 54% 52% 47% 44% 45% 48%
52% 47% 44% 45% 48%

Total Assets 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Equity & Liabilities
Equity
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 21% 6% 7% 8% 8% 9%
Reserves 9% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Unappropriated profit 13% 22% 44% 45% 33% 28%

Total equity 43% 28% 51% 53% 41% 37%

Non current liabilities
Long term financing 9% 7% 7% 13% 19% 21%
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 1%
Deferred liabilities 7% 6% 6% 5% 4% 3%

Total non current liabilities 16% 13% 13% 18% 24% 25%

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 9% 8% 6% 10% 7% 8%
Dividend payable 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Accrued mark up 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 1%
Short term borrowings 29% 47% 26% 14% 22% 25%
Taxes payable 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Current portion of non current liabilities 3% 3% 4% 5% 5% 4%

Total current liabilities 41% 59% 36% 29% 35% 38%

Total equity and liabilities 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
 0%   0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
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LAST SIX YEARS STATEMENT 
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

VERTICAL ANALYSIS ON 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS ON STATEMENT OF PROFIT 
OR LOSS

COMMENTARY ON ANALYSIS OF STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS

Sales
Sales increased steadily over the course of last six years on account of expansion, increased market share and appreciation of 
market prices including continuous devaluation of rupee against foreign currencies, therefore, registering a compound annual 
growth of 10.6 % over the past six years.

Gross Profit        
Steady increase in gross profit over the past six years shows prosperous growth of the company. The growth is mainly due to 
reasons mentioned above coupled with effective management of the company’s resources.

Operating Profit
Profit from operations has registered a compound annual growth of 16.1 % for the same reasons as mentioned above.

Finance Cost
Finance cost has increased over the period due to increase in working capital requirements of the company.

Taxation
Tax expense has increased over the period due to increase in turnover of the company. The company falls under final tax 
regime and the tax is charged on its turnover based on applicable tax rates, after taking into account tax credits, rebates and 
exemptions, if any.

Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Rupees in ‘000

Sales - net  37,478,321  31,138,736  26,529,786  26,333,359  24,150,149  22,650,094 

Cost of Sales  (25,523,607)  (21,994,237)  (19,503,501)  (18,888,350)  (18,504,372)  (17,245,663)

Gross Profit  11,954,714  9,144,499  7,026,284  7,445,009  5,645,777  5,404,431 

Operating expenses

Distribution Cost  (2,783,719)  (2,641,013)  (2,113,248)  (1,478,933)  (909,333)  (1,232,856)

Adiminstrative Cost  (1,984,209)  (1,597,804)  (1,298,707)  (1,156,927)  (981,659)  (899,652)

Other operating expenses  (784,540)  (425,429)  (108,152)  (463,324)  (296,467)  (229,323)

Other income  14,444  9,164  35  1,667  2,010  1,742 

 (5,538,024)  (4,655,082)  (3,520,071)  (3,097,516)  (2,185,449)  (2,360,088)

Profit from operations  6,416,690  4,489,417  3,506,213  4,347,493  3,460,328  3,044,343 

Finance cost  (995,707)  (483,654)  (391,940)  (472,972)  (891,231)  (832,644)

Profit before taxation  5,420,983  4,005,763  3,114,273  3,874,521  2,569,098  2,211,699 

Taxation  (226,216)  (119,954)  (103,188)  (214,117)  (77,827)  (45,412)

Profit after taxation  5,194,767  3,885,809  3,011,085  3,660,404  2,491,270  2,166,287 

Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Percentage

Sales - net 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Cost of Sales -68.10% -70.63% -73.52% -71.73% -76.62% -76.14%

Gross Profit 31.90% 29.37% 26.48% 28.27% 23.38% 23.86%

Operating expenses

Distribution Cost -7.43% -8.48% -7.97% -5.62% -3.77% -5.44%

Adiminstrative Cost -5.29% -5.13% -4.90% -4.39% -4.06% -3.97%

Other operating expenses -2.09% -1.37% -0.41% -1.76% -1.23% -1.01%

Other income 0.04% 0.03% 0.00% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01%

-14.78% -14.95% -13.27% -11.76% -9.05% -10.42%

Profit from operations 17.12% 14.42% 13.22% 16.51% 14.33% 13.44%

Finance cost -2.66% -1.55% -1.48% -1.80% -3.69% -3.68%

Profit before taxation 14.46% 12.86% 11.74% 14.71% 10.64% 9.76%

Taxation -0.60% -0.39% -0.39% -0.81% -0.32% -0.20%

Profit after taxation 13.86% 12.48% 11.35% 13.90% 10.32% 9.56%

Particulars 2019 vs 2018 2018 vs 2017 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015 2015 vs 2014 2014 vs 2013

Percentage

Sales net 204% 17% 1% 9% 7% 21%

Cost of Sales 16% 13% 3% 2% 7% 23%

Gross Profit 31% 30% -6% 32% 4% 14%

Operating expenses

Distribution Cost 5% 25% 43% 63% -26% 20%

Adiminstrative Cost 24% 23% 12% 18% 9% 10%

Other operating expenses 84% 293% -77% 56% 29% 14%

Other income 58% 25829% -98% -17% 15% -73%

19% 32% 14% 42% -7% 15%

Profit from operations 43% 28% -19% 26% 14% 14%

Finance cost 106% 23% -17% -47% 7% 6%

Profit before taxation 35% 29% -20% 51% 16% 17%

Taxation 89% 16% -52% 175% 71% -17%

Profit after taxation 34% 29% -18% 47% 15% 18%
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LAST SIX YEARS STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOW 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW -
DIRECT METHOD 

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS ON STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

VERTICAL ANALYSIS ON STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

COMMENTARY ON ANALYSIS OF STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOW
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
The net cash generated from operating activities stood at PKR 5,856 Million in FY 2019 from 2,478 Million in 2014, registering a 
compound annual growth rate of 18.8%. This is due to increase in operations and sustained profitability.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities      
The cash flows used in investing activities were PKR 5,224 Million in FY 2019  compared to PKR 3,217 Million in 2014. Investment 
in capital expenditure, on account of continuous expansion of production facilities and balancing, modernizing and replacement 
of existing manufacturing facilities, were main constituents of cash outflow from investing activities.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Cash flows from financing activities shows a mix trend over the period; it becomes positive when equity is injected or debt is 
obtained and becomes negative when debt is repaid.

Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Rupees in ‘000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  5,856,137  (2,790,766)  1,238,798  5,310,648  3,548,562  2,478,339 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities  (5,224,627)  (4,467,281)  (3,152,722)  (1,526,224)  (2,643,640)  (3,271,172)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities  1,654,622  7,369,132  1,945,152  (3,775,710)  (958,671)  837,882 

Net increase/(decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents  2,286,132  111,085  31,228  8,714  (53,748)  45,049 

Particulars
2019 vs 

2018
2018 vs 

2017
2017 vs 

2016
2016 vs 

2015
2015 vs 

2014
2014 vs 

2013
Percentage

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 310% -325% -77% 50% 43% 307%

Cash Flows From Investing Activities -17% -42% -107% 42% 19% -82%

Cash Flows From Financing Activities -78% 279% 152% -294% -214% -30%

Net increase/(decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents 1958% 256% 258% 116% -219% 235%

Particulars 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Percentage

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 257% -2512% 3967% 60941% -6602% 5501%

Cash Flows From Investing Activities -229% -4022% -10096% -17514% 4918% -7261%

Cash Flows From Financing Activities 72% 6634% 6229% -43327% 1784% 1860%

Net increase/(decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Particulars 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipt from customers  36,517,478  28,665,088 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (29,041,332)  (30,431,529)

Finance cost paid  (1,001,655)  (422,766)

Income tax paid  (238,195)  (289,281)

Staff retirement gratuity paid  (131,021)  (152,194)

Workers' profit participation fund paid  (232,069)  (156,373)

Long term loans paid  (14,049)  (14,791)

Long term deposits (paid)/received  (3,202)  4,317 

Profit on TDRs received  182  225 

Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd received  -    6,522 

Interest income on loan to SNGPL received  -    16 

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  5,856,137  (2,790,766)

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions in:

   Property, plant and equipment  (4,632,295)  (3,418,451)

   Intangible asset  (32,798)  (5,576)

Advance for purchase of land  -    (23,897)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  139,466  65,507 

Long term investments  (699,000)  (1,084,864)

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (5,224,627)  (4,467,281)

Cash flows from financing activities

Long term financing obtained  4,228,002  1,300,000 

Repayment of long term financing  (2,568,542)  (1,010,816)

Payment of liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  (847)  (435)

Short term borrowings - net  (3,454,937)  7,544,364 

Share capital issued  1,102,558  1,719 

Share premium  3,782,976  9,576 

Dividend paid  (1,434,588)  (475,276)

Net cash generated from financing activities  1,654,622  7,369,132 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,286,132  111,085 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  193,687  82,602 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,479,819  193,687 
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STATEMENT OF VALUE 
ADDITION AND WEALTH 
DISTRIBUTION 

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED (EVA) 
  

Wealth Distribution 2019 Wealth Distribution 2018 

Particulars 2019 2018
PKR in '000 % PKR in '000 %

Wealth Generated
Sales - net  37,523,887  31,168,673 

Bought in material and services  (22,755,482)  (19,512,860)

 14,768,405 100%  11,655,813 100%

Wealth Distribution
To Employee(s)
Salaries, benefits and other costs  7,898,493 53%  6,853,034 59%

To Government
Income tax, sales tax, excise duty and others  543,512 4%  425,946 4%

To Society
Donation towards education, health and environment  350,176 2%  104,847 1%

To Providers of Capital
Dividend to shareholders  2,616,593 18%  950,552 8%

Interest to lenders  974,282 6%  477,482 4%

To Company
Profit Retained  2,385,349 16%  2,843,952 24%

 14,768,405 100%  11,655,813 100%

Particulars 2019 2018

PKR in ‘000

Economic Value Added

Net Operating Profit after Tax  6,084,419  4,302,029 

Less : Cost of Capital  (3,578,927)  (1,653,581)

Economic Value Added  2,505,492  2,648,448 

Cost of Capital

Total Capital Employed  22,755,720  12,299,013 

Weighed Average Cost of Capital (WACC) 15.73% 13.44%

53%

4%
2%

24%

16%

To Employee(s)

To Government

To Society

To Providers of Capital

To Company

59%

4%
1%

12%

24%
To Employee(s)

To Government

To Society

To Providers of Capital

To Company
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SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainability at Interloop
Interloop’s sustainability framework is based on the Triple Bottom Line approach comprising People, Planet & Prosperity. 
Environment Friendly Practices, Social Welfare Initiatives and Stable Economic Growth are our key concerns to manage a 
Sustainable Business.

Interloop’s Sustainability Philosophy is driven by our Mission and focuses on transforming the way we do business; from 
sourcing responsibly to reducing our carbon footprint, from supporting labour rights to taking care of our communities, while 
continuously growing our business. With 2015 as the baseline year, Interloop has set Sustainability Targets for 2020, for People, 
Planet & Prosperity, which underscore long-term strategic priorities of the company. 

Allignment with UNDP Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs)
Our Management Policies and Targets support 9 Sustainable Development Goals of United Nations Development Programme, 
warranting our valuable contribution to the world.

Governance

People

Planet

Prosperity

People
Interloop has been at the forefront of social change since its inception and we are 
committed to lead the way in bringing positive change for all our stakeholders 
and communities 

Goals 2020

Build a Diverse & 
Empowered Workforce

Build a diverse, inclusive, and 
empowered workforce that 
becomes agent of positive 
change and drives sustainable 
economic growth for Pakistan

Transform Lives

By 2020, we will help transform 
lives of 5000 households, helping 
break the socioeconomic divide 
through provision of affordable, 
quality education

Improve Well-being

Enable 15,000 people live more 
fulfilling and healthier lives 
through participation in sports 
and literature, and access to free 
quality health services

People Management
Interloop’s strategic planning, fiscal discipline and 
reinvestment in the business are key elements contributing 
to its success over the last 27 years. However, what makes 
Interloop unique is its People; a motivated, talented and 
committed workforce. 

Interloop’s management approach is based on two 
key principles: Respect for People, and Continuous 
Improvement. These two principles guide our common 
and shared values, I-CARE: Integrity, Care, Accountability, 
Respect and Excellence, shaping our organizational culture 
and defining the essence of our company.

Interloop exercises defined Management Policies and SOPs, 
in-line with the best international practices, to run Operational 
and Support functions. We invest in continuous improvement 
of the management processes including organizational 
structures, HR planning and performance management and 
expend time, effort and money to develop our employees. 

Performance based career growth opportunities and job 
rotation options make Interloop a much sought after employer 
as it considers employees as its strategic stakeholders and 
believes that their intellectual and financial growth translates 
into growth of the company.
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Employee Engagement Survey
For better understanding of employee perspectives regarding 
various aspects of their employment with the company, HR 
department conducts Employee Engagement Survey of 
executive employees through the internationally acclaimed 
Mercer’s Employee Engagement Model. The results are 
shared with all functional and business Heads and plans are 
put in action to improve Employee Engagement Index. The 
last survey was conducted in 2018.

Compensation & Benefits
Interloop provides a conducive work environment to its 
people where they give peak performance and enhance their 
skills. The company spends considerable percentage of its 
profit to provide all basic facilities to its people including 
EOBI contributions & social security. Multiple employee 
welfare schemes including gratuity, provident fund, health 
care including health insurance, group life insurance offering 
death, accidental & disability benefits, scholarships for 
employees’ children, special welfare assistance for non-
executives, free pick & drop, subsidized meals, etc. are in 
place. 

Special Welfare Fund for 
Non-Executives
Interloop has set-up an additional welfare fund for non-
executive employees and supports them for marriages, 
children scholarships, critical illness or death and other 
sudden needs.

Residential Facilities
To facilitate non-resident male & female executives, Interloop 
provides top-class residential facilities including hostels and 
upscale apartments within company premises, as per space 
availability.

Leave Fare Assistance & Anniversary 
Day Off
To promote work life balance, Interloop provides annual 
Leave Fare Assistance (LFA) to executive employees for 
vacation with family. It also presents them a day off on 
their wedding anniversaries with paid dinner to enjoy the 
memorable occasion with their spouses.

Employee Stock Option Scheme
The company introduced “Interloop Limited Employees 
Stock Option Scheme, 2016 (ESOS)” to offer Company 
Shares to its eligible Executive Employees, pursuant to the 
Public Companies (Employees Stock Option Scheme) Rules, 
2001, transforming them from Stakeholders to Shareholders. 
These shares qualify for bonus shares, dividend or similar 
corporate benefits announced by the company from time to 
time. The scheme is flexible, voluntary and focused on long 
term growth and prosperity of the employees. Uptill now, 356 
executives have already become shareholders. It is, however, 
pertinent to mention here that the scheme is not in operation 
since listing of the company on PSX, primarily due to the fact 

HR Dimensions

Favourable Response %age

Leadership & Directions

Work Life Balance

Teamwork & Cooperation

Ethics & Integrity

Overall Satisfaction

79%

75%

80%

81%

83%

that the terms of the scheme require to be consistent with the 
increased legal compliance for a listed entity. The proposal 
for subject updation in the Existing scheme is under review 
and pending approval from shareholders of the company 
and SECP, respectively.

 

Management Trainee Officers 
Program

Every year, Interloop inducts fresh graduates, 50% females, 
across various functions through the Management Trainee 
Officers Program. The one year working contract exposes 
MTOs to a variety of operational and strategic roles. After 
final evaluation, successful MTOs are offered permanent 
jobs.

Talent Development Programs
Interloop truly believes in nurturing its people. For executive 
employees, well-designed, focused and need based in-
house, customized and open enrolment training programs 
on technical, managerial and leadership skills are conducted 
by Pakistani & Foreign Trainers. Non-executive employees 
are trained in technical, operational and leadership skills at 
the in-house Technical Training School (TTS). In last 1 year, 
the company has spent around PKR 8.8 million and trained 
approximately 674 executive & non-executive employees. 

Company-wide Sports Activities
To promote physical and mental wellbeing of its employees 
through competitiveness and healthy entertainment, the 
company has developed state of the art Sports Infrastructure, 
including an executive club, table tennis, squash, badminton 
and basketball courts, football grounds and high energy 
fitness gyms and organizes cricket, football, squash, 
badminton, table tennis & lawn bowl championships, for 
male, female and differently abled employees. 

Corporate Social Events
As part of employee engagement activities, Interloop 
organizes various social events throughout the year including 
the Annual Dinner, Managers Dinner, International Women’s 
Day, Long Service Awards, Christmas, etc.

Equality & Diversity
Interloop is an equal opportunity employer and is 
committed to promoting equality and diversity in all areas 
of employment. It provides an inclusive environment where 
everyone feels valued and respected, irrespective of age, 
gender, race, marital status, disability, religion or belief, 
colour and nationality. It’s a 17,000 strong team with diverse 
talent and over 15 nationalities across various locations. 

Interloop aims to provide all employees, especially females, a 
safe and supportive work environment, free of discrimination 
and harassment and equal opportunities to grow, learn and 
develop on merit.

Grievance Handling
Standard Operating Procedures for Grievance Handling 
are in place and special positions of Management 
Representatives have been created at all plants who are 
always accessible to every employee, for handling any 
grievance or complaint regarding work, work environment, 
welfare, discipline, etc.  

Women Empowerment
Interloop truly believes that empowering women through 
employment and skill enhancement not only helps them 
achieve financial stability for themselves and their families 
but also makes them a productive member of the society.
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Enhancing Female Participation
To support women empowerment and to improve gender 
parity within the organization, Interloop has taken a strategic 
decision of adding c.1000 women by 2020 in executive & 
non-executive teams, in various grades including managerial 
roles and working cadres.

Reconnect Program 
Through the ‘Reconnect Program’, female staff members 
who have completed 3 years’ service with the company 
and have to leave their jobs due to family requirements can 
reconnect with their careers after having a break.

Extended Maternity Leave
In addition to the entitled leaves, if a female employee 
requires further leave due to her or her newborn’s health 
issue, she can avail another 4 weeks leave at half pay.

Day Care Centers
To provide ease of mind to working mothers regarding their 
young children, world-class Day Care Centers are in place 
at all Interloop Hosiery Plants where executive and non-
executive female employees comfortably leave their children, 
while at work. Experienced Nannies take good care of these 
children according to their play, rest and meal timings. The 
international standard infrastructure includes study, play and 
rest areas and trained teachers ensure quality pre-primary 
education and development of these children through 
curricular and extracurricular activities. Company doctor 
performs periodic check-ups of these children to warrant 
that they stay in good health.

Interloop Joins Hands with IFC-PBC to 
Promote Family-Friendly Practices at 
Workplace
Interloop is among the 14 companies in Pakistan to participate 
in the first ever private sector peer-learning collaboration 
led by IFC & PBC, to create better career opportunities by 
providing family-friendly practices at the workplace. Under 
this initiative, IFC, PBC, CatCo Kids, Ubuntu Care, National 
Commission on the Status of Women, UNICEF Pakistan & 
UN Women Pakistan will provide advice on childcare needs 
assessment & conduct a series of events to expand learning 
& share knowledge on family-friendly practices. 

Employing Females in Non-Traditional 
Areas
As part of Interloop’s Vision 2020, women are now 
represented in every department and also in non-traditional 
roles including knitting planners, knitting operators and 
stitching machines operators, previously considered male 
dominant areas. 60 females with STEM degrees are working 
at Interloop including 31 textile, electrical and industrial 
engineers. Several policies & practices have been instituted 
to recruit and train females in non-traditional jobs.

Other Initiatives for Female Employees
• Free & Safe pick and drop has been expanded to more 

remote areas
• Focused trainings and recreational & sports activities
• Female employees are members of compliance 

committees such as Workers Management Committee, 
Environment Health & Safety Committee, etc.

• Female Welfare Officers are present at all manufacturing 
plants to facilitate grievance management of female 
employees

Talent Scholarship for 
EmployeesÍ  Children
Interloop encourages its employees to motivate their 
children acquire undergraduate degrees and flourish in 
promising careers. For this purpose, the company offers 5 
Talent Scholarships every year to meritorious children of its 
employees, for Bachelor Degree Programs.

Interloop Way
Interloop was introduced to Lean by one of our customers, 
NIKE, and for the last few years, we have been applying Lean 
for improving our manufacturing processes and becoming 
robust in our operations. The Lean journey started in 2009 
and one Plant Head was trained at NITC (Nike Innovation 
and Training Centre), in Vietnam. In 2010, a centralized 
Lean Resource Group (LRG) department was established 
which created awareness about Lean Philosophy across the 
company and implemented 5S. In 2011, Lean implementation 
teams were established which worked towards building the 
Lean Culture at the plant level and trained and implemented 
Lean tools at the shop floor. All Plant Managers were trained 
at AITC, Sri Lanka.

In 2014, Interloop engaged a group of Former Toyota 
Executives who are facilitating implementation of Toyota 
Production System (TPS) in various companies, all over the 
world. Since 2015, 3 groups of Interloop’s senior and middle 
management from across the company have attended the 
Toyota Production System (TPS) & Toyota Management 
System (TMS) workshops with American Links & Toyota 
Engineering Corporation (TEC) in Japan. Interloop fully 
understands the significance of our ‘people practices’ 
supporting deployment of Lean so that this develops on 
part of our culture. Consequently, in 2017, the company 
started designing ‘Interloop-Way’ comprising Lean & 
People components. Interloop-Way will improve our people 
practices, systems & processes and will help in achieving 
full engagement, for sustainable growth and development.

Uniform Behaviors
In 2019, under the emblem of Interloop-Way, we launched 
Uniform Behaviors; a complete Manual about how to 
conduct business across the organization. It defines the 
set of particular behaviors that need to be demonstrated by 
every employee, unanimously throughout the company and 
will act as a sustainable roadmap for closing development 
gaps and providing our employees with a clear direction for 
how to work for success in their personal and professional 
lives.   

Corporate Social Responsibility
Interloop’s mission and reason for existence is to bring about 
a positive change in the community. To pursue this cause, 
interloop has invested approximately PKR 1.01 Billion in the 
community during the last decade. Its main areas of focus 
include Education, Sports, Literary Activities, Health Care 
and Disaster Relief. The company has long term KPIs and 
every year a CSR spending target is fixed and implemented 
through an organized system. 

Education
Primary & Secondary Education
In order to bring a positive & lasting change in the community 
by educating the youth, especially underprivileged, Interloop 
Welfare Trust, in May 2009 partnered with THE CITIZENS 
FOUNDATION; the largest non-profit organization in 
Pakistan providing quality education to the disadvantaged. 
So far, Interloop has established 24 schools (14 primary, 9 
secondary & 1 higher secondary; separate campuses for 
boys and girls) and is constructing 3 more, totaling to 27, in 
the rural areas around Faisalabad city.

These schools are managed by female staff and provide 
quality formal education to 3,400 less privileged children, 
50% girls, in an environment that encourages intellectual, 
moral and spiritual growth. Interloop has created an 
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endowment for supporting lifetime operating cost of 16 
schools and also provides funds for managing annual 
operational cost of remaining schools. Since 2012, 130 
executives from Interloop Limited have voluntarily mentored 
580 students from class 8 and 9 about future studies and 
making better career choices.

Higher Education
Interloop is pursuing its target of providing 500 young men 
& women access to technical and higher education by 
granting annual scholarships.

In May 2013, Interloop Limited established an Endowment 
Fund at the Lahore University of Management Sciences to 
provide 8 perpetual scholarships to financially challenged 
Bachelor Degree students under the National Outreach 
Program. 

In May 2015, Interloop Limited instituted 120 Bachelor Degree 
Scholarships for deserving female Students at Government 
College Women University Faisalabad (GCWUF). 

In September 2017, Interloop introduced 25 Scholarships for 
Bachelor Degree Programs in Engineering, Textile & Dairy 
Sciences at the University of Agriculture, Faisalabad.

In March 2019, Interloop Limited established a Scholarship 
Grant at the National Textile University (NTU), Faisalabad 
to encourage learning and exposure of NTU students by 
sponsoring one academic semester at a good International 
University and is also sponsoring the Graduate Research 
Fellowship at NTU to encourage research in Textiles at MS 
Level.

Interloop has awarded multiple individual scholarships 
to deserving male and female students pursuing Higher 
Education at various top institutions.

Entrepreneurship Training Programs
Interloop collaborated with Institute of Business 
Administration (IBA) Karachi in Nov. 2017 as the main 
sponsor for organizing Entrepreneurship Training Program at 
Hyderabad, Faisalabad & Gujranwala. Total of 283 aspiring 
male & female entrepreneurs benefitted from this training.
Interloop again collaborated with IBA Karachi and GC 
Women University Faisalabad and sponsored the Women 
Entrepreneurship Program to help females train and start and 
grow successful business lines. 67 participants benefitted 
from Mar-Apr 2019 session and Batch 2 is planned in Oct-
Nov 2019.

Sports
We believe in nurturing talent by promoting sports, 
competitiveness and healthy entertainment for the youth 
and the community. Interloop has joined hands with 
sports organizations especially those representing blind, 
handicapped & women players and sponsors various 
sporting activities throughout the year.

First Sponsor of Domestic Cricket
Interloop joined hands with Pakistan Cricket Board and 
became the first sponsor of domestic cricket in 2005 by 
supporting the Faisalabad Regional Team. It also organized 
First Class Cricket Training Camps in 2016 & 2017 to promote 
healthy activities at the district level.

Sponsoring Cricket for a Cause
To encourage young players from the grassroots for 
National and A-Teams and to provide healthy entertainment 
for the community, Interloop has been sponsoring cricket 
tournaments including SAICA-Interloop T-20 Cricket 
Championships (twice) and Interloop Premier League T-20 
Cricket Tournaments (annually), since 2012.

International & Domestic Blind Cricket
Interloop sponsored the Pakistan-India Blind Cricket T-20 
Series played in 2014. We were the Official Sponsor of 
Pakistan Cricket Team for the Blind Cricket World Cup 2014, 
played in South Africa and the Blind Cricket World Cup 2018, 
played in Pakistan & UAE. Interloop sponsored the Pakistan 
Blind Cricket Council T-20 Challenge Cup 2015 to support 
Domestic Blind Cricket in Faisalabad. 

We also sponsored the Pakistan-Sri Lanka Blind Cricket 
T-20 Series in 2016 at Faisalabad. Interloop also promoted 
female sports and supported the Pakistan Women Blind 
Cricket Team Coaching Camp in 2018. We sponsored the 
world’s First International Women Blind Cricket Series in 
2019 between Nepal & Pakistan.

Sports for the Differently Abled
To promote the rights and well-being of persons with 
disabilities, Interloop sponsored the T-20 Cricket Match 

between Pakistan and India Handicapped Teams, on Dec 
3, 2012, at Islamabad. Interloop joined hands with Pakistan 
Wheel Chair Cricket Association to organize 2nd Interloop 
Quaid-e-Azam Trophy 2018 and sponsored Pakistan Wheel 
Chair Cricket Team for Wheel Chair Asia Cup 2019.

It also supported the Tri Nation Disabled Cricket T-20 
Series 2018 at Worcestershire, England between Pakistan, 
Bangladesh & England and is also sponsoring Pakistan 
Disabled Cricket Team for T-20 Cricket World Series in 
England in 2019. Interloop sponsored 3 Pakistani athletes at 
the Special Olympics 2019 in Dubai.

Cricket for Tourism
To help restore tourism and true colors of Swat Valley, 
Interloop Lyallpur Cricket Team from Faisalabad region 
participated in the 1st Swat T-20 Peace Cricket Tournament 
2012, played at Mingora.

Intervarsity-Interloop Sports Extravaganzas
To motivate youth towards healthy activities, Interloop has 
been sponsoring Intervarsity T-20 Cricket Championships 
and Sports Galas annually since 2016, at the University of 
Agriculture, Faisalabad.

Supporting Young Talent
Interloop is also providing financial support to Pakistan’s 
Fastest Youngest Athlete; Sahab-e-Asra for her future 
endeavors.

All Pakistan Open Golf Tournament
IInterloop has been sponsoring the All Pakistan Interloop 
Open Golf Championship annually since 2015, organized by 
the Lyallpur Golf N’ Country Club, Faisalabad.
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Literary Activities & Conferences 
Playing its role in developing the character of the society, 
Interloop supports various cultural and literary events 
throughout the year.

Faisalabad Literary Festival
Since 2014, Interloop hosts the Faisalabad Literary Festival 
every year as the main sponsor, where people from all 
walks of life including families get the opportunity to interact 
firsthand with eminent literati from across the country, who 
gather to inspire people with their popular works of literature 
and performing arts.

National & International Conferences
To promote innovation and intellectual development of 
Pakistani textile professionals and students, Interloop has 
been sponsoring the All Pakistan DICE-Textile Innovation 
Event & International Conference for last 4 years, 
consecutively. 

Interloop partnered with CIRCLE as the Main Sponsor to 
support She Loves Tech Pakistan. ‘She Loves Tech’ is a 
global contest to create opportunities for women-led/impact 
tech startups, to level up the global stage. STEM women 
from all over Pakistan participated in the competition and 
the finalist will represent Pakistan in the global competition 
in China.

Health Care
Free Treatment for Poor Patients
Another area of focus for Interloop’s social responsibility is 
Heath Care. We have been able to sponsor provision of free 
health care services to approx. 5,565 deserving patients for 
Corneal Transplants, Ophthalmic Diseases, Renal Dialysis, 

Tuberculosis treatment, Hepatitis C treatment, Spinal & 
Orthopedic treatments, Blood Transfusion, Thalassemia, 
Hemophilia and treatments for Cardiac ailments.

Support for Differently Abled Children
Interloop supports education, health and well-being of 
differently abled children by supporting Syeda Khatoon-
e-Jannat Trust Hospital & Special Education Center, 
Faisalabad; a noble institution looking after the treatment 
and optimal development of children with intellectual and 
physical disabilities.

Alzheimer Socks
Interloop teamed up with Euro Sox Plus B.V., Netherlands in 
2015, 17 & 18 and produced Alzheimer Socks; an initiative to 
create awareness among people about Alzheimer’s disease. 
Approximately €1.08 million have been generated and 
donated to VUmc Alzheimer Center, Amsterdam for research 
on diagnostics and treatment of Alzheimer’s disease.

´  Recycled Material including recycled polyester, nylon 
and cotton blends which help us reduce waste and 
toxic emissions 

Water
Interloop is pursuing the target of reduction in water 
consumption by 15% by 2020 and puts in continuous 
efforts to conserve water through process improvement 
and induction of new technology. The company is 
operating in full compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations on water use.

´  Interloop has introduced wet processing machines 
based on Nano-Bubble technology, reducing water 
consumption by 95%, chemical consumption by 
71% & energy consumption by 48%, with zero liquid 
discharge as compared to conventional processing 
methods

´  A water re-use project is also underway at Hosiery 
Plant 2 that will further reduce water consumption 
substantially  

Mobile Health Clinic
Interloop has partnered with Lok Sanjh Foundation; 
implementing partner of Better Cotton Initiative (BCI) in 
Pakistan to finance provision of Mobile Health Services for 
marginalized Rural Communities in cotton growing areas of 

3 Union Councils in District Toba Tek Singh, Punjab. Since 
Feb. 2019 the Mobile Health Clinic is serving approx. 4,000 
rural community members, especially farmers women 
workers, working in the cotton fields, on weekly basis.

Planet
Environmental Impact Areas
Aligned with Sustainable Development Goals of UNDP, 
Interloop Limited identified 8 Environmental Impact Areas 
and with 2014-15 as the baseline year, Interloop developed 
Planet Targets 2020 and took following initiatives to reduce 
its impact and make valuable contribution towards planet’s 
sustainability:

Sustainable Raw Materials
Committed to mitigate negative environmental impacts with in 
the supply chain, Interloop is trailing the target of increasing its 
raw material usage to 25% of total raw material consumption 
by 2020. Interloop is continuously increasing the use of: 

´  BCI Cotton that promotes good farming practices, 
allowing more cotton to be grown while reducing water 
& chemical use, protecting working conditions and 
biodiversity

´  Organic Cotton which is certified material, grown 
according to agriculture standards that maintain 
the integrity of soil health and ecosystem by zero 
consumption of toxic chemicals or GMOs
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Energy
Energy Efficiency is a Key element for any organization 
to reduce negative environmental impacts and increase 
competitiveness through energy conservation. Interloop 
is committed to reduce its Energy consumption by 15% 
by 2020. 

 Interloop Limited is the 1st Textile Company and 4th 
among all other industries in Pakistan to achieve 
ISO - 50001 Certification for Energy Management 
System (EnMS). EnMS is helping in improving energy 
efficiency at Interloop

 Interloop’s Hosiery Plant 4 is LEED Gold certified and 

is saving energy by 26%, portable water by 51% and 
providing 25% enhanced fresh air intake to improve 
comfort 

´  Interloop has taken various energy conservation 
initiatives including induction of FRP fans in 
Humidification Plants, Speed Control of Suction 
Fans, Inverters on Cooling Tower Fan Motors, Highly 
Efficient Boarding Machines, Automation of Cooling 
Towers, Inverters on Air Handling Units and Hot Water 
Chillers

Renewable Energy
Interloop is increasing its share of renewable energy 
generation to minimize GHG emission. 

´  The 2MW solar power project has been installed in Q3, 
2019 and the target is to install 4MW solar generation 
capacity by 2020

´  Interloop fulfills some portion of its energy demand for 
steam generation by using bio-fuel at the Rice Husk       
Boiler

Green House Gases 
Interloop determines the total emissions for each plant site 
at regular intervals and makes regular checks to control 
variations, if any. It aims to reduce its reliance on fossil 
fuels through alternate sustainable energy sources and is 
pursuing the target of reducing GHG emissions by 15% by 
2020 to reduce its environmental footprint.

´  Steam is produced at the Waste Heat Recovery 
Boilers using exhaust heat from heating engines 

´  At Heat Recovery System at Filament Yarn Dyeing, 
High Temperature Waste Liquor passes through heat 
exchanger to raise the temperature of fresh water 
which is used in subsequent dyeing processes

´  Different types of trees have been planted at I-Park at 
Interloop which work as natural air filters, helping off-
set GHG emissions 

´  Interloop launched ï Plant for PakistanÍ  campaign 
on August 14, 2018 and so far has planted 9,000 
trees in Faisalabad and suburbs, intending to create 
awareness about the effects of global warming and to 
take sustainable initiatives towards a greener planet 

Solid Waste
Interloop practices an integrated waste management 
system. The hazardous waste is either recycled or 
incinerated while the non-hazardous waste is disposed-off 
to recyclers.  

´  We are recycling coal ash produced in the coal boiler 
during steam generation, by making 7,000 Bricks 
per day via an eco-friendly method. These bricks are 
being consumed in the construction of Denim Plant.

Waste Water 
Interloop has set up state of the art Effluent Treatment 
Plants at all Hosiery Plants which run 24/7/365 to treat dye 
house effluent. The central QC lab ensures that the effluent 
discharged in the environment is within safe quality limits. 
We are committed to fully comply with Zero Discharge of 
Hazardous Chemicals (ZDHC) standards by 2020. 

Green Chemistry Inputs
The ZDHC Program takes a holistic approach in tackling 
the use of hazardous chemicals in the textile value chain. 
InterloopÍ s goal is to eliminate the use of priority chemicals 
by following best chemical practices and designing an 
efficient chemical management system, compliance with 
ZDHC/MRSL list of chemical substances and induction of 
certified raw materials.
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InterloopÍ s Economic Performance

2018-19 2017-18

Direct Economic Value Generated
(Rs. In Million)

Revenues a  37,523.89  31,168.67 

Direct Economic Value Distributed

Total Expenses (excl. below specified) b  22,755.48  19,512.86 

Employee Wages/ Benefits c  7,898.49  6,853.03 

Distribution to Providers of Capital d  974.28  477.48 

Allocation to Government e  543.51  425.95 

Contribution to Society f  350.18  104.85 

Distribution to Shareholders g  2,616.59  950.55 

Economic Value Retained h=a-b-c-d-e-f-g  2,385.35  2,843.95 

Prosperity
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INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS
Review Report on the Statement of Compliance Contained 
In Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2017.
We have reviewed the enclosed statement of compliance with Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulation, 
2017 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of Interloop Limited  (The Company) for the year ended June 30, 
2019, in accordance with the requirements of regulation 40 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. Our Responsibility 
is to review whether the statement of compliance reflects the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the 
Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is 
limited primarily to inquiries of the company’s personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply 
with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal 
control system sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not required to consider whether the 
Board of Directors’ Statement on internal control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such 
internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulation require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendations of the Audit Committee 
place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions and also ensure compliance 
with the requirements of section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017. We are only required and have ensured compliance of this 
requirement to the extent of the approval the related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the 
Audit Committee. We have not carried out procedures to assess and determine the Company’s process for identification of 
related parties and that whether the related party transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the statement of compliance does not 
appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements contained in the Regulations as 
applicable to the Company for the year ended June 30, 2019.

Faisalabad
September 23, 2019

Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.
Chartered Accounants

INTERLOOP LIMITED 

UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
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S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit

1. Adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”: 
(Refer notes 3.1 and 6.1 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ is effective for the 
Company for the first time during the current year 
and replaces the financial instruments standard 
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’.

In relation to financial assets, IFRS 9 requires 
the recognition of expected credit losses (‘ECL’) 
rather than incurred credit losses under IAS 
39 and is therefore a fundamentally different 
approach. Management is required to determine 
the expected credit loss that may occur over

We reviewed and understood the requirements of the IFRS 9. 
Our audit procedures included the following:

• Considered the management’s process to assess 
the impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on the Company’s 
unconsolidated financial statements.

Following are the Key Audit Matter(s):

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion
We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of Interloop Limited (“the Company”), which comprise 
the unconsolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the 
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity, the unconsolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the unconsolidated financial statements including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained all the information and 
explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the unconsolidated statement of 
financial position, the unconsolidated the statement of profit or loss, the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated statement of cash flows together with the notes 
forming part thereof conform with the international Financial Reporting Standard (IFRSs) as applicable in Pakistan, and, give 
the information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and 
fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at June 30, 2019 and of the profit, total comprehensive income, the changes 
in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit
either a 12-month period or the remaining life of 
an asset, depending on the categorization of the 
individual asset. 

In accordance with IFRS 9, the measurement of 
ECL reflect a range of unbiased and probability-
weighted outcomes, time value of money, 
reasonable and supportable information based 
on the consideration of historical events, 
current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. The calculation of ECLs in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is therefore complex and 
involves a number of judgmental assumptions. 

We considered this as key audit matter due to 
the significant amounts involved and significant 
judgments made by management regarding the 
matter.

• Reviewed the appropriateness of the assumptions used 
(future and historical), the methodology and policies 
applied to assess the ECL in respect of financial assets 
of the Company.

• We reviewed and assessed the impact and disclosures 
made in the unconsolidated financial statements with 
regard to the effect of adoption of IFRS 9.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Adoption of IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”:
(Refer notes 3.1 and 6.2 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

The International Financial Reporting Standard 
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
(IFRS 15) became applicable for the first time 
for the preparation of the Company’s annual 
unconsolidated financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2019.

Under the aforesaid standard the revenue 
from sale of goods is recognized when the 
Company satisfies its performance obligation 
by transferring the promised goods to customer 
under the contract with customer. 

Revenue from sale of goods is measured at 
transaction price net of trade discounts. 

As a result of application of the aforesaid standard 
the management has performed extensive 
evaluation of its contractual arrangement with its 
customers, 

We considered this as key audit matter due to 
the significant amounts involved and significant 
judgments made by management regarding the 
matter.

We reviewed and understood the requirements of the IFRS 15. 
Our audit procedures included the following:

• Considering the appropriateness of revenue recognition 
policy, including recognition and classification criteria 
for trade and other discounts and comparing it with the 
applicable accounting standards.

• Testing the effectiveness of Company’s controls over the 
classification of trade discounts and correct timing of 
revenue recognition.

• Reviewing a sample of contractual arrangement entered 
into by the Company with its customers and checked 
the appropriateness of classification of trade discounts.

• Reviewing the adequacy of disclosure as required under 
applicable financial reporting framework.
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4. Property, plant and equipment

The Company has made significant expenditure 
on expansion of manufacturing facilities and new 
projects. 

During the year, the Company has also 
reclassified some categories of its operating 
fixed assets and resultantly comparative figures 
of those categories of assets are also reclassified 
to reflect better presentation.
 
We identified capitalization of property, plant and 
equipment as a key audit matter because there 
is a risk that amounts being capitalized may 
not meet the capitalization criteria with related 
implications on depreciation charge for the year 
and reclassification of categories of assets.

Our audit procedures in relation to capitalization of property, 
plant and equipment, amongst others included the following: 

• Understanding the design and implementation of 
management controls over capitalization and performing 
tests of control over authorization of capital expenditure 
and accuracy of its recording in the system. 

• Testing, on sample basis, the costs incurred on projects 
with supporting documents and contracts. 

• Assessing the nature of costs incurred for capital 
projects through testing, on sample basis, of amounts 
recorded and considering whether the expenditure 
meets the criteria for capitalization as per the accounting 
policy and applicable accounting standards.  

• Checked the reasonableness of management’s 
assessment of categories of assets and working 
of reclassification in categories of assets including 
impact of reclassification on both cost of assets and 
accumulated depreciation in each category.  

• Inspecting supporting documents for the date of 
capitalization when project was ready for its intended 
use to assess whether depreciation commenced and 
further capitalization of costs ceased from that date 
and assessing the useful life assigned by management 
including testing the calculation of related depreciation.    

S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit

3.
Listing on Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX)
(Refer note 1.2 and 45 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

During the year, the Company gets itself listed on 
Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) and issued 109 
million ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each.

We considered this as key audit matter due to 
the significant amount involved, requirements 
to disclose utilization of proceeds from IPO and 
disclosure requirements of 4th Schedule of the 
Companies Act, 2017. 

Our audit procedures in relation to listing of Company is 
Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) included the following: 

• Reviewed the management working of utilization of 
proceeds from IPO.

• Reviewing the adequacy of disclosure as required 
under applicable financial reporting framework and 
requirements of the Companies Act, 2017.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit

5. Inventories

The company has significant levels of inventories 
amounting to Rs. 7,170.15 million as at the 
reporting date, being 18% of the total assets of 
the company.

There is a risk in estimating the eventual NRV 
of items held, as well as assessing which items 
may be slow-moving or obsolete.

The Company’s principal accounting policy 
on stores and spares and stock in trade 
are disclosed in notes – 5.6 and 5.7 to the 
unconsolidated financial statements

The significance of the balance coupled with 
the judgments and estimates involved on their 
valuation has resulted in the inventories being 
considered as a key audit matter. 

Our audit focused on whether the valuation of year-end 
inventory was in line with IAS 2. This included challenging 
judgments taken regarding obsolescence and net realizable 
value provisions.

We obtained assurance over the appropriateness of 
management’s assumptions applied in calculating the value 
of inventories by:

•  Attending the year end stock take to gain comfort over 
the existence and condition of inventories and internal 
controls designed by the company.

•  Obtaining the final valuation sheets of the inventories and 
tracing quantities from working papers of observation of 
physical stock taking.

• Obtaining understanding of internal controls designed 
by the company over recording of purchases and 
valuation of the inventories, and testing their operating 
effectiveness on sample basis.

• Assessing historical costs recorded in the inventory 
valuation by performing test of details on purchases. 
Evaluating that the valuation basis used are appropriate 
and consistent, including analysis of costing of different 
items on sample basis.

• Assessing the management’s determination of the net 
realizable values and intended use of the inventories 
including performing tests on the sales prices fetched 
by the company before and after year end.

• Performing analytical and other relevant audit 
procedures.

• Considering the adequacy of the company‘s disclosures 
in respect of inventories. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information Other than the Unconsolidated Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the (information included in the Director’s 
report, but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements and auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors 
for the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the unconsolidated financial statements in accordance 
with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of unconsolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of directors is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Unconsolidated 
Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the unconsolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the unconsolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the unconsolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements:
Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);

b) the unconsolidated statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the unconsolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated 
statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 
(XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were in accordance with for the 
purpose of the Company’s business; and

d) zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980), was deducted by the Company 
and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that Ordinance. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Khan Muhammad - FCA.

Date: September 23, 2019 Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.
Place: Faisalabad Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Khan Muhammad - FCA.

Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.
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2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 7  18,256,474  15,451,969 
Intangible asset 8  66,161  42,410 
Long term investments 9  1,008,735  380,549 
Long term loans 10  65,762  60,747 
Long term deposits 11  28,019  25,055 

 19,425,151  15,960,730 

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores and spares 12  887,659  779,198 
Stock in trade 13  6,282,491  5,121,718 
Trade debts 14  8,247,740  7,293,008 
Loans and advances 15  1,063,342  617,743 
Deposit, prepayment and other receivables 16  204,985  179,864 
Tax refunds due from Government 17  1,925,439  2,451,806 
Short term investments 18  1,207,251  147,425 
Deferred employee share option compensation expense 22  -    5,014 
Cash and bank balances 19  1,538,564  193,687 

 21,357,471  16,789,463 

TOTAL ASSETS  40,782,622  32,750,193 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Authorized share capital 20  10,000,000  3,000,000 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 21  8,721,975  1,901,104 
Reserves 22  3,791,602  38,863 
Unappropriated profit  5,366,207  7,142,570 

 17,879,784  9,082,537 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long term financing 23  3,628,745  2,247,936 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 24  -    615 
Deferred liabilities 25  2,482,623  1,925,612 

 6,111,368  4,174,163 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables 26  3,576,861  2,730,414 
Dividend payable  130,935  475,276 
Accrued mark up 27  110,483  137,856 
Short term borrowings 28  11,726,000  15,180,937 
Current portion of non current liabilities 29  1,247,191  969,010 

 16,791,470  19,493,493 

CONTINGENCIES & COMMITMENTS 30  -    - 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  40,782,622  32,750,193 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

Sales - net 31  37,478,321  31,138,736 
Cost of sales 32  (25,523,607)  (21,994,237)

Gross profit  11,954,714  9,144,499 

Operating expenses

Distribution cost 33  (2,783,719)  (2,641,013)
Administrative expenses 34  (1,984,209)  (1,597,804)
Other operating expenses 35  (784,540)  (425,429)
Other income 36  14,444  9,164 

 (5,538,024)  (4,655,082)

Profit from operations  6,416,690  4,489,417 

Finance cost 37  (995,707)  (483,654)

Profit before taxation  5,420,983  4,005,763 

Taxation 38  (226,216)  (119,954)

Profit for the year  5,194,767  3,885,809 

Earnings per share - basic (Rupees) 39.1  6.6706  5.1007 

Earnings per share - diluted (Rupees) 39.2  6.6706  5.1003 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICERCHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

Profit for the year  5,194,767  3,885,809 

Other comprehensive loss:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of post retirement benefits obligation 25.5  (192,825)  (91,305)

Total comprehensive income for the year  5,001,942  3,794,504 

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Share Capital

Capital Reserve   Revenue Reserves

Total
Share Premium

Employee Share 
Option Compen-
sation Reserve

Unappropriated           
Profit

 Rupees in ‘000 

Balance as at July 01, 2017  1,899,385  19,424  1,629  12,522,990  14,443,428 

Profit for the year  -    -    -    3,885,809  3,885,809 

Other comprehensive loss  -    -    -    (91,305)  (91,305)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -    3,794,504  3,794,504 

Employee share option scheme (ESOS)  -    -    8,234  -    8,234 

Shares issued under the ESOS  1,719  10,831  (1,255)  -    11,295 

Transferred to Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd pursuant to 
Scheme of Arrangement

 -    -    -    (8,224,372)  (8,224,372)

Transactions with owners:

Dividend to ordinary shareholders  -    -    -    (950,552)  (950,552)

Balance as at June 30, 2018  1,901,104  30,255  8,608  7,142,570  9,082,537 

Profit for the year  -    -    -    5,194,767  5,194,767 

Other comprehensive loss  -    -    -    (192,825)  (192,825)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -    5,001,942  5,001,942 

Employee share option scheme (ESOS)  -    -    18  -    18 

Shares issued under the ESOS  7,558  27,522  (8,626)  -    26,454 

Issuance of ordinary shares  1,095,000  3,934,900  -    -    5,029,900 

Transaction cost on issuance of shares  -    (170,820)  -    -    (170,820)

Issuance of bonus shares  5,718,313  (30,255)  -    (5,688,058)  -   

Transactions with owners:

Dividend to ordinary shareholders  -    -    -    (1,090,247)  (1,090,247)

Balance as at June 30, 2019  8,721,975  3,791,602  -    5,366,207  17,879,784 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICERCHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOW 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000

a) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation  5,420,983  4,005,763 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation  1,641,234  1,471,535 
Amortization  9,047  10,371 
Workers' profit participation fund  285,315  210,830 
Staff retirement gratuity  522,833  414,543 
Employee share option compensation expense  5,031  4,188 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  47,091  38,694 
Remeasurement loss on investment in mutual funds  20,787  10,908 
Profit on TDRs  (182)  (225)
Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd  (7,211)  (8,923)
Interest income on long term loan to SNGPL  -    (16)
Provision for impairment loss  70,814  -   
Interest on receivables from IL Bangla Limited  (5,796)  -   
Finance cost  995,707  483,654 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes  9,005,653  6,641,322 

Changes in working capital
  (Increase)/decrease in current assets

Stores and spares  (108,461)  (82,455)
Stock in trade  (1,160,773)  (1,555,837)
Trade debts  (954,732)  (2,478,788)
Loans and advances  (436,565)  309,805 
Deposit, prepayment and other receivables  (12,114)  303,043 
Tax refunds due from government  403,246  (310,852)
Short term investment in mutual funds - net  (4,258)  (5,447,853)

  (Decrease)/Increase in current liabilities
Trade and other payables  744,150  855,174 

 (1,529,507)  (8,407,763)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations  7,476,146  (1,766,441)

Finance cost paid  (1,001,655)  (422,766)
Income tax paid  (238,195)  (289,281)
Staff retirement gratuity paid  (131,021)  (152,194)
Workers' profit participation fund paid  (232,069)  (156,373)
Long term loans paid  (14,049)  (14,791)
Long term deposits (paid)/received  (3,202)  4,317 
Profit on TDRs received  182  225 
Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd received  -    6,522 
Interest income on loan to SNGPL received  -    16 

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  5,856,137  (2,790,766)

b) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions in:
   Property, plant and equipment  (4,632,295)  (3,418,451)
   Intangible asset  (32,798)  (5,576)
Advance for purchase of land  -    (23,897)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  139,466 65,507  
Long term investments  (699,000)  (1,084,864)

Net cash used in investing activities  (5,224,627)  (4,467,281)

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

c) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Long term financing obtained  4,228,002  1,300,000 
Repayment of long term financing  (2,568,542)  (1,010,816)
Payment of liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  (847)  (435)
Short term borrowings - net  (3,454,937)  7,544,364 
Share capital issued  1,102,558  1,719 
Share premium net of transaction cost  3,782,976  9,576 
Dividend paid  (1,434,588)  (475,276)

Net cash generated from financing activities  1,654,622  7,369,132 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c)  2,286,132  111,085 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  193,687  82,602 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 40  2,479,819  193,687 

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOW 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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1. LEGAL STATUS AND OPERATIONS

1.1 Interloop Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on 25th April, 1992 as a private limited company and 
subsequently it was converted into public limited company on 18th July, 2008. The Company was listed on Pakistan 
Stock Exchange on 5th April, 2019. The Company is engaged in the business of manufacturing and selling of 
socks, leggies, denim and yarn, providing yarn dyeing services and to generate electricity for its own use.

The geographical locations and addresses of the Company’s business units, including production facilities are as 
under:          
- Registered office: Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad.
- Corporate office & Plant 1: 1-KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad-Pakistan.
- Plant 2, Plant 4 & Spinning: 7-KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad-Pakistan.
- Plant 5: 6-KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad-Pakistan.
- Plant 3 & Denim: 8-KM, Manga- Raiwind Road, Raiwind, Dist. Kasur, Lahore-Pakistan.  
  

            
1.2 The Board of Directors of the Company decided to initiate the proceedings for enlisting of the Company on the 

Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited to finance hosiery division - V and denim projects. Hence, the Company issued 
the prospectus for Initial Public Offer (IPO) of 109 million ordinary shares of Rupees 10 each at a floor price of 
Rupees 45 per share including share premium of Rupees 35 per share as on 05 March 2019. Details regarding 
utilization of IPO proceeds for denim project and plant expansion have been fully explained in the prospectus. 
Before the date of the reporting period, 81.750 million ordinary shares were offered and successfully subscribed 
through book building process by Institutional Investors and High Net Worth Individuals (HNWI) at a strike price 
of Rupees 46.10 per share while the remaining 27.250 million ordinary shares were offered to general public 
for subscription at strike price of Rupees 46.10 per share. Ordinary shares offered to general public were fully 
subscribed and shares have been duly allotted to all shareholders. As on 05 April 2019, Pakistan Stock Exchange 
Limited has approved the Company’s application for formal listing and quotation of the shares on Pakistan Stock 
Exchange.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS Standards, 
the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.

2.2 Basis of measurement 

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as 
otherwise stated in respective policy notes.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee which is also the Company’s functional 
currency.

3. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND PRONOUNCEMENTS

3.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards which became effective 
during the year

        
- Amendment to IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’: 

Transfers of investment property clarifies that an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment property 
when, and only when there is a change in use. A change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to 
meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. In isolation, a change in 
management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendment 
does not have any impact on Company’s financial statements.

- Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ - Clarifying how to account for certain types of share-
based payments:

The amendments are intended to eliminate diversity in practice in three main areas:
 - The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction;
 - The classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax 

obligations; 
 - The accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction 

changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled.
The amendment does not have a significant impact on these unconsolidated financial statements.

- Amendment to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contract’- Applying IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ with IFRS 4:

The amendment address issue arising from the different effective dates of IFRS 9 and the forthcoming new 
insurance contract standard IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’. The amendments introduce two alternative 
options for entities issuing contracts within the scope of IFRS 4, notably a temporary exemption and an overlay 
approach. The temporary exemption enables eligible entities to defer the implementation date of IFRS 9. The 
overlay approach allows an entity applying IFRS 9 from July 01, 2018 onwards to remove from profit or loss the 
effects of some of the accounting mismatches that may occur from applying IFRS 9 before IFRS 17 is applied. 
The amendment does not have any impact on the Company’s financial statements.

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 
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- IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’:

IFRS 9 is a replacement for IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ and covers three distinct areas. Phase 1 contains new 
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. Phase 2 relates to the 
impairment of financial assets and requires the calculation of impairment on an expected loss basis rather than 
the current incurred loss basis. Phase 3 relates to less stringent requirements for general hedge accounting. 
Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 is disclosed in Note. 6.1 of the unconsolidated financial statements.

- IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’:

This standard deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users 
of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good or 
service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard 
replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’. 
Impact of adoption of IFRS 15 is disclosed in Note. 6.2 of the unconsolidated financial statements.  
            

- IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’:

IFRIC 22 clarifies which date should be used for translation when a foreign currency transaction involves payment 
or receipt in advance of the item it relates to. The related item is translated using the exchange rate on the date 
the advance foreign currency is received or paid and the prepayment or deferred income is recognized. The 
date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) would remain the date on which receipt of payment from advance 
consideration was recognized. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the entity shall determine a 
date of the transaction for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation does not have 
a significant impact on these unconsolidated financial statements.

- Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2014-2016 cycle [Amendments to IAS 28 ‘Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures’]:

Amendments to IAS 28 clarifies that a venture capital organization and other similar entities may elect to 
measure investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss, for each associate or 
joint venture separately at the time of initial recognition of investment. Furthermore, similar election is available 
to non-investment entity that has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, when 
applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or 
joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made 
separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture. The amendments do not have any impact on 
these unconsolidated financial statements.

The other amendments to published standards and interpretations that are mandatory for the financial year are 
considered not to be relevant or to have any significant impact on the Company’s financial reporting and operations 
and are therefore not disclosed in these unconsolidated financial statements.

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards that are issued but not 
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Company

- Amendment to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits, - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’ (effective for 
annual period beginning on or after January 01, 2019):

The amendments to IAS 19 specify that an entity must; 

(i) determine current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) 
reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event and determine net 
interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using: 

(a)  the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after 
that event; and

(b) the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset).

(ii) determine any past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, without considering the effect of the 
asset ceiling. This amount is to be recognized in profit or loss. An entity then determine the effect of the 
asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any change in that effect, excluding 
amounts included in net interest, is recognized in other comprehensive income.

The Company is yet to assess the full impact of the amendment. 

- Amendment to IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ - Long term investment in 
Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for annual period beginning on or after January 01, 2019):

The amendment will affect companies that finance such entities with preference shares or with loans for which 
repayment is not expected in the foreseeable future (referred to as long-term interests or ‘LTI’). The amendment 
and accompanying example state that LTI are in the scope of both IFRS 9 and IAS 28 and explain the annual 
sequence in which both standards are to be applied. The amendment is not likely to have an impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.

- Amendment to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instrument’- prepayment Features with Negative Compensation and 
modifications of financial liabilities (effective for annual period beginning on or after January 01, 
2019):

The amendment allow debt instruments with negative compensation prepayment features to be measured at 
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The amendment also clarified that gains and 
losses arising on modifications of financial liabilities that do not result in derecognition should be recognized in 
profit or loss. 

- IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (effective for periods beginning on or after January 01, 2019): 

IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for 
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all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required 
to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligation to make lease payments. The full impact of the future adoption is currently under 
review.

- IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 01, 2019): 

IFRIC 23 clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied 
where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by 
an entity where there is uncertainty over whether that treatment will be accepted by the tax authority. For example, 
a decision to claim a deduction for a specific expense or not to include a specific item of income in a tax return is 
an uncertain tax treatment if its acceptability is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income 
tax accounting where there is an uncertainty regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or loss, 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax losses and credits and tax rates. The interpretation is not expected to 
have significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

- Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, and IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes 
in accounting estimates and errors’ (effective for the Company’s annual period beginning on January 
1, 2019):

These amendments and consequential amendments to other IFRSs: 

(i) use a consistent definition of materiality throughout IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting;

(ii) clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and
(iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information.

These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s future financial 
statements. 

- Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – Definition of a Business (effective for business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of annual period beginning 
on or after 1 January 2020):

The IASB has issued amendments aiming to resolve the difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether 
it has acquired a business or a group of assets. The amendments clarify that to be considered a business, 
an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that 
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments include an election to use a 
concentration test. The standard is effective for transactions in the future and therefore would not have an impact 
on past financial statements.

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle. The new cycle of improvements addresses 
improvements to following approved accounting standards (effective for annual period beginning on 
or after January 1, 2019):

-  IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. The amendment aims to clarify the 
accounting treatment when a company increases its interest in a joint operation that meets the definition of 
a business. A company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of 
the business. A company does not remeasure its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains 
joint control of the business. 

-  IAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendment clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends (including 
payments on financial instruments classified as equity) are recognized consistently with the transaction that 
generates the distributable profits.

-  IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. The amendment clarify that a company treats as part of general borrowings any 
borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.

Further, the following new standards have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), which are yet to be notified by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP), for the 
purposes of their applicability in Pakistan: 

IFRS - 1     ‘First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’. 
IFRS - 14   ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’.
IFRS - 17  ‘Insurance Contracts’.         

            
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards require management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods. Judgments made by management in application of the approved accounting standards 
that have significant effect on the unconsolidated financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material 
adjustments in the next year are discussed in respective policy notes. The areas where various assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the Company’s financial statements or where judgment was exercised in application of 
accounting policies are as follows:

• Estimate of useful life of operating fixed assets - note 5.1
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• Impairment of non-financial assets - note 5.5
• Stores and spares - note 5.6
• Stock-in-trade - note 5.7
• Staff retirement benefits - note 5.10
• Provisions - note 5.13
• Contingencies  - note 5.14
• Taxation - note 5.15

5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

5.1 Operating fixed assets and depreciation

Operating fixed assets, except freehold land which is stated at cost, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any identified accumulated impairment loss. Cost comprises acquisition and other directly attributable costs.

Depreciation is calculated at the rates stated in note 7.1 applying reducing balance method. The useful life and 
residual value of major components of operating fixed assets are reviewed annually to determine that expectations 
are not significantly different from the previous estimates. Adjustment in depreciation rate for current and future 
periods is made if expectations are significantly different from the previous estimates. Depreciation is charged 
from the month when an asset becomes available for use, whereas no depreciation is charged in the month of its 
disposal. Gain and loss on disposal of fixed assets is included in statement of profit or loss.

Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of operating fixed assets beyond its original specification 
and its useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and is added to the cost of the operating fixed assets. 
These are depreciated on reducing balance method at the rate mentioned in the relevant note.

5.2 Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress is stated at cost less any identified impairment loss and represents direct cost of material, 
labour, applicable overheads and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Transfers are made to relevant property, 
plant and equipment category as and when assets are available for its intended use. 

5.3 Leases

Operating leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of lease.

Finance leases 

Leases in terms of which the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 

finance leases. Assets subject to finance lease are stated at the lower of present value of minimum lease payments 
under the lease agreements and the fair value of the assets, less accumulated depreciation and any identified 
impairment loss.

The related rental obligations, net of finance costs are classified as current and long term liability depending upon 
the timing of the payment.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate on the 
balance outstanding. The interest element of the rental is charged to statement of profit or loss over the lease term.

Assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset on a reducing 
balance method at the rates given in note 7.1. Depreciation of leased assets is charged to statement of profit or 
loss.

Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.

Depreciation on additions to leased assets is charged from the month in which an asset is acquired, while no 
depreciation is charged for the month in which the asset is disposed off.

5.4 Intangible asset - Computer software

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any identified accumulated impairment loss. 
These are amortized using the reducing balance method at the rates given in note 8. Amortization on additions is 
charged from the month in which an intangible asset is acquired, while no amortization is charged for the month in 
which intangible asset is disposed off. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software program are recognized as an expense as and when incurred. 
Costs that are directly attributable to identifiable software and have probable economic benefits exceeding one 
year, are recognized as an intangible asset at the time of initial recognition. Direct costs include the purchase cost 
of software and related overhead costs.

Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its original specification 
and useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and added to the cost of the software. These are amortized 
on reducing balance method at the rate mentioned in the relevant note. 

5.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than stock in trade and stores and spares, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite 
lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that 
largely are independent from other assets and groups.
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Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce 
the carrying amount of the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis. Impairment losses on goodwill shall not be 
reversed.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had 
been recognized. Prior impairments of non-financial assets are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting 
date. 

5.6 Stores and spares

Stores and spares are carried at moving average cost. Provision is made for slow moving and obsolete store items 
when so identified. Stores and spares held for capital expenditure are included in capital work in progress.

5.7 Stock-in-trade

These are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). The methods used for the calculation of cost 
are as follows:

 Raw material - At factory  Moving average cost
  - In transit  Invoice value plus direct charges in respect thereof.
 Work in process and finished goods Prime cost including a proportion of production overheads.
 Wastes are valued at net realizable value.

Stock-in-trade is regularly reviewed by the management and any obsolete items are brought down to their net 
realizable value. Net realizable value signifies the selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs 
necessary to be incurred to affect such sale.

5.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, cheques in hand/cheques overdrawn, balances with banks 
and include short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. The cash and cash 
equivalents are readily convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

5.9 Non-current assets held for sale 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use and a sale is considered highly 
probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on 
initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on re-measurements are recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, are no longer amortized or 
depreciated.

5.10 Staff retirement benefits 

(a) Defined Benefit Plan

The Company operates an unfunded gratuity scheme for all employees according to the terms of employment, 
subject to a minimum qualifying period of service. Annual provision is made on the basis of actuarial valuation to 
cover obligations under the scheme for all employees eligible to gratuity benefits.

The cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuation 
being carried out at each balance sheet date. Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability, which comprise of 
actuarial gains and losses i.e. experience adjustments and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions, are 
recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The Company determines net interest expense/(income) 
on the defined benefit obligation for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to then-net defined benefit, taking into account any change in 
the net defined benefit obligation during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest 
expense and other expenses e.g. current service cost, related to defined benefit plans are recognized in statement 
of profit or loss.

(b) Defined Contribution Plan

There is a contributory provident fund for executive staff of the Company for which contributions are charged to 
profit or loss as and when incurred. 

The Company makes monthly contribution to the fund at the rate of 7.5% whereas employees of the Company 
make monthly contributions to the fund at the rates ranging from 7.5% to 12.5% of basic salary. The assets of the 
fund are held separately under the control of trustees.

(c) Employees’ Share Option Scheme (ESOS)

The Company operates an equity settled stock option scheme to be called ‘Interloop Limited - Employees Stock 
Option Scheme, 2016’. The compensation committee (“committee”) of the Board of directors (“Board”) evaluates 
the performance and other criteria of employees and recommends to the Board for grant of options. The Board 
on the recommendation of the committee, on its discretion, grants recommended options to employees. These 
options vest after a specified period subject to fulfillment of certain conditions as defined in the scheme. Upon 
vesting, employees are eligible to apply and secure allotment of Company’s shares at a pre-determined price on 
the date of grant of options.

The fair value of the share option is measured at grant date as difference of fair value of share and exercise price 
and is recognized as an employee compensation expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, on the straight 
line basis over the vesting period. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of 
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awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that 
the amount ultimately recognized is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non- market 
performance conditions at the vesting date.

When share options are exercised, the proceeds received, net of any transaction costs, are credited to share 
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

5.11 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using effective 
interest rate method. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation in respect of liabilities in foreign currency 
are added to the carrying amount of the respective liabilities.

5.12 Ijarah 

Ijarah payments under an Ijarah are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the Ijarah term. 

5.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
the provisions are reversed.

5.14 Contingencies

The assessment of the contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment as the outcome of the 
future events cannot be predicted with certainty. The company, based on the availability of the latest information, 
estimates the value of contingent assets and liabilities which may differ on the occurrence / non-occurrence of the 
uncertain future events.

5.15 Taxation

Current

The charge for current taxation is based on taxable income at current rates of taxation after taking into account tax 
credits, rebates and exemptions available, if any. However, for income covered under Final Taxation Regime (FTR), 
taxation is based on the applicable tax rates under such Regime after taking into account tax credits, rebates and 
exemptions, if any. 

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising 
from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the unconsolidated financial statements 
and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax is calculated by using the 
tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. In this regard, the effect on deferred taxation of the portion of income 
subjected to Final Tax Regime is adjusted in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Technical Release – 
27 of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, if considered material.

Deferred tax liability is recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax asset is recognized for 
all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits, if any, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which these can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can 
be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies.

5.16 Foreign currency translation

All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into rupees at exchange rates prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into rupees at exchange rates prevailing 
at the date of transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated into rupees at exchange rates prevailing at the date of transaction. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency that are stated at fair value are translated into rupees at 
exchange rates prevailing at the date when fair values are determined. Exchange gains and losses are included in 
the statement of profit or loss immediately.

5.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other 
borrowing costs are charged to statement of profit or loss in the period of as and when incurred.

5.18 Government grants

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that entity will comply with the conditions 
attached to it and grant will be received.

5.19 Earnings per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated 
by adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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5.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognized at their face value.

5.21 Dividend

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Company’s unconsolidated 
financial statements in the period in which dividends are approved.

5.22 Segment reporting

Segment reporting is based on the operating (business) segments of the Company. An operating segment is a 
component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses that relate to the transactions with any of the Company’s other components. An 
operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM’) 
to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which 
discrete financial information is available. The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of the Company that makes 
the strategic decisions.

Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Those incomes, expenses, assets, liabilities and other balances which 
cannot be allocated to a particular segment on a reasonable basis are reported as unallocated. 

Transaction among the business segments are recorded at cost. Inter segment sales and purchases are eliminated 
from the total.

5.23 Investment in subsidiary and associate

Investments in subsidiary and associate are recognized at cost less impairment loss, if any. At each balance sheet 
date, the recoverable amounts are estimated to determine the extent of impairment losses, if any, and carrying 
amounts of investments are adjusted accordingly. Impairment losses are recognized as expense. Where impairment 
losses subsequently reverse, the carrying amounts of the investments are increased to the revised recoverable 
amounts but limited to the extent of initial cost of investments. A reversal of impairment loss is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss.

The profits and losses of subsidiary and associated entities are carried forward in their financial statements and not 
dealt within these financial statements except to the extent of dividend declared by the subsidiary and associate. 
Gains and losses on disposal of investments are included in other income.

5.24 Related party transactions

All transactions with related parties are carried out at agreed terms and conditions and on arm’s length basis.

6. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES DUE TO APPLICABILITY OF CERTAIN INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

6.1 IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

6.1.1 Financial assets

The standard introduced new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be 
measured at amortized cost if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates and 
that are ‘solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. A debt investment 
shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held in order to collect contractual cash 
flows which arise on specified dates that are solely principal and interest and as well as selling the asset on the 
basis of its fair value. All other financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless 
the Company makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments 
in other comprehensive income. Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as 
measured at fair value through profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch.

Key changes in accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9

A. Classification and measurement of financial instruments

Investments and other financial assets

Classification:

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
-  those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through 

profit or loss), and
-  those to be measured at amortized cost

The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized 
cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is 
performed at an instrument level. The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how 
it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in which 
the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the Company has 
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its 
business model for managing those assets changes.
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Measurement:

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their 
cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

i) Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the 
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the 
Company classifies its debt instruments:

Amortized cost

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets 
is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in other income / (other expenses) together with foreign 
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVTOCI. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition 
of impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses), interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and 
recognized in other income / (other expenses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in other 
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other 
income/ (other expenses) and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required 
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 

purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely 
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective 
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortized cost or 
at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit 
or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value 
with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

B. Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is primarily derecognized when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the 
Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has 
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company 
could be required to repay.

C. Impairment

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s accounting for impairment losses for 
financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss 
(ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Company to record an allowance for ECLs for all loans and other debt 
financial assets not held at FVPL.
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ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation 
to the asset’s original effective interest rate.

For trade and other receivables, the Company has applied the standard’s simplified approach and has 
calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Company has established a provision matrix 
that is based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment. However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a 
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to 
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held 
by the Company.

D. Hedge accounting

IFRS 9 requires that hedge accounting relationships are aligned with its risk management objectives and 
strategy and to apply a more qualitative and forward-looking approach to assessing hedge effectiveness.

There is no impact of the said change on these unconsolidated financial statements as there is no hedge 
activity carried on by the Company during the year ended June 30, 2019.

6.1.2  Financial liabilities

A. Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, 
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or losses on liabilities 
held for trading are recognized in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Financial liabilities designated 
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and 
only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Company has not designated any financial liability as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

ii) Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR 
amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit 
or loss.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

B. Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognized in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

6.1.3 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set off and the net amount is reported in the unconsolidated financial 
statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the company intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

6.1.4 Impacts of adoption of IFRS 9 on these unconsolidated financial statements

At transition date to IFRS 9, the Company has financial assets measured at amortized cost and investments 
in mutual funds at fair value through profit or loss. The new classification and measurement of the Company’s 
financial assets are, as follows: 

Debt instruments at amortized cost for financial assets that are held within a business model with the objective to 
hold the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI criterion.

Investments in mutual funds that are held for trading in near term and has recognized initially and subsequently at 
fair value through profit or loss. On application of IFRS - 9 the Company has not opted to recognize investments 
in mutual funds at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). These are recognized as fair value 
through profit or loss.

Further all financial assets previously classified under the head ‘loans and receivables’ are now classified as 
‘amortized cost’.

The accounting for the Company’s financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39.
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Accordingly, the adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Company’s accounting policies related 
to financial assets and liabilities.

6.2 IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’:

The Company has adopted IFRS 15 by applying the modified retrospective approach according to which the 
Company is not required to restate the prior year results.

Key changes in accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 15

6.2.1 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company is expected to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the 
Company: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines 
the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; 
allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognizes revenue when or as each performance 
obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised.

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as 
discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent 
events. Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most likely amount’ method. The 
measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be 
recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognized will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle are initially 
recognized as deferred revenue in the form of a separate refund liability.

a) Sale of goods
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when the customer obtains control of the 

goods, which is generally at the time of delivery. Otherwise, control is transferred over time and revenue is 
recognized over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance 
obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company’s performance 
as the Company performs;

- the Company’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Company 
performs; or

- the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the 
Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

Operating fixed assets 7.1  17,038,440  15,152,544 
Capital work-in-progress 7.2  1,218,034  299,425 

 18,256,474  15,451,969 

b) Rendering of services

  Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized over time as the services are rendered.

c) Interest income

  Interest income is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

d) Other revenue

  Other revenue is recognized when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

6.2.2 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

The Company has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on 
days overdue.

Other receivables are recognized at amortized cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

6.2.3 Impacts of adoption of IFRS 15 on these unconsolidated financial statements

The Company has concluded that revenue from sale of goods should be recognized at the point in time when 
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods. Therefore, the adoption of 
IFRS 15 did not have an impact on the timing of revenue recognition and the amount of revenue recognized.

The Company provides sales discounts to certain customers which is not in the nature of volume rebates 
(discounts). The Company estimates provision for discounts and revenue is reduced by the amount of provision. 
This is also in alignment with the requirements of IFRS 15 and did not have an impact on the revenue of the 
Company. Therefore, the application of the constraint on variable consideration did not have any further impact on 
the revenue recognized by the Company.
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2018

 DESCRIPTION 

 C O S T  DEPRECIATION   W.D.V  

Rate 
%    

As on  
July 1, 
2017

 Addi-
tions 

 Deletions 

 Trans-
ferred to 
Interloop 
Holdings 
(Pvt) Ltd

As on  
June 30, 

2018

As on  
July 1, 
2017

 For the 
year 

 Adjust-
ments 

Trans-
ferred to 
Interloop 
Holdings 
(Pvt) Ltd

As on  
June 30, 

2018 

As on  
June 30, 

2018 

Rupees in ‘000

Owned

Freehold land  908,736  43,746  -    (23,012)  929,470  -    -    -    -    -    929,470  -   

Buildings on freehold land  4,143,968  586,383  -    -    4,730,351  1,489,328  279,481  -    -    1,768,809  2,961,542 10

Plant and machinery  13,539,015  1,971,008  (172,129)  -    15,337,894  5,392,077  913,161  (95,866)  -    6,209,372  9,128,522 10

Tools and  equipments  688,928  167,218  (2,638)  -    853,508  276,704  56,751  (1,199)  -    332,256  521,252 10

Office equipments  281,231  88,603  (6,433)  -    363,401  141,233  40,647  (5,492)  -    176,388  187,013 20

Electric installations  1,070,689  243,365  -    -    1,314,054  338,044  88,750  -    -    426,794  887,260 10

Furniture and fixtures  285,911  29,710  (1,814)  -    313,807  105,062  20,077  (1,282)  -    123,857  189,950 10

Vehicles  423,779  162,606  (58,367)  (9,104)  518,914  135,079  72,377  (33,341)  (1,569)  172,546  346,368 20

 Sub total  21,342,257 3,292,639 (241,381)  (32,116) 24,361,399 7,877,527 1,471,244  (137,180)  (1,569) 9,210,022 15,151,377 

Leasehold 

Vehicles  2,439  -    -    -    2,439  981  291  -    -    1,272  1,167 20

Sub total  2,439  -    -    -    2,439  981  291  -    -    1,272  1,167 

Grand total  21,344,696  ,292,639 (241,381)  (32,116) 24,363,838 7,878,508 1,471,535  (137,180)  (1,569) 9,211,294 15,152,544 

2019

 DESCRIPTION 

 COST  DEPRECIATION   W.D.V  

Rate 
%    As on  

July 1, 2018
 Additions  Deletions 

As on  
June 30, 

2019

As on  
July 1, 2018

 For the 
year 

 Trial Pro-
duction 
Capitali-
zation 

 Adjust-
ments 

As on  
June 30, 

2019

As on  
June 30, 

2019

Rupees in ‘000

Owned

Freehold land  929,470  651,162  -    1,580,632  -    -    -    -    -    1,580,632  -   

Buildings on freehold land  4,730,351  529,222  (17,251)  5,242,322  1,768,809  329,980  273  (7,174)  2,091,888  3,150,434 10

Plant and machinery  15,337,894  1,976,665  (298,702)  17,015,857  6,209,372  1,006,313  3,395  (193,303)  7,025,777  9,990,080 10

Tools and  equipments  853,508  129,094  (6,971)  975,631  332,256  60,111  175  (3,568)  388,974  586,657 10

Office equipments  363,401  54,818  (9,903)  408,316  176,388  43,985  173  (5,383)  215,163  193,153 20

Electric installations  1,314,054  100,857  (35)  1,414,876  426,794  94,060  268  (20)  521,102  893,774 10

Furniture and fixtures  313,807  86,160  (3,890)  396,077  123,857  25,044  38  (2,270)  146,669  249,408 10

Vehicles  518,914  190,031  (126,355)  582,590  172,546  81,663  -    (65,921)  188,288  394,302 20

 Sub total 24,361,399 3,718,009 (463,107) 27,616,301 9,210,022 1,641,156  4,322 (277,639) 10,577,861 17,038,440 

Leasehold 

Vehicles  2,439  -    (2,439)  -    1,272  78  -    (1,350)  -    -   20

 Sub total  2,439  -    (2,439)  -    1,272  78  -    (1,350)  -    -   

Grand total 24,363,838 3,718,009 (465,546) 27,616,301 9,211,294 1,641,234  4,322 (278,989) 10,577,861 17,038,440 

7.1.1 The detail of operating fixed assets disposed / written off during the year are as follows:

Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book Value Sale Proceeds
Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of Disposal Particulars of Buyers

Rupees in ‘000

Assets having book value exceeding Rs. 500,000 each

Buildings

Civil Works - Satellite Unit  3,347  1,242  2,105  -    (2,105)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Civil Works - Satellite Unit  2,709  1,006  1,703  -    (1,703)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Civil Works - Chawla Store Expansion  5,071  2,074  2,997  -    (2,997)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Fabrication of Finished Goods Store  3,646  1,869  1,777  -    (1,777)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Sub Total  14,773  6,191  8,582  -    (8,582)

Plant and Machinery

Dyeing Machine  - Tupesa  2,503  1,972  531  344  (187)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Dryer  - Tupesa - Sc2  4,861  3,677  1,184  143  (1,041)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Dryer  - Tupesa - Sc  3,539  2,668  871  143  (728)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Suction Blower System  3,179  1,671  1,508  29  (1,479)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Bleaching Machine - Polycraft  992  460  532  29  (503)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine - Lonati - L454J  2,612  2,060  552  182  (370)  Negotiation 
Nawab Spinning Mills (Pvt) Ltd, 
Chak No. 61 R.B, Near Sitara Ener-
gy, Sheikhupura Road , Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine  - Santoni  2,505  1,965  540  13  (527)  Negotiation 
Mian Maqsood - Sir Syed Town, 
Dajkot Road, Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine  - Santoni  2,505  1,965  540  13  (527)  Negotiation 
Mian Maqsood - Sir Syed Town, 
Dajkot Road, Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine  - Sangiacomo  3,045  2,227  818  13  (805)  Negotiation 
Mian Maqsood - Sir Syed Town, 
Dajkot Road, Faisalabad.

Automatic Boarding Machine - Techo-
pea  - Ghibli

 2,125  1,141  984  80  (904)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Sarfraz - Chak No. 61, 
Sheikhupura Road, Faisalabad.

Suction System Complete  3,780  633  3,147  53  (3,094)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Safdar - Zulifqar 
Colony, Faisalabad.

Diesel Generator - CMD38 Rating 35Kva 
/ 28Kw Prime 1500Rpm

 1,100  450  650  195  (455)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Umer Farooq - Zulifqar 
Colony, Faisalabad.

Gas Genset - Ge Jenbacher - J 620 
GSE01 (Old Parts Scraped due to 
Overhauling of Generator)

 19,241  13,757  5,484  -    (5,484)  Scraped Mr. Abdul Aziz

Sub Total  51,987  34,646  17,341  1,237  (16,104)

Tools and Equipments

Fire Alarm System - Chawla Warehouse  1,439  602  837  -    (837)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Fire Alarm System - Finished Goods 
Warehouses

 4,329  2,257  2,072  91  (1,981)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Safdar - Zulifqar 
Colony, Faisalabad.

Sub Total  5,768  2,859  2,909  91  (2,818)

Furniture and Fixtures

Palletizing and Racking System  1,550  876  674  -    (674)  Negotiation 
Mr. Tariq -  Darul Ehsan Town near 
Rasheed Kanda, Samnundri Road, 
Faisalabad.

Sub Total  1,550  876  674  -    (674)
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Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book Value Sale Proceeds
Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of Disposal Particulars of Buyers

Rupees in ‘000

Vehicles

Toyota Land Cruiser Parado  18,151  12,600  5,551  5,551  -   Negotiation
Mrs. Nazia Navid - Wife of Chief 
Executive Officer 

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,285  1,330  955  860  (95) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Arshad - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,274  1,313  961  708  (253) Company Policy
Mr. Shahid Hameed - Company 
Employee

Honda City  1,752  281  1,471  1,472  1 Company Policy
Ms. Sadia Rashid - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic Orial Prosmatic  2,511  1,451  1,060  860  (200) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Shahzad - Compa-
ny Employee

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,205  1,273  932  708  (224) Company Policy
Mr. Naseer Ahmad - Company 
Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,302  782  520  305  (215) Company Policy
Mr. Raza Mohay Ud Din - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Xli  1,626  927  699  644  (55) Company Policy
Mr. Kamran Akhtar - Company 
Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,282  731  551  424  (127) Company Policy
Mr. Kamran Sani - Company 
Employee

Honda City Aspire Mt  1,566  892  674  624  (50) Company Policy
Mr. Umer Javed - Company 
Employee

Honda City Ivtec  1,555  934  621  305  (316) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Rizwan Mohsin - 
Company Employee

Honda City Aspire Mt  1,695  1,017  678  1,300  622 Company Policy
Mr. Hasnain Abbas - Company 
Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,316  780  536  416  (120) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Atif Saleem - Com-
pany Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,811  1,101  710  658  (52) Company Policy
Mr. Aamer Tanveer - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,167  1,126  1,041  1,062  21  Company Policy
Mr. Dr Nabeel - Company Em-
ployee

Honda City Aspire Mt  1,556  902  654  488  (166) Company Policy
Mr. Adeel Asghar - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,811  1,090  721  658  (63) Company Policy
Mr. Rashid Hussain - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Xli  1,685  1,025  660  658  (2) Company Policy
Mr. Zubair Masud - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,811  1,036  775  488  (287) Company Policy Mr. Arif Butt - Company Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,297  751  546  488  (58) Company Policy
Mr. Waheed Ahmad - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic  2,028  1,249  779  438  (341) Company Policy Mr. Yasir Riaz - Company Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,809  1,129  680  658  (22) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Naseer Ud Din - 
Company Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,771  1,030  741  488  (253) Company Policy
Mr. Javed Iqbal - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,810  1,103  707  658  (49) Company Policy
Mr. Zahid Hussain - Company 
Employee

Honda City  1,848  414  1,434  1,435  1 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,316  719  597  603  6 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Faw V-2 M/T  1,076  380  696  703  7 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,277  425  852  853  1 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Suzuki Cultus - Vxr  1,444  24  1,420  1,410  (10) Insurance claim
Security General Insurance 
Company

Honda City  1,769  888  881  881  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Toyota Corolla Altis  2,088  951  1,137  1,137  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Wagon-R Vxl  1,074  453  621  626  5 Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Cultus Vxl  1,566  78  1,488  1,488  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

7.1.2 Depreciation expense for the year has been allocated as under;   

Cost of sales  1,490,464  1,338,143 
Administrative expenses  150,770  133,392 

 1,641,234  1,471,535 

7.2 Capital work-in-progress

Civil works 7.2.1  653,047  178,203 
Plant and machinery 7.2.2  135,550  32,696 
Capital stores 7.2.3  3,913  87,200 
Advances to suppliers  425,524  1,326 

 1,218,034  299,425 

7.2.1   Civil works include borrowing cost amounting to Rs. 16 million calculated at the rates ranging from 2.33% to 4.92% per annum. 

7.2.2   Plant and machinery includes amount of Rs. 124.68 million in respect of trial production cost of denim sampling unit.

7.2.3   Capital stores include factory tools and equipments, office equipments, electric installations and furniture and fixtures that are held in store for future 
use and capitalization.

Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book Value Sale Proceeds
Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of Disposal Particulars of Buyers

Rupees in ‘000

Honda City  1,688  731  957  957  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,124  564  560  559  (1) Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,099  501  598  598  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Toyota Hilux 4X2 S/C  2,027  857  1,170  1,171  1 Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Mercedes - Benz E300  14,195  6,700  7,495  7,495  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Honda Civic  2,666  89  2,577  2,577  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Honda Civic Oriel  2,988  149  2,839  2,838  (1) Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,334  670  664  661  (3) Transferred
IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited - Subsidi-
ary Company

Honda Civic I-Vtec 1.8L Cvt (Prosmatic) 
Oriel

 2,666  1,011  1,655  1,665  10 Transferred
IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited - Subsidi-
ary Company

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,934  733  1,201  1,201  -   Transferred
IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited - Subsidi-
ary Company

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,849  702  1,147  1,147  -   Negotiation Interloop Welfare Trust 

Sub Total  106,104  52,892  53,212  50,924  (2,288)

Other assets having book value 
below Rs. 500,000 each

 285,364  181,525  103,839  87,214  (16,625)

Total - 2019  465,546  278,989  186,557  139,466  (47,091)

Total - 2018  241,381  137,180  104,201  65,507  (38,694)
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7.3 Details of immovable property in the name of the Company:

Usage Location Area

Plant 1 Chak # 76 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 19 Acres 7 Kanals 12 Marlas
Chak # 194 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 2 Acres 8 Kanals 13 Marlas
Chak # 108 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 9 Marlas

Interloop Industrial  
Park - (Plant 2, Plant 4 & Spinning)

Chak # 103 RB, 7 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 97 Acres 19 Kanals 9 Marlas 5 Sarsai

Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 14 Acres 3 Kanals 12 Marlas
Chak # 103 RB, 7 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 38 Acres 15 Kanals 15 Marlas

Plant 3 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. Kasur, Lahore. 41 Acres 3 Kanals 8 Marlas

Denim Division 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. Kasur, Lahore. 26 Acres 7 Kanals 14 Marlas

Plant 5 Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 75 Acres 13 Kanals 13 Marlas

Office Block Chak # 200 RB, Near Toll Plaza Gatwala, Lathianwala, Faisalabad. 2 Acres 13 Marlas 5 Sarsai

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Computer Software

Cost:
Opening balance  98,196  92,620 
Addition during the year  32,798  5,576 

 130,994  98,196 

Amortization:
Opening balance  55,786  45,415 
For the year amortization  9,047  10,371 

 64,833  55,786 

Net book value  66,161  42,410 

Amortization rate 20% 20%

9. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS  

Unquoted - at cost

Associated company

IL Bangla Limited  9.1  308,735  379,549 

Subsidiary company

IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited  9.2  700,000  1,000 

 1,008,735  380,549 

9.1     IL Bangla Limited

Cost of investment 9.1.1  379,549  379,549 
Provision for impairment loss  (70,814)  -   

 308,735  379,549 

9.1.1  31.825 million (2018: 31.825 million) ordinary shares of BD Takas 10/- each amounting to BD Takas 318.250 million (2018: BD Takas 318.250 mil-
lion). Equity held 31.61% (2018: 43.75%).

9.2     50 million (2018: 0.1 million) ordinary shares of Rs. 10/- each amounting to Rs. 500 million (2018: Rs. 1 million) and Rs. 200 million as share deposit 
money. Equity held 100%.

{
{

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

10. LONG TERM LOANS  

Considered good - Secured

Loans to employees  10.1  43,112  60,747 
Loan to director  10.2  22,650  -   

 65,762  60,747 

10.1    Loans to employees

Opening balance  108,496  92,647 
Add: disbursement made during the year 10.1.1  78,870  69,149 

 187,366  161,796 

Less: amount received during the year  (90,571)  (53,300)

 96,795  108,496 
Less: receivable within twelve months  (53,683)  (47,749)

 43,112  60,747 

10.1.1 These loans are given to employees as per approved policy of the Company and are secured against employees retirement benefits.

10.2    Loan to director

Opening balance  -    -   
Add: disbursement made during the year 10.2.1  25,750  -   

 25,750  -   

Less: amount received during the year  -    -   

 25,750  -   

Less: receivable within twelve months  (3,100)  -   

 22,650  -   

10.2.1 This represents loan paid to an executive director of the Company as per house building finance policy of the Company. Under the policy, home 
ownership grant of Rs. 2.5 million and mortgage assistance of Rs. 23.25 million is disbursed during the year. Tenure of both the home ownership grant 
and mortgage assistance is for a period of six years. Mortgage assistance is repayable in 60 equal monthly installments along with mark up thereon. 

11. LONG TERM DEPOSITS  

Considered good:

Security deposits - unsecured  28,019  24,817 
Lease key money  -    238 

 28,019  25,055 

12. STORES AND SPARES

Stores  233,322  185,234 
Spares  654,337  593,964 

 887,659  779,198 

13. STOCK IN TRADE

Raw material  3,730,840  3,166,265 
Work in process  597,562  471,276 
Finished goods  1,954,089  1,484,177 

 6,282,491  5,121,718 
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15. LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Considered good:

Loans
Current portion of loans to employees - Secured 10.1  53,683  47,749 

Current portion of loan to director - Secured 10.2  3,100  -   

Metis international (Pvt) Limited - Secured 15.1  9,560  33,414 

Advances
Advances to suppliers  989,598  536,580 
Advances to employees 15.2  7,401  -   

 1,063,342  617,743 

15.1   This loan was given in foreign currency amounting to US$ 275,000 at rate of 15% per annum. Upon lapse of payment date, additional mark up at 
the rate of 2.5% will be charged on monthly mark up installment due for each day of delay upto a maximum of 20%. The loan is secured through an 
irrevocable lien/charge on total assets of the Metis International (Pvt) Limited.

15.2   Advances to employees are given to meet business expenses and are settled as and when expenses are incurred.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

14. TRADE DEBTS 

Considered good:

Foreign
- Secured 14.1  4,250,501  3,154,733 

- Unsecured  3,564,083  3,809,375 

 7,814,584  6,964,108 

Local
- Unsecured  433,156  328,900 

 8,247,740  7,293,008 

14.1 It includes receivables from following related parties;

IL Bangla Limited  44,280  40,366 

Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited  352,636  84,944 

Eurosox Plus BV  293,422  112,511 

 690,338  237,821 

14.2   The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 1,052.51 million (2018: Rs. 
319.60 million).

14.3   At June 30, 2019, trade debts due from related parties aggregating to Rs. 298.17 million (2018: Rs. 163.99 million) were past due but not impaired. 
The ageing analysis of these trade debts is as follows:

Not yet due  392,170  73,828 
Upto 1 month  119,452  108,536 
More than 1 month  178,716  55,457 

 690,338  237,821 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

16. DEPOSIT, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

Deposit
L/C margin  70,338  -   

Prepayment
Insurance premium  40,226  25,167 

Other receivables - considered good:
Receivables from related parties 16.1  83,980  86,760 
Accrued interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Limited  10,441  2,401 
Others  -    65,536 

 204,985  179,864 

16.1    Receivables from related parties include receivables from:

IL Bangla Limited - Unquoted associate 16.4  82,766  76,970 
IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited - Unquoted subsidiary  -    8,017 
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd - an associated undertaking  -    1,273 
Interloop Welfare Trust  1,214  -   
Interloop Limited ESOS Management Trust  -    500 

 83,980  86,760 

16.2    The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 83.98 million (2018: Rs. 
86.76 million ).

16.3     At June 30, 2019, receivables aggregating to Rs. 83.98 million (2018: Rs. 86.76 million) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these 
receivables is as follows:

Upto 1 month  7,153  5,274 
More than 1 month  76,827  81,486 

 83,980  86,760 

16.4     This represents balance receivable against payments made on behalf of IL Bangla Limited. Interest is charged at effective rate of 7.53% per annum.

17. TAX REFUNDS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT

Duty drawbacks  646,486  1,054,370 
Sales tax refundable  401,608  532,070 
Income tax refundable  877,345  865,366 

 1,925,439  2,451,806 
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Name of the investee
Number of  

shares / units 
as at June 30, 2019

Average Cost  
as at June 30, 2019

Fair value  
as at June 30, 2019

Remeasurement loss 
 as at June 30, 2019

No. of units '000  Rupees in ‘000

Alfalah GHP Alfa Fund  308.8077  22,272  17,306  (4,966)

Alfalah GHP Sovereign Fund  554.0604  61,221  58,944  (2,277)

Meezan Islamic Fund  725.9510  45,978  34,795  (11,183)

Meezan Sovereign Fund  0.1371  7  7  -   

NAFA Financial Sector Income Fund  86.5028  924  909  (15)

NAFA Stock Fund  1,416.4747  19,307  16,986  (2,321)

NAFA Money Market Fund  157.5662  1,563  1,555  (8)

UBL Government Securities Fund  3.7222  411  394  (17)

Total  3,253.2220  151,683  130,896  (20,787)

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

18. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Mutual Funds - Fair value through profit or loss: 18.1 & 18.2

Alfalah GHP Income Multiplier Fund  -    56,657 
Alfalah GHP Alfa Fund  17,306  20,740 
Alfalah GHP Sovereign Fund  58,944  -   
Meezan Islamic Fund  34,795  45,978 
Meezan Sovereign Fund  7  7 
NAFA Islamic Energy Fund  -    24,040 
NAFA Financial Sector Income Fund  909  -   
NAFA Stock Fund  16,986  -   
NAFA Money Market Fund  1,555  -   
UBL Growth And Income Fund  -    3 
UBL Government Securities Fund  394  -   

 130,896  147,425 

Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) - Amortized cost: 18.3
The Bank of Punjab  150,347  -   
National Bank of Pakistan  790,908  -   

 941,255  -   

Sales Tax Refund Bonds - Amortized cost: 18.4

FBR Refund Settlement Company (Private) Limited  135,100  -   

 1,207,251  147,425 

18.1    Detail of Investment in Mutual Funds

2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000

19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES  

Cash in hand  26,353  12,051 
Cash at banks

In current accounts  1,440,947  149,218 
In foreign currency accounts  71,264  32,418 

 1,512,211  181,636 

 1,538,564  193,687 

20. AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018
Number of shares in '000

 965,000  265,000 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each  9,650,000  2,650,000 

 35,000  35,000 Non-voting ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each  350,000  350,000 

 1,000,000  300,000  10,000,000  3,000,000 

21. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP CAPITAL

2019 2018
Number of shares in '000

 130,900  21,400 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid in cash  1,309,000  214,000 

 738,500  168,200 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued as fully paid  
bonus shares

 7,385,000  1,682,000 

 1,266  510 
Non-voting ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each fully  
paid in cash

 12,662  5,104 

 1,531  -   
Non-voting ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued  
as fully paid bonus shares

 15,313  -   

 872,197  190,110  8,721,975  1,901,104 

18.2    Fair values of these investments are determined using quoted market / repurchase price.

18.3    Short term investment in TDRs earned interest at effective rate of 11.55% to 12.05% per annum.

18.4    By virtue of enactment of section 67A in the Sales Tax Act, 1990, Sales Tax Refunds claimant have been given option to receive their refunds in shape 
of Sales Tax Refund Bonds which have been directly credited to the Corporate Investor Account maintained with CDC (Central Depository Company 
of Pakistan Limited) .

The bonds so issued have a maturity period of three (3) years and shall bear simple profit at the rate of 10% per annum. The bonds are freely tradable 
in Pakistan's secondary markets and shall be approved security for calculating the statutory liquidity reserve and shall be acceptable by the banks as 
collateral security. After period of maturity, the Company shall return the bonds to the Board and the Board shall make the payment of amount due 
under the bonds, along with profit due, to the bond holders.

The bonds shall be redeemable before maturity only at the option of the Board along with simple profit payable at the time of redemption in the light 
of general or specific policy to be formulated by the Board.

The management intend to trade and redeem these bonds in near future, therefore, these are grouped in short term investments. 
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2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

22. RESERVES  

Capital reserve

Share premium 22.1  3,791,602  30,255 

Revenue reserve

Employee share option compensation reserve 22.2  -    8,608 

 3,791,602  38,863 

21.1 Movement in issued, subscribed and paid up capital

Ordinary Shares of Rs. 10 each fully  
paid in cash

Ordinary Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid 
bonus shares

Note Voting  Non-Voting Voting  Non-Voting 

Number of shares in ‘000

Opening balance  21,400  510  168,200  -   

Issued during the year 21.1.1  109,500  756  570,300  1,531 

Closing balance  130,900  1,266  738,500  1,531 

21.1.1 During the year the Company has issued 109 million ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each in Initial Public Offerings (IPO). (Note. 1.2)

22.1 This represents premium received over and above face value of the shares issued to institutional investors, high net worth individuals and general 
public through initial public offering (IPO) and employees of the Company through employees stock option scheme (ESOS). This reserve can be 
utilized by the Company only for the purposes specified in section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017. 

22.2 EMPLOYEES SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ESOS)

The shareholders of the Company has approved Interloop Limited - Employee Stock Options Scheme, 2016 (“the scheme”) for grant of options to 
certain eligible employees to purchase ordinary shares (non-voting) of the Company, to be determined by the Compensation Committee constituted 
by the Board of directors of the Company. 

Under the Scheme, the Company may grant options to eligible employees selected by the Compensation Committee, from time to time, which shall 
not at any time exceed 15% of the paid up capital (ordinary and voting) of the Company (as increased from time to time). The option entitles an 
employee to purchase shares at an exercise price determined in accordance with the mechanism defined in the scheme at the date of grant. The 
aggregate number of shares for all options to be granted under the scheme to any single eligible employee shall not, at any time, exceed 3% of the 
paid up capital (ordinary and voting) of the Company (as increased from time to time). Further the grant of options in any one calendar year exceeding 
3% of the paid up capital (ordinary and voting) shall require approval of the shareholders. However, once the number of shares issued under this 
scheme equal fifteen percent (15%) of the paid up capital (ordinary and voting) of the Company, the entitlement pool shall be exhausted and this 
Scheme shall cease to operate, notwithstanding any subsequent increase in the paid up capital.

The options will have a vesting period of one year and an exercise period of one year from the date options are vested as laid down in the scheme. 
Option price shall be payable by the employee on the exercise of options in full or part. The options will lapse after completion of one year from the 
date options are vested if not exercised.

Shares issued in response to exercise of options shall be Non-Voting Ordinary Shares, hereinafter called "Class B Shares" and shall not; 

(i)  have voting rights or right to receive notice, attend and vote at the general meeting of the Company, except and otherwise provided by the  
      Companies Act, 2017; and

(ii)  be entitled for right shares (Ordinary and Voting).

Shares issues under this scheme will convert into ordinary shares after 3 years from the date of listing of the Company or after completion of 3 years 
from the date of issue, whichever is later. The Company will not be obliged to buy back the shares. However, if the employees wishes to sell the 
shares, the Company may buy back the shares at the lesser of the prevailing price on the securities exchange or at the break up value of the shares 
determined as per the latest audited financial statements of the Company.

2019 2018

Numbers of options ‘000

Options outstanding at the beginning of the year  1,399  1,341 

Options granted during the year  -    933 

Options declined/lapsed but subsequently offered  426  -   

Options exercised during the year  (790)  (172)

Options expired/lapsed during the year  (465)  (703)

Options outstanding at the end of the year  570  1,399 

The Company's management is of the view that no further options would be exercised from the outstanding balance as the same has already been 
declined by the eligible employees and management does not intend to reoffer the same. Therefore, no further expense or employee share option 
compensation reserve is created in these financial statements.

Further, it is pertinent to mention here that the scheme is not in operation since listing of the Company on PSX primarily due to the fact that the terms 
of the scheme require to be consistent with the increased legal compliance for a listed entity. The proposal for subject updation in the Existing scheme 
is under review and pending approval from shareholders of the Company and SECP respectively.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

23. LONG TERM FINANCING  

From financial institutions - secured

Diminishing musharika 23.1  2,140,117  2,263,222 
Syndicated finance facility 23.2  542,857  814,286 
Syndicated finance facility (BMR) 23.3  96,208  138,968 
Islamic long term finance facility - ILTFF 23.4  696,754  -   

 3,475,936  3,216,476 

From related party - unsecured

Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - associated company 23.5  1,400,000  -   

 4,875,936  3,216,476 

Less: Current portion of long term financing  (1,247,191)  (968,540)

 3,628,745  2,247,936 

23.1    These  loans have been obtained under diminishing musharika arrangements and are repayable in quarterly installments. These are secured against 
1st joint pari passu charge - JPP of Rs. 6,468 million (2018: 1,474 million) over fixed assets, specific/exclusive charge of Rs. 1,992 million (2018: 3,015 
million) on fixed assets (plant and machinery) and ranking charge of Rs. 718 million (2018: 1,978 million) on  fixed assets of the Company. Mark up is 
charged at the rate of 3 months KIBOR plus 0.10% to 0.50% per annum (2018: 3 months KIBOR plus 0.10% to 0.75% per annum).

Before listing of the Company fair value of the options was determined based on the break up value of shares and exercise price at the date of each 
grant of options. Exercise price was determined based on latest available audited financial statements of the Company. After listing of the Company 
the exercise price shall be the weighted average of the closing market price of shares of the Company for the last 30 days prior to the date of grant 
of options.

Due to issuance of bonus shares of 300% of the existing paid up capital of the Company in current year and demerger of the investment segment 
of the Company into Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited in last year, the break up value of the shares had been reduced to Rs. 11.91 per share. This 
necessitated the repricing of the existing options outstanding during the year. Moreover, the existing exercise price of Rs. 76.04 per share was also 
not attractive at the moment due to the floor price of Rs. 45 per share set in the draft prospectus for the proposed IPO duly approved by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and the Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) till date. Accordingly it was proposed to offer exercise price 
for outstanding options at Rs. 35 per share to make it more lucrative for the proposed eligible employees. 

The shareholders of the Company in their meeting held on March 5, 2019 resolved to reprice the options already granted and pending for exercise 
under the Company's Employees Stock Option Scheme, from initial exercise price of Rs. 76.04 per share to the revised price of Rs. 35 per share, 
without any change or modification in any other specific terms and conditions under which such options have been granted in accordance with rule 
7(ii)of the Public Companies (Employees Stock Option Scheme) Rules, 2001 read with sub clause 3 of clause 6 of Chapter III of the Guidelines for 
Structuring and Offering of the Employees Stock Option Schemes approved by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan. 

Information about outstanding number of options at the end of the year is as follows:
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2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000

24. LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS 
      SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE

 

Future minimum lease payments  -    1,146 
Less: Un-amortized finance charges  -    (61)

Present value of future minimum lease payments  -    1,085 

Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities  -    (470)

 -    615 

2018

 Not later than one 
year 

 Later than one year 
and not later than 

five years 

 Rupees in ‘000

Future minimum lease payments  519  627 
Less: Un-amortized finance charges  (49)  (12)

Present value of future minimum lease payments  470  615 

24.1 During the year the Company has paid off all its lease liability. 

24.2 The amount of future payments of the lease and the period in which these payments will become due are as follows:

23.2    The company has entered into a syndicated long term finance facility arrangement for Rs. 1,900 million with a consortium of local banks for acquisition 
of certain assets from Kohinoor Mills Limited. The repayment of this loan is to be made in quarterly installments and the loan is secured against the 1st 
specific charge of Rs. 2,933.34 million (2018: 2,933.34 million) over the fixed assets of Interloop Limited (Hosiery Division III). The mark up is charged 
at the fixed rate of 5% per annum (2018: 5% per annum).  

23.3    The Company has also entered into syndicated long term finance facility arrangement for Rs. 300 million with a consortium of local banks for Bal-
ancing, Modernization and Replacement (BMR) of assets purchased from Kohinoor Mills Limited. The repayment of loan is to be made in quarterly 
installments and securities are same as mentioned in note 23.2 above. Markup is charged at the rate of 03 months KIBOR plus 1.3% per annum 
(2018: 03 months KIBOR plus 1.3% per annum).

23.4    The Company has obtained Islamic Long Term Finance Facility - ILTFF of Rs. 1,500 million for purchase of plant and machinery for a period of 10 
years including 2 year grace period. Repayment of loan is to be made in quarterly installments and is secured against 1st JPP charge of Rs. 3,734 
million (2018: nil) over land, building and plant and machinery of the Company. This 1st JPP charge of Rs. 3,734 million is same on both ILTFF and 
diminishing musharika facilities from HBL and is included in aggregate charge mentioned in note 23.1 above. Markup is charged at SBP ILTFF rate 
plus 0.75% per annum (2018: nil). 

23.5     The Company "Interloop Limited" has entered into loan agreement with Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited upto an amount of Rs. 3,000 million for period 
of three years including one year grace period. Mark up is charged at the rate of 5% per annum and will be paid till 15th of every month, following the 
end of every quarter. Upon lapse of payment date, the Company shall pay late payment charges equivalent to 2% of the monthly mark up installment 
due for each day of late payment, which may be considered to waive off at the discretion of management of Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited. The 
loan is unsecured but is made with full recourse against the Company and its successors. 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

25. DEFERRED LIABILITIES  

Staff retirement gratuity 25.2  2,482,623  1,925,612 

25.1 General description
This represents an unfunded gratuity scheme which provides termination benefits for all employees of the Company who attain the minimum qualifying 
period. The latest actuarial valuation of the defined benefit plan was carried out as at June 30, 2019 using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) Actuarial 
Cost Method. Details of the defined benefit plan are as follows:

25.7 The expected contribution to defined benefit obligation for the year ending June 30, 2020 will be Rs. 733.96 million.

25.8 Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to assumptions set out above. The following table summarizes how the impact on the 
definedbenefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have increased / (decreased) as a result of a change in respective assumptions 
by 100 bps.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000
25.2   Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening balance  1,925,612  1,572,461 

Expenses recognized in the statement of profit or loss 25.3  522,833  414,543 
Remeasurement of plan obligation chargeable to other comprehensive income 25.5  192,825  91,305 
Balance transferred to Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited  (17,120)  (503)
Balance transferred to IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited  (10,506)  -   
Paid during the year  (131,021)  (152,194)

Closing balance  2,482,623  1,925,612 

25.3   Expenses recognized in the statement of profit or loss

Current service cost  336,823  298,575 
Interest cost  186,010  115,968 

25.4  522,833  414,543 

25.4   Amounts charged in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Cost of sales  440,739  352,125 
Distribution expenses  14,368  11,498 
Administrative expenses  67,726  50,920 

 522,833  414,543 

25.5   Total remeasurement chargeable to other comprehensive income

Remeasurement of plan obligation:
Actuarial gain from changes in demographic assumptions  -    (75,521)
Actuarial losses from changes in financial assumptions  97,569  67,778 
Experience adjustments  95,256  99,048 

 192,825  91,305 

25.6   Principal actuarial assumptions used 2019 2018

Discount rate used for profit and loss charge 10.00% 7.75%
Discount rate for year end obligation 14.50% 10.00%

Salary increase used for year end obligation
Salary increase for FY 2019 N/A 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2020 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2021 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2022 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2023 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2024 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2025 onward 14.00% 9.25%

Demographic assumption
Mortality rates (for deaths in service) SLIC SLIC

2001-2005 2001-2005
Setback 1 year Setback 1 year

Staff retirement gratuity 60 years 60 years
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2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000
Discount rate + 100 bps  (2,232,532)  (1,728,390)
Discount rate - 100 bps  2,781,833  2,165,469 
Salary change + 100 bps  2,785,405  2,169,128 
Salary change - 100 bps  (2,225,007)  (1,721,659)

The sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation to the significant actuarial assumptions has been performed using the same calculation 
techniques as applied for calculation of defined benefit obligation reported in the balance sheet.

25.9   The average duration of defined benefit obligation for the year ended 2019 is 11 years (2018: 11 years).

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Creditors  833,328  889,974 
Accrued liabilities 26.1  2,213,645  1,464,098 
Advances from customers  7,398  13,510 
Other payables 26.2  153,125  127,402 
Employees provident fund trust  5,020  4,315 
Withholding tax payable  78,845  20,286 
Workers' profit participation fund 26.3  285,500  210,829 

 3,576,861  2,730,414 

26.1 It includes an amount of Rs. 209.85 million (2018: Rs. 188.22 million) relating to infrastructure cess payable.

Honourable Sindh High Court in its decision dated 17 September, 2008 declared the imposition of infrastructure cess before December 28, 2006 as 
void and invalid. However, the Excise and Taxation Department filed an appeal before the Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan. The Honourable 
Supreme court of Pakistan had disposed off the appeal with a joint statement of the parties that during the pendency of the appeal, another law i.e. 
fifth version came into existence which was not the subject matter of the appeal hence the case was referred back to High Court of Sindh with right 
to appeal to Supreme Court. On May 31, 2011, the High Court of Sindh had granted an interim relief on an application of petitioners on certain terms 
including discharge and return of bank guarantees / security furnished on consignment released up to December 27, 2006 and any bank guarantee / 
security furnished on consignment released after December 27, 2006 shall be encashed to extent of 50% of the guaranteed or secured amount only 
with balance kept intact till the disposal of petition. In case the High Court upholds the applicability fifth version of law and its retrospective application, 
the authorities are entitled to claim the amounts due under the said law with the right to appeal available to petitioner. In the light of interim relief the 
Company has paid 50% of the amount of Infrastructure cess. Imports of the Company are being released against 50% payment of Infrastructure cess 
to Excise and Taxation Department and furnishing of bank guarantee of balance amount.

The Government of Punjab imposed Punjab Infrastructure Development Levy in terms of the Punjab Infrastructure Development Cess Act, 2015 (the 
Act) read with PRA Notification No.PRA/IDC/2015 dated 16.05.2016 and PRA order No.PRA/Orders.08/2015 dated 23.05.2016. The Company being 
aggrieved filed writ petition vide WP No.24536 of 2016 before Honorable Lahore High Court challenging the constitutionality of the Act .  The Lahore 
High Court on 28.07.2016 granted interim relief for clearance of goods subject to payment of 50% of the disputed amount and upon furnishing of a 
bank guarantee for the balance of 50% of the amount. 

Both the above referred cases are pending litigation before respective Honorable High Courts.  The case of Sindh High Court  is pending adjudica-
tion, whereas case preferred before Honorable Lahore High Court has been fixed for 24.09.2019. 

However the full amount of Infrastructure Cess forms component of cost of imported items and provision recorded in books. Bank guarantees fur-
nished ragarding imposition of infrastructure cess have been disclosed in note - 30.1 to these financial statements.

26.2 This includes amount of Rs. 338 thousand payable to ESOS Management Trust for payments received against issuance of shares to employees 
under ESOS.

27. ACCRUED MARK UP 

Mark up on:
Long term financing  46,259  36,228 
Short term borrowings  64,224  101,628 

 110,483  137,856 

28. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

From banking companies - Secured
Under mark up arrangements

ERF - II
28.1

 11,726,000  11,021,000 
FAPC - own source  -    2,750,000 
Running finance  -    1,263,364 

From related parties - Unsecured
Chief executive and directors  -    146,573 

 11,726,000  15,180,937 

28.1     These are secured against first Joint Pari Passu (JPP) charge of Rs. 26,817.83 million (2018: 26,083.33 million) and ranking charge of Rs. 2,632 million 
(2018: Nil) by all the lending banks over all present and future current assets of the Company. The total limits available to the Company for short term 
borrowings from all the banks are amounting to Rs. 24,950 million (2018: 19,562.5 million). 

Mark up is charged as;

ERF - II                    SBP rate + 0.25 to 0.30% p.a (2018: SBP rate + 0.25% to 0.40% p.a).

FAPC - own source   3 months Kibor + 0.25 to 0.50% p.a (2018: 3 to 6 months Kibor + 0.25 to 1.00% p.a)

Running finance        1 to 3 months Kibor + 0.20 to 1.00% p.a (2018: 1 to 3 months Kibor + 0.20 to 1.00% p.a)

29. CURRENT PORTION OF NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long term financing 23  1,247,191  968,540 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 24  -    470 

 1,247,191  969,010 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000
26.3    Workers’ profit participation fund

Opening balance  210,829  150,200 
Interest on funds utilized in the Company's business  21,425  6,172 

 232,254  156,372 

Less: paid during the year  (232,069)  (156,373)

 185  (1)

Add: allocation for the year  285,315  210,830 

Closing balance  285,500  210,829 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

140 141

20
18

 -
 1

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t 



2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

30. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  

30.1  Contingencies

30.1.1  Bank guarantees issued by various banks on behalf of the company in favour of:

Sui Northern Gas Pipelines limited against supply of gas.  547,069  386,804 

The Director, Excise and Taxation, Karachi against imposition of infrastructure cess  197,853  172,853 

Faisalabad Electric Supply Company (FESCO) against supply of electricity.  70,414  70,414 

Punjab Revenue Authority  8,033  4,335 

State Bank of Pakistan  127,551  25,000 

 950,920  659,406 

30.1.2   Post dated cheques issued in favour of custom authorities for release of imported 
goods

 3,291,613  2,643,166 

30.1.3   Corporate guarantees given to banks on behalf of IL Apparel (Pvt) Ltd - a subsidiary 
company

 1,130,000  -   

30.2      Commitments

Under letters of credit for:

Capital expenditure  1,275,725  747,706 
Raw material  109,974  209,206 
Stores and spares  136,399  37,153 

 1,522,098  994,065 

31. SALES - NET

Export sales 31.1  33,941,213  27,518,696 
Local sales  3,775,022  3,846,865 

 37,716,235  31,365,561 

Less:
Sales discount  (206,792)  (206,052)
Sales tax  (31,122)  (20,773)

 (237,914)  (226,825)

 37,478,321  31,138,736 

31.1     It includes exchange gain amounting to Rs. 2,258.645 million  (2018: Rs. 890.62 million).

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

32. COST OF SALES  

Raw material consumed 32.1  15,658,024  13,312,629 
Stores and spares consumed 32.2  854,199  824,473 
Knitting charges  11,897  192,135 
Salaries, wages and benefits 32.3  5,529,513  5,037,474 

Staff retirement gratuity 25.4  440,739  352,125 

Fuel and power  2,261,283  1,874,447 
Repairs and maintenance  129,103  129,668 
Insurance  52,250  51,064 
Depreciation 7.1.2  1,490,464  1,338,143 
Rent, rate and taxes  25,676  32,305 
Other manufacturing costs  235,444  84,435 

 26,688,592  23,228,898 

Work in process  

Opening balance  471,276 450,678 
Closing balance  (597,562)  (471,276)

 (126,286)  (20,598)

Cost of goods manufactured  26,562,306 23,208,300 

Finished goods

Opening balance  1,484,177 1,120,718 
Closing balance  (1,954,089)  (1,484,177)

 (469,912)  (363,459)

 26,092,394  22,844,841 

Duty drawback  (568,787)  (850,604)

 25,523,607  21,994,237 

32.1   Raw material consumed

Opening balance  3,166,265  1,994,485 
Purchases  16,222,599  14,484,409 

19,388,864  16,478,894 

Closing balance  (3,730,840)  (3,166,265)

 15,658,024  13,312,629 

32.2   Stores and spares consumed

Opening balance  779,198  696,743 
Purchases  962,660  906,928 

 1,741,858  1,603,671 

Closing balance  (887,659)  (779,198)

 854,199  824,473 

32.3   Salaries, wages and benefits include Rs. 6.321 million (2018: Rs. 5.49 million) in respect of the provident fund contribution.

33. DISTRIBUTION COST  

Sea and air freight  50,145  47,672 
Shipping expenses  623,785  660,682 
Selling commission  1,757,956  1,621,212 
Export development surcharge  83,243  66,600 
Marketing and advertisement  60,817  77,900 
Staff salaries and benefits 33.1  193,008  154,966 
Staff retirement gratuity 25.4  14,368  11,498 
Others  397  483 

 2,783,719  2,641,013 
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33.1  Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 0.961 million (2018: Rs. 0.715 million) in respect of the provident fund contribution.
 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

34. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Staff salaries and benefits 34.1 & 34.2  1,057,212  826,274 
Directors' remuneration  96,362  111,470 
Staff retirement gratuity 25.4  67,726  50,920 
Postage and communication  38,675  34,513 
Electricity, gas and water  22,135  14,607 
Rent, rates and taxes  113,939  65,022 
Printing and stationery  62,475  53,346 
Travelling and conveyance  114,448  100,324 
Vehicles running and maintenance  23,846  20,051 
Legal and professional charges  73,982  39,672 
Repairs and maintenance  45,870  49,716 
Auditors' remuneration 34.4  2,875  1,360 
Insurance  17,951  17,213 
Entertainment  51,791  51,101 
Advertisement  17,557  4,379 
Newspapers and periodicals  1,189  656 
Depreciation 7.1.2  150,770  133,392 
Amortization 8  9,047  10,371 
Others  16,359  13,417 

 1,984,209  1,597,804 

34.1  Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 4.746 million (2018: Rs. 3.804 million) in respect of the provident fund contribution.

34.2  Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 5.031 million (2018: Rs. 4.188 million) in respect of employees' share option compensation expense.

34.3  The investments out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Companies Act, 2017 and conditions 
specified thereunder.

34.4  Auditors' remuneration

Annual audit fee  1,825  950 
Other certification  400  260 
Half yearly review  500  -   
Out of pocket expenses  150  150 

 2,875  1,360 

35. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Exchange loss - net  15,258  12,801 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  47,091  38,694 
Charity and donations 35.1  350,176  104,847 
Workers' profit participation fund 26.3  285,315  210,830 
Loss on mutual funds measured at fair value through profit or loss 35.2  15,886  58,257 
Provision for impairment loss on investment in IL Bangla Ltd. 9.1  70,814  -   

 784,540  425,429 

35.1  Donations include the following in which a director or his spouse has an interest;

Name of Donee Interest in Donee Name of Director

Interloop Welfare Trust Trustees Mr. Navid Fazal  99,223  21,766 
Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain
Mrs. Sheren Aftab
Mr. Jahanzeb Khan Banth
Mr. Muhammad Maqsood

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

35.2   Loss on mutual funds measured at fair value through profit or loss;

Remeasurement loss on investment in mutual funds - fair value through profit or loss 18.1  20,787  10,908 

Realized loss on investment in mutual funds - fair value through profit or loss  915  49,177 

Dividend income on investment in mutual funds - fair value through profit or loss  (5,816)  (1,828)

 15,886  58,257 

36. OTHER INCOME

Income from financial assets

Interest on long term loan to SNGPL  -    16 
Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd  7,211  8,923 
Profit on TDRs  1,437  225 
Interest on receivables from IL Bangla Limited  5,796  -   

 14,444  9,164 

37. FINANCE COST

Mark up on:
Short term borrowings  552,483  269,986 
Long term financing  315,730  139,980 

Interest on workers' profit participation fund 26.3  21,425  6,172 
Lease finance charges  14  82 
Bank charges and commission  106,055  67,434 

 995,707  483,654 

38. TAXATION

Current year 38.1  226,216  120,197 
Prior year  -    (243)

 226,216  119,954 

38.1  Provision for deferred tax is not required as the Company is chargeable to tax under section 154 and 169 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 and no 
temporary differences are expected to arise in the foreseeable future. Reconciliation of tax expense and product of accounting profit multiplied by the 
applicable tax rate is not required in view of presumptive taxation.

38.2  Section 5A of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 imposes tax at the rate of 5% on every public company other than a scheduled bank or Modaraba, that 
derives profits for a tax year but does not distribute at least 20% of accounting profit through cash dividend within six months of the end of said tax year.

The Company has distributed sufficient cash dividend, for the year ended June 30, 2018, which complies with the above stated requirements. Accord-
ingly, no provision for tax on undistributed profits has been recognized in the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019.

2019 2018

39.  EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

39.1  Earnings per share - Basic

Profit for the year (Rupees in '000)  5,194,767  3,885,809 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (Numbers in'000)  778,750  189,993 
Add: Bonus shares issued after the reporting period (Numbers in '000)  -    571,831 

 778,750  761,824 

Earnings per share - basic   (Rupees)  6.6706  5.1007 
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43.  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
  

Related parties include subsidiary company, associated companies and undertakings, entities under common directorship, directors, major shareholders, key 
management personnel, employees benefit trust and post employment benefit plans. The Company in the normal course of business carries out transactions 
with various related parties. Amounts due from and to related parties are shown under the relevant notes to the financial statements. Remuneration to directors 
and key management personnel is disclosed in note 42. Detail of transactions with related parties, other than those which have been specifically disclosed 
elsewhere in these financial statements are as follows:

39.2  Earnings per share - Diluted

There is a dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share of the Company, after taking into the effect of options granted on Company's shares to 
employees of the Company under the Employee share option scheme (ESOS). Such dilution is based on the fair value of the Company's shares, which 
is higher than the respective exercise price of options granted during the year.

2019 2018

Profit for the year ( Rupees in '000)  5,194,767  3,885,809 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (Numbers '000)  778,750  189,993 
Add: Weighted average adjustment for assumed conversion of employees' share options (Numbers '000)  -    49 
Add: Bonus shares issued after the reporting period (Numbers in '000)  -    571,831 

Weighted average number of shares for determination of diluted earnings per share  778,750  761,873 

Earncvings per share - diluted   (Rupees)  6.6706  5.1003 

2019 2018

Notes  Rupees in ‘000

40. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 19  1,538,564  193,687 
Short term investments - Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) 18  941,255  -   

 2,479,819  193,687 

41. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Balance  
as on July 01, 2018

Non Cash Changes Cash Flows
Balance  

as on June 30, 2019

Rupees in ‘000
Long term financing  3,216,476  -    1,659,460  4,875,936 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  1,085  (238)  (847)  -   

Short term borrowings  15,180,937  -    (3,454,937)  11,726,000 

Dividend to ordinary shareholders  475,276  1,090,247  (1,434,588)  130,935 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital  1,901,104  5,718,313  1,102,558  8,721,975 

Share premium net of transaction cost  30,255  (21,629)  3,782,976  3,791,602 

 20,805,133  6,786,693  1,654,622  29,246,448 

42. REMUNERATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES
2019

Chief Executive Directors Executives
Rupees in ‘000

Managerial remuneration  24,008  28,779  232,094 
Medical allowance  -    -    5,912 
Bonus  3,750  3,750  29,610 
Superannuation fund  -    33,825  -   
Meetings fee  -    2,250  -   
Staff retirement gratuity  -    -    14,967 
Other allowances  -    -    57,011 

 27,758  68,604  339,594 

Number of persons 1 6 60

2018
Chief Executive Directors Executives

Rupees in ‘000

Managerial remuneration  21,450  72,870  137,527 
Medical allowance  -    -    3,589 
Bonus  3,400  13,750  15,065 
Staff retirement gratuity  -    -    7,732 
Other allowances  -    -    16,200 

 24,850  86,620  180,113 

Number of persons 1 9 42

The chief executive officer and directors are provided with company maintained cars.

Name Nature of transaction 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

IL Bangla Limited Sale of asset  -    7,225 
Expenses paid on behalf of associate  -    7,452 
Interest on receivables from IL Bangla Limited  5,796  -   

IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited Expenses paid on behalf of subsidiary  -    8,017 
Yarn dyeing services provided  382  -   
Sale of yarn and spare parts  4,433  -   
Sale of assets  4,171  -   
Investment in share capital  499,000  -   
Share deposit money paid  200,000  -   

Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Expenses paid on behalf of associate  200  1,295 

Finance management services received from Interloop Holdings 
(Pvt) Ltd

 7,500  -   

Sale of assets  22,323  -   
Loan obtained during the year  3,000,000  -   
Loan repaid during the year  1,600,000  -   
Mark up expense on loan from Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd  83,651  -   

Interloop Limited ESOS Management 
Trust

Funds transfer for payment to withdrawal cases under ESOS  -    500 

Payment received on behalf of ESOS Management Trust - net  838  -   

Interloop Welfare Trust Sale of assets  1,214  -   

Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Sale of assets  58,100  20,766 
Sale of yarn  644,549  60,683 

Global Veneer Trading Limited Selling commission  884,278  282,630 

Eurosox Plus BV Sale of socks  693,658  15,863 
Reimbursement of expenses  5,129  3,234 

Key management personnel and other 
related parties

Sale of vehicle  5,551  -   

House building finance loan  25,750  -   
Mark up on house building finance loan  923  -   
Repayment of loan  146,573  -   

Issuance of bonus shares  5,587,323  -   

Issuance of ordinary shares  3,000  -   
Dividend paid  1,400,733  -   
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Company Name
Basis of 

Relationship
Common Directorship /  

Percentage of shareholding
Address and Country of Incorporation

IL Bangla Limited Associate 31.61% House # 267, Road # 19, New DOHS Mohakhali, Dhaka. 
IL Apparel (Pvt) Limited Subsidiary 100.00% Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Dairies Limited Associate Common Directors Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Printkraft (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors Dagonna Road, Minuwangoda, sri lanka.
Global Veneer Trading Limited Associate N/A Bahnhofasteasse22, 6300 Zug, Switzerland.
Eurosox Plus BV Associate N/A Constructieweg 1, 7451 PS Holten, Netherlands
Interloop Welfare Trust Trustee N/A Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Limited ESOS Management Trust Trustee N/A Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Provident Fund Trust Trustee N/A Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan

2019 2018

44. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Average number of employees during the year 16,402  15,373 

Number of employees at end of the year 17,395  15,409 

45. UTILIZATION OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company planned for setting up two new projects. 

- A socks knitting unit in Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, "Hosiery Division - V".
- A denim stitching unit in Lahore, "Denim Division".

     2019

Estimated cost of these two projects is as under;  Rupees in ‘000

Hosiery Division - V  4,454,000 
Denim Division  6,750,423 

 11,204,423 

These projects are financed through issuance of share capital to general public and financing from banks. For this purpose, the Company carried out a suc-
cessful IPO during the year and have secured islamic long term finance facilities from banks. Detail of the proceeds from IPO and financing required from banks 
is as under;

Proceeds from IPO  5,024,900 
Financing from banks  6,179,523 

 11,204,423 

As on June 30, 2019 progress of both the projects is as under;

43.1  Following are the related parties with whom the Company had entered into transactions or have arrangements / agreements in place.

Denim Division Hosiery Division-V

Amount Utilized Outstanding LCs PRs/POs Issued Amount Utilized

 Rupees in ‘000

Land and building  578,637  -    1,413,736  412,708 
Plant and machinery  339,803  912,123  265,892  40,744 
Power and utilities  83,288  -    426,445  10,168 
Miscellaneous expenses  103,440  -    13,159  68,251 
Advances to suppliers  789,124  -    -    -   

 1,894,292  912,123  2,119,232  531,871 

46. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Management has determined the operating segments based on the information that is presented to the Board of Directors of the Company for allocation of re-
sources and assessment of performance. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating De-
cision Maker ('CODM'). Segment performance is generally evaluated based on certain key performance indicators including business volume and gross profit.

Based on internal management reporting structure and products produced and sold, the Company is organized into the following operating segments:

a) Hosiery

This segment relates to the sale of socks.

b) Spinning

This segment relates to the sale of yarn.

c) Other operating segments

This represent various segments of the Company which currently do not meet the minimum reporting threshold mention in international financial reporting 
standards. These mainly includes domestic sales, energy, yarn dyeing, denim and active wear.

46.1   Segment information

Hosiery Spinning Others
Elimination of Interseg-

ment Transactions
Total Company

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000

Sales

External sale  31,629,791  26,046,247  5,519,785  4,953,944  328,745  138,545  -    -    37,478,321  31,138,736 
Intersegment sale  2,647,665  890,842  2,950,757  2,209,589  3,137,202  2,706,186 (8,735,624)  (5,806,617)  -    -   

 34,277,456  26,937,089  8,470,542  7,163,533  3,465,947  2,844,731 (8,735,624)  (5,806,617)  37,478,321  31,138,736 

Cost of sales (23,184,918)  18,616,006) (7,893,280)  (6,567,880) (3,181,033) (2,616,968)  8,735,624  5,806,617 (25,523,607) (21,994,237)

Gross profit  11,092,538  8,321,083  577,262  595,653  284,914  227,763  -    -    11,954,714  9,144,499 

Distribution cost  (2,705,674)  (2,578,206)  (60,302)  (51,066)  (17,743)  (11,741)  -    -    (2,783,719)  (2,641,013)
Administrative expenses  (1,854,486)  (1,531,475)  (69,243)  (36,969)  (60,480)  (29,360)  -    -    (1,984,209)  (1,597,804)

 (4,560,160)  (4,109,681)  (129,545)  (88,035)  (78,223)  (41,101)  -    -    (4,767,928)  (4,238,817)

Profit before taxation and 
unallocated income and 
expenses

 6,532,378  4,211,402  447,717  507,618  206,691  186,662  -    -    7,186,786  4,905,682 

Unallocated income and 
expenses

Other operating expenses  (784,540)  (425,429)
Other income  14,444  9,164 
Finance cost  (995,707)  (483,654)
Taxation  (226,216)  (119,954)

Profit after taxation  5,194,767  3,885,809 
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46.2  Reconciliation of reportable segment assets and liabilities

Hosiery Spinning Others Total Company
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000

Total assets for reportable segment  24,711,293  21,629,176  5,261,938  4,933,605  5,101,383  2,983,876  35,074,614  29,546,657 

Unallocated assets:

Long term investments  1,008,735  380,549 
Long term deposits  28,019  25,055 
Short term investments  1,207,251  147,425 
Tax refunds due from Government  1,925,439  2,451,806 
Cash and bank balances  1,538,564  193,687 
Other corporate assets  -    5,014 

 5,708,008  3,203,536 

Total assets as per balance sheet  40,782,622  32,750,193 

Total liabilities for reportable 
segment

 5,646,890  4,535,746  206,537  276,299  336,992  319,257  6,190,419  5,131,302 

Unallocated liabilities:

Long term financing  3,628,745  2,247,936 
Liabilities against assets subject to 
finance lease

 -    615 

Short term borrowings  11,726,000  15,180,937 
Current portion of non current 
liabilities

 1,247,191  969,010 

Accrued mark up  110,483  137,856 

 16,712,419  18,536,354 

Total liabilities as per balance sheet  22,902,838  23,667,656 

 46.3  Geographical information

  46.3.1 The Company’s revenue from external customers by geographical locations is detailed below:

Asia  3,940,407  2,704,548 
Europe  16,976,208  14,129,141 
North America  12,488,901  10,177,458 
South America  333,885  307,116 
Pakistan  3,738,920  3,820,473 

 37,478,321  31,138,736 

  46.3.2 All non-current assets of the Company as at reporting dates are located and operating in Pakistan.

 46.4 The Company’s revenue is earned from a large mix of customers.

47.  PLANT CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION

[ UOM ] 2019 2018

Figures in ‘000
Hosiery

Installed capacity - knitting [DZN]  57,871  51,289 
Actual production - knitting [DZN]  43,242  45,935 

Spinning

Installed capacity after conversion into 20/s [LBS]  29,949  29,949 
Actual production after conversion into 20/s [LBS]  26,630  27,219 

Yarn Dyeing

Installed capacity [KGs]  4,928  4,818 
Actual production [KGs]  4,324  4,440 

Active Wear

The plant capacity of this division is indeterminable due to multi product plans involving varying processes of manufacturing and run length of order lots.

    

 47.1 Reasons for shortfall
 
  The short fall in actual production during the year when compared with capacity is mainly on account of:
 
  – The actual production is planned to meet the internal demand and orders in hand.

48.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying values of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.    
    
Fair value hierarchy    
    
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.    
    
Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the company is a going concern and there is no intention or requirement to curtail materially the 
scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ requires the company to classify fair value measurements and fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements of fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 : Fair value measurements using quoted (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liability.    
    
Level 2 : Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).    
    
Level 3 : Fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of the reporting period during which the changes have occurred.

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does 
not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of 
fair value.    
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2019
Carrying Amount Fair Value

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Rupees in ‘000

On balance sheet financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments in mutual funds  130,896  -    -    130,896  130,896  -    -    130,896 

Financial assets not measured at fair 
value

Long term loans  -    65,762  -    65,762  -    -    -    -   

Long term deposits  -    28,019  -    28,019  -    -    -    -   

Trade debts  -    8,247,740  -    8,247,740  -    -    -    -   

Loans and advances  -    66,343  -    66,343  -    -    -    -   

Other receivables  -    94,421  -    94,421  -    -    -    -   

Short term investments  -    1,076,355  -    1,076,355  -    -    -    -   

Cash and bank balances  -    1,538,564  -    1,538,564  -    -    -    -   

 130,896 11,117,204  -   11,248,100  130,896  -    -    130,896 

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value

Long term financing  -    -    4,875,936  4,875,936  -    -    -    -   

Trade and other payables  -    -    3,205,118  3,205,118  -    -    -    -   

Dividend payable  -    -    130,935  130,935  -    -    -    -   

Accrued mark up  -    -    110,483  110,483  -    -    -    -   

Short term borrowings  -    -   
 

11,726,000 
 

11,726,000 
 -    -    -    -   

 -    -   20,048,472 20,048,472  -    -    -    -   

2018
Carrying Amount Fair Value

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Rupees in ‘000

On balance sheet financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments in mutual funds  147,425  -    -    147,425  147,425  -    -    147,425 

Financial assets not measured at fair 
value

Long term loans  -    60,747  -    60,747  -    -    -    -   

Long term deposits  -    24,817  -    24,817  -    -    -    -   

Trade debts  -    7,293,008  -    7,293,008  -    -    -    -   

Loans and advances  -    81,163  -    81,163  -    -    -    -   

Other receivables  -    154,697  -    154,697  -    -    -    -   

Cash and bank balances  -    193,687  -    193,687  -    -    -    -   

 147,425  7,808,119  -    7,955,544  147,425  -    -    147,425 

Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value

Long term financing  -    -    3,216,476  3,216,476  -    -    -    -   

Liabilities against assets subject to finance 
lease

 -    -    847  847  -    -    -    -   

Trade and other payables  -    -    2,485,789  2,485,789  -    -    -    -   

Dividend payable  -    -    475,276  475,276  -    -    -    -   

Accrued mark up  -    -    137,856  137,856  -    -    -    -   

Short term borrowings  -    -    15,180,937  15,180,937  -    -    -    -   

 -    -   21,497,181 21,497,181  -    -    -    -   

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

152 153

20
18

 -
 1

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t 



49.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Company finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working capital with a view to maintain an appropriate mix between 
various sources of finance to minimize risk. The Company follows an effective cash management and planning policy and maintains flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available. Market risks are managed by the Company through the adoption of appropriate policies to cover currency risks and 
interest rate risks.

The Company has exposures to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Market risk           
- Credit risk            
- Liquidity risk

 
 49.1    Market risk            
  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risk comprises interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk such as equity risk. The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the 
position as at June 30, 2019 and 2018.          
    

 49.1.1  Interest rate risk:            
  

Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. Majority of the interest rate exposure arises from investments in term deposit receipts, long term and short term loans, short term borrowings, 
long term financing and liabilities against assets subject to finance lease.        
       

               
At the balance sheet date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest bearing financial instruments is as follows: 

2019 2018

Fixed rate instruments

Short term investments (Rupees in '000)  1,076,355  -   

Loan to Metis International (Pvt) Limited - Secured (Rupees in '000)  9,560  33,414 

Long term financing - Secured (Rupees in '000)  2,639,611  814,286 

Variable rate instruments

Loan to director - Secured (Rupees in '000)  25,750  -   
Effective interest rate in percentage  6.07  -   

Receivables from IL Bangla Limited (Rupees in '000)  82,766  -   

Effective interest rate in percentage  7.53  -   

Long term financing from financial institutions - Secured (Rupees in '000)  2,236,325  2,402,190 
Effective interest rate in percentage  13.35  7.33 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease - Secured (Rupees in '000)  -    847 
Effective interest rate in percentage  -    7.94 

Short term borrowings from financial institutions - Secured (Rupees in '000)  11,726,000  15,034,364 
Effective interest rate in percentage  2.30  4.17 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest 
rate at the balance sheet date would not affect statement of profit or loss of the Company.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

If interest rates on loan, receivables, long term financing, liabilities against assets subject to finance lease and short term borrowings from banks, 
at the year end date, fluctuate by 100 bps higher / lower with all other variables, in particularly foreign exchange rates held constant, profit before 
taxation for the year 2019 and 2018 would have been affected as follows:

2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for loan to director  144  -   

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for receivables from IL Bangla Limited  786  -   

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for long term financing  14,696  15,188 

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for liabilities against assets subject to 
finance lease

 -    10 

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for short term borrowings  81,834  61,542 

 97,460  76,740 

Decrease in interest rates at June 30 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts. Sensitivity analysis has been prepared on 
symmetric basis.

 49.1.2  Currency risk / Foreign Exchange risk:  

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exist due to foreign currency transactions.

Exposure to Currency Risk  
  
The Company’s exposure to currency risk is restricted to the amounts receivable from/payable to the foreign entities and bank balances which are 
denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the Company. The Company’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:

Particulars Currency
2019 2018

F.Currency Rupees F.Currency Rupees

Amount in ‘000

Foreign currency bank accounts US $  390.39  64,024  261.55  31,752 
EUR   38.84  7,239  4.71  666 

 71,263  32,418 

Trade debts US $  47,649.90  7,814,583  57,364.98  6,964,108 

Loans and advances US $  58.48  9,560  275.00  33,414 

Less: Payables - Creditors US $  332.28  54,661  467.42  56,744 

EUR   152.36  28,490  89.78  12,688 
CNY  0.93  23  -    -   
CHF  0.45  75  0.35  43 

 83,249  69,475 

On Balance sheet Exposure  7,812,157  6,960,465 

Under letter of credit US $  4,160.32  684,373  1,971.64  239,357 
EUR   4,271.95  798,812  5,297.17  748,650 
JPY ¥  21,776.31  33,285  3,100.00  3,402 
GBP £  27.00  5,628  -    -    
CHF  -    -    21.75  2,656 

Off Balance Sheet Exposure  1,522,098  994,065 
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The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year :

Foreign Currency
2019 2018

Average Rate Reporting Date Rate Average Rate Reporting Date Rate

[ R    U   P    E     E     S ] [ R    U   P    E     E     S ]

US $  142.70  164.00  113.10  121.40 

EUR   163.85  186.37  130.62  141.33 

GBP £  183.80  208.45  147.78  159.14 

CHF  145.07  168.03  115.83  122.11 

CNY  21.29  23.85  -    -   

JPY ¥  1.31  1.53  1.02  1.10 

Currency rate sensitivity analysis 
  
If the functional currency, at reporting date, had weakened by 10% against the foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the profit 
before taxation would have increased for the year 2019 and 2018 by the following amounts:

Foreign Currency 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

US $  744,183  662,390 
EUR   (2,019)  (1,142)
CNY  (2)  -   
CHF  (7)  (4)

 742,155  661,244 
  
A 10% strengthening of the functional currency against foreign currencies at June 30 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts.

Currency risk sensitivity to foreign exchange movements has been calculated on a symmetric basis. The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remained constant.

 49.1.3  Other price risk:

Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument 
or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is exposed to price risk, because of the invest-
ments held by the Company in money market mutual funds, and classified on the balance sheet as fair value through profit and loss. To manage its 
price risk arising from investments in mutual funds, the Company diversifies its portfolio.

Short term investments include fair value through profit and loss investments of Rs. 130.90 million (2018: Rs. 147.43 million) which were subject to 
price risk.

If redemption price on mutual funds, at the year end date, fluctuate by 5% higher / lower with all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the 
year would have been Rs. 6.22 million (2018: 7 million) higher / lower, mainly as a result of higher / lower redemption price on units of mutual funds.

Loans and advances consist of loans to employees & director and Metis International (Pvt) Ltd. Loans to employees and director are secured against 
their retirement benefits and loan to Metis International is also secured through an irrevocable lien/charge on total assets of the Metis International 
(Pvt) Limited. Therefore, Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk on these loans.

Long term deposits have been mainly placed with suppliers of electricity, gas and telecommunication services. Considering the financial position 
and credit quality of the institutions, Company’s exposure to credit risk is not significant.

Trade debts amounting to Rs. 4,251 million out of total debts are secured against letters of credit and insured contract. Furthermore, credit quality 
of customers is assessed taking into consideration their financial position and previous dealings and on that basis, individual credit limits are set. 
Moreover, the management regularly monitors and reviews customers’ credit exposure. Accordingly, the company is not exposed to any significant 
credit risk.
       
Other receivables constitute mainly receivables from the related parties and mark up subsidy from banks. Considering the financial position of 
related parties and credit quality of banks and insurance company exposure to credit risk is not significant.

Short term investments are investments in mutual funds, TDRs and sales tax refund bonds. The credit risk on these investments is limited because 
counter parties are fund management Companies, banks and Government with reasonably high credit ratings. The credit quality of mutual funds 
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings or to historical information about counter party default rate.

2019 2018

[     Credit  Ratings     ]

Al Meezan Investment Management Limited  AM1  AM1 
NBP Fund Management Limited  AM1  AM1 
Alfalah GHP Investment Management Limited  AM2+  AM2+ 
UBL Fund Managers Limited  AM1  AM1 

  
The credit quality of Company’s bank balances can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings or to historical information about counterparty 
default rate:

Name of Bank Date Long term Short term Outlook Agency

Allied Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
Askari Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
Bank Alfalah Limited 28-Jun-19 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
Burj Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 A A1 Stable PACRA
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited 28-Jun-19 AA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
Faysal Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AA A1+ Stable PACRA
Habib Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
MCB Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
MCB Islamic Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 A A1 Stable PACRA
Meezan Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 AA+ A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
National Bank of Pakistan 28-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
Silk Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 A- A-2 Stable JCR-VIS
Standard Chartered Bank Pakistan Limited 25-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
The Bank of Punjab 28-Jun-18 AA A1+ Stable PACRA
United Bank Limited 28-Jun-18 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS

Due to Company’s long standing relationships with these counterparties and after giving due consideration to their strong financial standing, man-
agement does not expect non-performance by these counter parties on their obligations to the Company. Accordingly, the risk is minimal.

49.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. 

The company’s approach to manage liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient level of liquidity by holding highly liquid assets and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. At June 30, 2019 the Company has Rs. 13,224 million (2018: Rs 4,381.56 million) unuti-
lized borrowing limits available from financial institutions and Rs. 1,538.56 million (2018: Rs. 193.69 million) cash and bank balances. The manage-
ment believes that the company is not exposed to any liquidity risk.

 49.2 Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk representing accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if one party to a financial instrument will fail to dis-
charge an obligation or its failure to perform duties under the contract as contracted. Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter-
parties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations that 
is susceptible to changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Company’s 
performance to developments affecting a particular industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows :

2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000
Long term loans  65,762  60,747 
Long term deposits  28,019  24,817 
Trade debts  8,247,740  7,293,008 
Loans and advances  66,343  81,163 
Other receivables  94,421  154,697 
Short term investments  1,207,251  147,425 
Bank balances  1,512,211  181,636 

 11,221,747  7,943,493 
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50. EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Board of Directors in their meeting held on September 23, 2019 have proposed a final cash dividend for the year ended June 30, 2019 of Rs.1.75 per share, 
amounting to Rs. 1,526.34 million for approval of the members at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.  

51. DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

The financial statements were authorized for issue on September 23, 2019 by the Board of Directors of the Company.

2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

Long term financing  4,875,936  3,216,476 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  -    847 
Short term borrowings  11,726,000  15,180,937 

Debts  16,601,936  18,398,260 

Equity  17,879,784  9,082,537 

Total capital (equity + debt)  34,481,720  27,480,797 

Gearing ratio (percentage)  48.15  66.95 

52.  GENERAL

52.1 Corresponding figures 
     

 Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified wherever necessary for the purpose of better presentation. However, during the year 
following reclassifications are made in the corresponding figures.

Particulars From To 
Rupees in 

'000

Operating fixed assets - Cost Freehold land Building on freehold land  143 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Building on freehold land Electric installations  1,290 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Plant and machinery Tools and equipments  1,680 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Plant and machinery Electric installations  22,157 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Building on freehold land  4,249 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Plant and  machinery  14,782 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Furniture and fixtures  2,729 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Electric installations  4,871 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Office equipments Furniture and fixtures  6,225 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Office equipments Vehicles  11 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Electric installations Building on freehold land  5,999 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Electric installations Tools and equipments  2,894 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Electric installations Plant and  machinery  2,529 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Building on freehold land  105 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Tools and equipments  2,731 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Electric installations  134,836 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Plant and  machinery  10,339 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Vehicles Tools and equipments  102,813 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Building on freehold land Electric installations  5,316 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Plant and machinery Tools and equipments  474 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Building on freehold land  1,460 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Plant and  machinery  10,941 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Furniture and fixtures  161 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Electric installations  312 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Office equipments Furniture and fixtures  4,831 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Office equipments Vehicles  11 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Electric installations Tools and equipments  2,326 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Electric installations Plant and  machinery  2,644 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Furniture and fixtures Tools and equipments  1,659 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Furniture and fixtures Electric installations  54,925 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Furniture and fixtures Plant and  machinery  1,562 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Vehicles Tools and equipments  74,003 
Depreciation expense Administrative expenses Cost of sales  17,470 
Advertisement expense Distribution cost Administrative expense  4,379 

52.2  Rounding 
  
  Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

The following are the contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

2019

Carrying amount
Contractual cash 

flows
Within 6  
months

More than 6 
months and up to 

1 year

More than 1 year 
and up to 5 years

Rupees in ‘000
Financial Liabilities :

Long term financing  4,875,936  5,764,488  677,420  934,605  4,152,463 
Trade and other payables  3,205,118  3,205,118  3,205,118  -    -   
Dividend payable  130,935  130,935  130,935  -    -   
Accrued mark up  110,483  110,483  110,483  -    -   
Short term borrowings  11,726,000  11,811,478  11,811,478  -    -   

 20,048,472  21,022,502  15,935,434  934,605  4,152,463 

2018

Carrying amount
Contractual cash 

flows
Within 6  
months

More than 6 
months and up to 

1 year

More than 1 year 
and up to 5 years

Rupees in ‘000
Financial Liabilities :

Long term financing  3,216,476  3,652,002  550,166  594,099  2,507,737 
Liabilities against assets subject 
to finance lease

 847  1,168  260  519  389 

Trade and other payables  2,485,789  2,485,789  2,485,789  -    -   
Dividend payable  475,276  475,276  475,276  -    -   
Accrued mark up  137,856  137,856  137,856  -    -   
Short term borrowings  15,180,937  15,329,105  15,329,105  -    -   

 21,497,181  22,081,196  18,978,452  594,618  2,508,126 

The contractual cash flows relating to the above financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of interest rates / mark-up rates effective as at 30 
June. The rates of interest / mark up have been disclosed in note 23 and note 28 to these unconsolidated financial statements.

49.4  CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, maintain healthy capital 
ratios, strong credit rating and optimal capital structures in order to ensure ample availability of finance for its existing and potential investment projects, so that 
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders thereby maximizing their wealth, benefits for other stakeholders and reduce the cost of capital. 

The Company manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Company may, for example, adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce 
debt.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of debt to equity ratio, calculated on the basis of total debt to equity.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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INTERLOOP LIMITED 

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019



DIRECTORS’ CONSOLIDATED 
REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present the consolidated audited results of Interloop Limited (“the holding company”) and its 
subsidiary i.e., M/s IL Apparel (Private) Limited, for the year ended June 30, 2019. The Holding Company has annexed its 
consolidated financial statements along with its separate financial statements in accordance with the requirement of International 
Financial Reporting Standards and as required under section 228 of the Companies Act, 2017.

The textile sector in Pakistan face a tougher playing field in the region when compared with the textile sector in other countries. 
The “cost of doing business” in the country is relatively higher on region-wide basis. Despite seeing one of the most aggressive 
monetary tightening policies in Asia since 2018, the Country’s inflation rose to a five year high of 8.8% on year-on-year basis 
in April 2019 as compared to 9.4% in the previous month and 3.7% during corresponding month of last year. Similarly, despite 
over 30 percent rupee devaluation, country’s overall textile sector exports declined 1.42 percent to $13.329 billion in the year 
ended June 30, 2019. Knitwear grew 7.0 percent to $2.89 billion during the year 2018/2019 as compared with $2.711 billion 
in the preceding year. Likewise, the export of readymade garments exhibited 3.0 percent growth to $2.65 billion in the year as 
against $2.577 billion in the preceding year.

However, by the grace of God Almighty, during the financial year ended June 30, 2019, the Group earned a net profit after tax 
of PKR 5,061 million, compared to net profit of PKR 3,735 million earned during the preceding financial year. The operational 
and financial performance of group is portraying improvements inspite of cut-throat competition and high operating costs. The 
current order book of the parent company is healthy and it has confirmed orders up to December 2019 to run the plant(s) at 
reasonably good capacity. The Apparel business is performing well along with a newly added division of denim in the current 
year. The management is confident that the parent company as well as its subsidiary will be able to build on their performance, 
going forward. The Group is striving to be one of the leading players in the global businesses and planning to expand its 
footprint in Pakistan as well. The Group is expected to achieve higher production, sales volume and, by the grace of God, will 
achieve even better financial results during the ensuing year.

The Directors’ Report giving a detailed analysis of the performance of the Interloop Limited and its subsidiary i.e., M/s IL Apparel 
(Private) Limited, for the year ended June 30, 2019, has also been presented separately.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Musadaq Zulqarnain
Director / Chairman

Faisalabad
September 23, 2019

Navid Fazil
Chief Executive Officer
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S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit

1. Adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”: 
(Refer notes 3.1 and 7.1 to the consolidated financial statements)

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ is effective for the 
Company for the first time during the current year 
and replaces the financial instruments standard 
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’.

In relation to financial assets, IFRS 9 requires 
the recognition of expected credit losses (‘ECL’) 
rather than incurred credit losses under IAS

We reviewed and understood the requirements of the IFRS 9. 
Our audit procedures included the following:

• Considered the management’s process to assess 
the impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

•  Reviewed the appropriateness of the assumptions used 
(future and historical), the methodology and policies 
applied to assess the ECL in respect of consolidated 
financial assets of the Company.

Following are the Key Audit Matter(s):

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion
We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of Interloop Limited and its subsidiary (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows  for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annexed consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at June 30, 2019 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan (the Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit
39 and is therefore a fundamentally different 
approach. Management is required to determine 
the expected credit loss that may occur over 
either a 12-month period or the remaining life of 
an asset, depending on the categorization of the 
individual asset. 

In accordance with IFRS 9, the measurement of 
ECL reflect a range of unbiased and probability-
weighted outcomes, time value of money, 
reasonable and supportable information based 
on the consideration of historical events, 
current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. The calculation of ECLs in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is therefore complex and 
involves a number of judgmental assumptions. 

We considered this as key audit matter due to 
the significant amounts involved and significant 
judgments made by management regarding the 
matter.

• We reviewed and assessed the impact and disclosures 
made in the consolidated financial statements with 
regard to the effect of adoption of IFRS 9.

2. Adoption of IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”:
(Refer notes 3.1 and 7.2 to the consolidated financial statements)

The International Financial Reporting Standard 
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
(IFRS 15) became applicable for the first time 
for the preparation of the Company’s annual 
consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2019.

Under the aforesaid standard the revenue 
from sale of goods is recognized when the 
Company satisfies its performance obligation 
by transferring the promised goods to customer 
under the contract with customer. 

Revenue from sale of goods is measured at 
transaction price net of trade discounts. 

As a result of application of the aforesaid standard 
the management has performed extensive 
evaluation of its contractual arrangement with its 
customers, 

We reviewed and understood the requirements of the IFRS 
15. Our audit procedures included the following:

• Considering the appropriateness of revenue recognition 
policy, including recognition and classification criteria 
for trade and other discounts and comparing it with the 
applicable accounting standards.

• Testing the effectiveness of Company’s controls over the 
classification of trade discounts and correct timing of 
revenue recognition.

• Reviewing a sample of contractual arrangement entered 
into by the Company with its customers and checked 
the appropriateness of classification of trade discounts.

• Reviewing the adequacy of disclosure as required under 
applicable financial reporting framework.

.
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4. Property, plant and equipment

The Company has made significant expenditure 
on expansion of manufacturing facilities and new 
projects. 

During the year, the Company has also 
reclassified some categories of its operating 
fixed assets and resultantly comparative figures 
of those categories of assets are also reclassified 
to reflect better presentation.
 
We identified capitalization of property, plant and 
equipment as a key audit matter because there 
is a risk that amounts being capitalized may 
not meet the capitalization criteria with related 
implications on depreciation charge for the year 
and reclassification of categories of assets.

Our audit procedures in relation to capitalization of property, 
plant and equipment, amongst others included the following:

• Understanding the design and implementation of 
management controls over capitalization and performing 
tests of control over authorization of capital expenditure 
and accuracy of its recording in the system. 

• Testing, on sample basis, the costs incurred on projects 
with supporting documents and contracts. 

• Assessing the nature of costs incurred for capital 
projects through testing, on sample basis, of amounts 
recorded and considering whether the expenditure 
meets the criteria for capitalization as per the accounting 
policy and applicable accounting standards.  

• Checked the reasonableness of management’s 
assessment of categories of assets and working 
of reclassification in categories of assets including 
impact of reclassification on both cost of assets and 
accumulated depreciation in each category.  

S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit
We considered this as key audit matter due to 
the significant amounts involved and significant 
judgments made by management regarding the 
matter.

.

3.
Listing on Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX)
(Refer note 1.1.2 and 47 to the consolidated financial statements)

During the year, the Company gets itself listed 
on Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) and issued 
109 million ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each.

We considered this as key audit matter due to 
the significant amount involved, requirements 
to disclose utilization of proceeds from IPO and 
disclosure requirements of 4th Schedule of the 
Companies Act, 2017. 

Our audit procedures in relation to listing of Company is 
Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) included the following: 

• Reviewed the management working of utilization of 
proceeds from IPO.

• Reviewing the adequacy of disclosure as required 
under applicable financial reporting framework and 
requirements of the Companies Act, 2017.

S. No Key Audit Matter(s)
How the Matter was addressed in 

audit
• Inspecting supporting documents for the date of 

capitalization when project was ready for its intended 
use to assess whether depreciation commenced and 
further capitalization of costs ceased from that date 
and assessing the useful life assigned by management 
including testing the calculation of related depreciation.  

5. Inventories

The company has significant levels of inventories 
amounting to Rs. 7,188.38 million as at the 
reporting date, being 18% of the total assets of 
the company.

There is a risk in estimating the eventual NRV 
of items held, as well as assessing which items 
may be slow-moving or obsolete.

The Company’s principal accounting policy 
on stores and spares and stock in trade are 
disclosed in notes – 6.6 and 6.7 to the financial 
statements

The significance of the balance coupled with 
the judgments and estimates involved on their 
valuation has resulted in the inventories being 
considered as a key audit matter. 

Our audit focused on whether the valuation of year-end 
inventory was in line with IAS 2. This included challenging 
judgments taken regarding obsolescence and net 
realizable value provisions. We obtained assurance over the 
appropriateness of management’s assumptions applied in 
calculating the value of inventories by:

• Attending the year end stock take to gain comfort over 
the existence and condition of inventories and internal 
controls designed by the company.

• Obtaining the final valuation sheets of the inventories and 
tracing quantities from working papers of observation of 
physical stock taking.

• Obtaining understanding of internal controls designed 
by the company over recording of purchases and 
valuation of the inventories, and testing their operating 
effectiveness on sample basis.

• Assessing historical costs recorded in the inventory 
valuation by performing test of details on purchases. 
Evaluating that the valuation basis used are appropriate 
and consistent, including analysis of costing of different 
items on sample basis.

• Assessing the management’s determination of the net 
realizable values and intended use of the inventories 
including performing tests on the sales prices fetched 
by the company before and after year end.

• Performing analytical and other relevant audit 
procedures.

• Considering the adequacy of the company‘s disclosures 
in respect of inventories. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Information Other than the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors 
for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies Act, 2017 and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable 
in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting  and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Khan Muhammad - FCA.

Date: September 23, 2019 Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.
Place: Faisalabad Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
INTERLOOP LIMITED 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8  18,899,292  15,456,596 
Intangible asset 9  70,083  42,411 
Long term investment 10  93,540  115,456 
Long term loans 11  73,262  60,747 
Long term deposits 12  33,120  25,055 

 19,169,297  15,700,265 

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores and spares 13  890,404  779,198 
Stock in trade 14  6,297,975  5,121,718 
Trade debts 15  8,274,062  7,293,008 
Loans and advances 16  1,076,724  617,743 
Deposit, prepayment and other receivables 17  208,238  171,891 
Short term investment 18  1,207,251  147,425 
Tax refunds due from government 19  1,949,118  2,451,812 
Deferred employee share option compensation expense 23.2  -    5,014 
Cash and bank balances 20  1,542,907  195,939 

 21,446,679  16,783,748 

TOTAL ASSETS  40,615,976  32,484,013 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Authorized share capital 21  10,000,000  3,000,000 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 22  8,721,975  1,901,104 
Reserves 23  3,844,223  54,914 
Unappropriated profit  4,949,685  6,860,264 

Equity attributable to holders of parent company  17,515,883  8,816,282 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long term financing 24  3,628,745  2,247,936 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 25  -    615 
Deferred liabilities 26  2,497,894  1,925,612 

 6,126,639  4,174,163 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables 27  3,625,644  2,730,489 
Dividend payable  130,935  475,276 
Accrued mark up 28  113,942  137,856 
Short term borrowings 29  11,855,742  15,180,937 
Current portion of non current liabilities 30  1,247,191  969,010 

 16,973,454  19,493,568 

CONTINGENCIES & COMMITMENTS 31  -    - 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  40,615,976  32,484,013 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

Sales - net 32  37,511,062  32,141,958 
Cost of sales 33  (25,643,715)  (22,883,089)

Gross profit  11,867,347  9,258,869 

Operating expenses

Distribution cost 34  (2,794,393)  (2,641,013)
Administrative expenses 35  (2,028,640)  (1,639,210)
Other operating expenses 36  (714,202)  (603,026)
Other income 37  14,444  55,087 

 (5,522,791)  (4,828,162)

Profit from operations  6,344,556  4,430,707 

Finance cost 38  (999,260)  (498,956)
Gain from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets 39  -    9,245 

Share of loss from associate 10.1  (58,485)  (53,032)

Profit before taxation  5,286,811  3,887,964 

Taxation 40  (226,260)  (153,248)

Profit for the year  5,060,551  3,734,716 

Attributable to:

Shareholders of parent company  5,060,551  3,718,765 
Non- controlling interest  -    15,951 

 5,060,551  3,734,716 

Earnings per share - basic (Rupees) 41.1  6.4983  4.8814 

Earnings per share - diluted (Rupees) 41.2  6.4983  4.8811 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000

Profit for the year  5,060,551  3,734,716 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations  36,569  16,051 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of post retirement benefits obligation - net of tax  (192,825)  (91,599)

Total comprehensive income for the year  4,904,295  3,659,168 

Attributable to:

Shareholders of parent company  4,904,295  3,643,309 
Non- controlling interest  -    15,859 

 4,904,295  3,659,168 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Attributable to Owners of the Parent

 Non 
Controlling 

Interest
 TotalShare 

Capital

Capital 
Reserve

Revenue Reserves

 Sub-total  Total
Share 

Premium

Employee 
Share 
Option 

Compen-
sation 

Reserve

Unappro-
priated           
Profit

 Trans-
lation 

Reserves

 Rupees in ‘000 

Balance as at July 01, 2017  1,899,385  19,424  1,629  12,407,930  -    12,428,983  14,328,368  671,560  14,999,928 

Profit for the year  -    -    -    3,718,765  -    3,718,765  3,718,765  15,951  3,734,716 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -    -    -    (91,507)  16,051  (75,456)  (75,456)  (92)  (75,548)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -    3,627,258  16,051  3,643,309  3,643,309  15,859  3,659,168 

Transactions with owners:

Issuance of shares of subsidiary  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    3,000  3,000 

Dividend to ordinary shareholders  -    -    -    (950,552)  -    (950,552)  (950,552)  -    (950,552)

 -    -    -    (950,552)  -    (950,552)  (950,552)  3,000  (947,552)

Transferred to Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd 
pursuant to Scheme of Arrangement

 -    -    -    (8,224,372)  -    (8,224,372)  (8,224,372)  -    (8,224,372)

Disposal of Interloop Dairies Limited  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    (690,419)  (690,419)

Employees share option scheme  -    -    8,234  -    -    8,234  8,234  -    8,234 

Shares issued under the ESOS  1,719  10,831  (1,255)  -    -    9,576  11,295  -    11,295 

Balance as at June 30, 2018  1,901,104  30,255  8,608  6,860,264  16,051  6,915,178  8,816,282  -    8,816,282 

Profit for the year  -    -    -    5,060,551  -    5,060,551  5,060,551  -    5,060,551 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -    -    -    (192,825)  36,569  (156,256)  (156,256)  -    (156,256)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -    4,867,726  36,569  4,904,295  4,904,295  -    4,904,295 

Transactions with owners:

Dividend to ordinary shareholders  -    -    -    (1,090,247)  -    (1,090,247) (1,090,247)  -    (1,090,247)

 -    -    -    (1,090,247)  -    (1,090,247) (1,090,247)  -    (1,090,247)

Employees share option scheme  -    -    18  -    -    18  18  -    18 

Shares issued under the ESOS  7,558  27,523  (8,626)  -    -    18,897  26,455  -    26,455 

Issuance of ordinary shares  1,095,000  3,934,900  -    -    -    3,934,900  5,029,900  -    5,029,900 

Transaction cost on issuance of shares  -    (170,820)  -    -    -    (170,820)  (170,820)  -    (170,820)

Issuance of bonus shares  5,718,313  (30,255)  -    (5,688,058)  -    (5,718,313)  -    -    -   

Balance as at June 30, 2019  8,721,975  3,791,603  -    4,949,685  52,620  8,793,908  17,515,883  -    17,515,883 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000

a) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation  5,286,811  3,887,964 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation  1,653,053  1,541,946 
Amortization  9,182  10,427 
Employee share option compensation expense  5,031  4,188 
Workers' profit participation fund  285,315  215,040 
Staff retirement gratuity  527,598  417,798 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  47,553  39,145 
Loss on disposal of biological assets  -    25,871 
Interest income on long term loan to SNGPL  -    (16)
Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd  (7,211)  (8,923)
Gain from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets  -    (9,245)
Profit on TDR's  (182)  (225)
Remeasurement loss on investment in mutual funds  20,787  10,908 
Share of loss from associate  58,485  53,032 
Loss on disposal/loss of control of subsidiary  -    147,065 
Interest on receivables from IL Bangla Limited  (5,796)  -   
Finance cost  999,260  498,956 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes  8,879,886  6,833,931 

Changes in working capital
  (Increase)/decrease in current assets

Feed, health and breeding  -    (5,674)
Stores and spares  (111,206)  (87,590)
Stock in trade  (1,176,257)  (1,555,837)
Trade debts  (981,054)  (2,479,990)
Loan and advances  (449,947)  307,444 
Deposit, prepayment and other receivables  (23,340)  328,537 
Tax refunds due from government  385,675  (309,415)
Short term investment in mutual funds - net  (4,258)  (5,447,852)

(Decrease)/Increase in current liabilities
Trade and other payables  803,363  860,769 

 (1,557,024)  (8,389,608)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations  7,322,862  (1,555,677)

Finance cost paid  (1,001,749)  (444,189)
Income tax paid  (244,341)  (296,412)
Staff retirement gratuity paid  (131,021)  (153,266)
Workers' profit participation fund paid  (232,068)  (163,041)
Long term loans paid  (21,549)  (13,875)
Long term deposits (paid)/received  (8,303)  3,880 
Profit on TDRs received  182  225 
Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd received  -    6,521 
Interest income received on long term loan to SNGPL  -    16 

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  5,684,013  (2,615,818)

b) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions in:
   Property, plant and equipment  (5,278,596)  (3,492,545)
   Intangible asset  (36,854)  (5,899)
Advance for purchase of land  -    (23,897)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  135,295  66,452 
Proceeds from deaths/disposal of biological assets  -    62,987 
Net cash disposed on disposal/loss of control of subsidiary  -    (1,212,779)
Long term investments  -    (83,864)

Net cash used in investing activities  (5,180,155)  (4,689,545)

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

c) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Long term financing obtained  4,228,002  1,300,000 
Repayment of long term financing  (2,568,542)  (1,112,483)
Payment of liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  (847)  (1,645)
Short term borrowings - net  (3,325,195)  7,544,364 
Share capital issued  1,102,558  4,719 
Share premium net of transaction cost  3,782,977  9,576 
Dividend paid  (1,434,588)  (475,276)

Net cash generated from financing activities  1,784,365  7,269,255 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c)  2,288,223  (36,108)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  195,939  232,047 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 42  2,484,162  195,939 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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1. THE GROUP AND ITS OPERATIONS

The Group comprises of:

1.1 Interloop Limited- The Holding Company

1.1.1 Interloop Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on 25th April, 1992 as a private 
limited company and subsequently it was converted into public limited company on 18th July, 
2008. The Company was listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange on 5th April, 2019. The Company 
is engaged in the business of manufacturing and selling of socks, leggies, denim and yarn, 
providing yarn dyeing services and to generate electricity for its own use.

The geographical locations and addresses of the Company’s business units, including 
production facilities are as under:

- Registered office: Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad.

- Corporate office & Plant 1: 1-KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad-Pakistan.

- Plant 2, Plant 4 & Spinning: 6-KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad-Pakistan.

- Plant 5: 6-KM, Khurrianwala – Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad-Pakistan.

- Plant 3 & Denim: 8-KM, Manga- Raiwind Road, Raiwind, Dist. Kasur, Lahore-Pakistan.

1.1.2 The Board of Directors of the Company decided to initiate the proceedings for enlisting of the 
Company on the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited to finance hosiery division - V and denim 
projects. Hence, the Company issued the prospectus for Initial Public Offer (IPO) of 109 million 
ordinary shares of Rupees 10 each at a floor price of Rupees 45 per share including share 
premium of Rupees 35 per share as on 05 March 2019. Details regarding utilization of IPO 
proceeds for denim project and plant expansion have been fully explained in the prospectus. 
Before the date of the reporting period, 81.750 million ordinary shares were offered and 
successfully subscribed through book building process by Institutional Investors and High 
Net Worth Individuals (HNWI) at a strike price of Rupees 46.10 per share while the remaining 
27.250 ordinary shares were offered to general public for subscription at strike price of Rupees 
46.10 per share. Ordinary shares offered to general public were fully subscribed and shares 
have been duly allotted to all shareholders. As on 05 April 2019, Pakistan Stock Exchange 
Limited has approved the Company’s application for formal listing and quotation of the shares 
on Pakistan Stock Exchange.

1.2 IL Apparel (Private) Limited - The Subsidiary (Holding- 100% (2018: 100%))

IL Apparel (Private) Limited was incorporated in Pakistan on 28th March, 2018 under the Companies 
Act, 2017. The registered office of the company is situated at Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, 
Faisalabad. The principal business activity of the company is manufacturing and sale of garments and 
allied products.

1.3 IL Bangla Limited - The Associate (Holding- 31.61% (2018: 43.75%))

IL Bangla Ltd. is a private limited company incorporated under the Companies Act 1994 as applicable 
in Bangladesh vide Registration No. C-77561/09 dated 21 May 2009 floated by foreign investors 
(Pakistan and West Indies) having its registered Office at House # 267, Road # 19, New DOHS 
Mohakhali, Dhaka, Bangladesh and factory at Dakkhin kongshadi Vatpara, Narsingdi Sadar, Narsingdi, 
Bangladesh. The company’s main objective is to carry on the business of manufacturing and sale/
export of socks and hosieries.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan 
comprise of: 

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS 
Standards, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.

2.2 Basis of measurement 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as otherwise 
stated in respective policy notes.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee which is also the Company’s functional 
currency.

3. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND PRONOUNCEMENTS

3.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards which became 
effective during the year

- Amendment to IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’: 

Transfers of investment property clarifies that an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment 
property when, and only when there is a change in use. A change in use occurs when the property 
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meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change 
in use. In isolation, a change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide 
evidence of a change in use. The amendment does not have any impact on Company’s financial 
statements.

- Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ - Clarifying how to account for certain 
types of share-based payments:

The amendments are intended to eliminate diversity in practice in three main areas:
- The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment 

transaction;
- The classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding 

tax obligations;
- The accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment 

transaction changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled.

The amendment does not have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements.

- Amendment to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contract’- Applying IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ with 
IFRS 4:

The amendment address issue arising from the different effective dates of IFRS 9 and the forthcoming 
new insurance contract standard IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’. The amendments introduce two 
alternative options for entities issuing contracts within the scope of IFRS 4, notably a temporary 
exemption and an overlay approach. The temporary exemption enables eligible entities to defer the 
implementation date of IFRS 9. The overlay approach allows an entity applying IFRS 9 from July 
01, 2018 onwards to remove from profit or loss the effects of some of the accounting mismatches 
that may occur from applying IFRS 9 before IFRS 17 is applied. The amendment does not have any 
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

- IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’:

IFRS 9 is a replacement for IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ and covers three distinct areas. Phase 1 
contains new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. 
Phase 2 relates to the impairment of financial assets and requires the calculation of impairment on 
an expected loss basis rather than the current incurred loss basis. Phase 3 relates to less stringent 
requirements for general hedge accounting. Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 is disclosed in Note. 7.1 of 
the financial statements.

- IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’:

This standard deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information 
to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and 
cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognized when a customer 
obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits 
from the good or service. The standard replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ 

and IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’. Impact of adoption of IFRS 15 is disclosed in Note. 
7.2 of the financial statements.

- IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’:

IFRIC 22 clarifies which date should be used for translation when a foreign currency transaction 
involves payment or receipt in advance of the item it relates to. The related item is translated using 
the exchange rate on the date the advance foreign currency is received or paid and the prepayment 
or deferred income is recognized. The date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the 
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) would 
remain the date on which receipt of payment from advance consideration was recognized. If there are 
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the entity shall determine a date of the transaction for each 
payment or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation does not have a significant impact 
on the these financial statements.

- Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2014-2016 cycle [Amendments to IAS 28 
‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’]:

Amendments to IAS 28 clarifies that a venture capital organization and other similar entities may elect 
to Amendments to IAS 28 clarifies that a venture capital organization and other similar entities may 
elect to measure investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss, for 
each associate or joint venture separately at the time of initial recognition of investment. Furthermore, 
similar election is available to non-investment entity that has an interest in an associate or joint venture 
that is an investment entity, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement 
applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or 
joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity 
associate or joint venture. The amendments do not have any impact on these financial statements.

The other amendments to published standards and interpretations that are mandatory for the financial 
year are considered not to be relevant or to have any significant impact on the Company’s financial 
reporting and operations and are therefore not disclosed in these financial statements.

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards that are issued 
but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Company

- Amendment to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits, - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’ 
(effective for annual period beginning on or after January 01, 2019):

The amendments to IAS 19 specify that an entity must; 

(i) determine current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after 
that event and determine net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement using:
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(a) the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the 
plan assets after that event; and

(b) the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset); and

(ii) determine any past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, without considering the effect 
of the asset ceiling. This amount is to be recognized in profit or loss. An entity then determine 
the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any change 
in that effect, excluding amounts included in net interest, is recognized in other comprehensive 
income.

The Company is yet to assess the full impact of the amendment. 

- Amendment to IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ - Long term investment 
in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for annual period beginning on or after January 
01, 2019):

The amendment will affect companies that finance such entities with preference shares or with loans 
for which repayment is not expected in the foreseeable future (referred to as long-term interests or 
‘LTI’). The amendment and accompanying example state that LTI are in the scope of both IFRS 9 and 
IAS 28 and explain the annual sequence in which both standards are to be applied. The amendment 
is not likely to have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.

- Amendment to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instrument’- prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation and modifications of financial liabilities (effective for annual period beginning 
on or after January 01, 2019):

The amendment allow debt instruments with negative compensation prepayment features to be 
measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The amendment 
also clarified that gains and losses arising on modifications of financial liabilities that do not result in 
derecognition should be recognized in profit or loss. 

- IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (effective for periods beginning on or after January 01, 2019):

IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. The full impact 
of the future adoption is currently under review.

- IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 01, 2019):

IFRIC 23 clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are 

applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. An uncertain tax treatment is any tax 
treatment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over whether that treatment will be accepted 
by the tax authority. For example, a decision to claim a deduction for a specific expense or not to 
include a specific item of income in a tax return is an uncertain tax treatment if its acceptability is 
uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax accounting where there is 
an uncertainty regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or loss, the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities, tax losses and credits and tax rates. The interpretation is not expected to have 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

- Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, and IAS 8, ‘Accounting 
policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ (effective for the Company’s annual 
period beginning on January 1, 2019):

These amendments and consequential amendments to other IFRSs:

(i) use a consistent definition of materiality throughout IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting;

(ii) clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and

(iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information.

These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s future financial 
statements. 

- Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – Definition of a Business (effective for 
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020):

The IASB has issued amendments aiming to resolve the difficulties that arise when an entity 
determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets. The amendments clarify that to 
be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an 
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. 
The amendments include an election to use a concentration test. The standard is effective for 
transactions in the future and therefore would not have an impact on past financial statements.

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle. The new cycle of improvements 
addresses improvements to following approved accounting standards (effective for annual 
period beginning on or after January 1, 2019):

-  IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. The amendment aims to clarify 
the accounting treatment when a company increases its interest in a joint operation that meets 
the definition of a business. A company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation 
when it obtains control of the business. A company does not remeasure its previously held interest 
in a joint operation when it obtains joint control of the business. 
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-  IAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendment clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends 
(including payments on financial instruments classified as equity) are recognized consistently 
with the transaction that generates the distributable profits.

-  IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. The amendment clarify that a company treats as part of general 
borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its 
intended use or sale.

Further, the following new standards have been issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), which are yet to be notified by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 
(SECP), for the purposes of their applicability in Pakistan: 

IFRS - 1     ‘First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’. 
IFRS - 14   ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’.
IFRS - 17  ‘Insurance Contracts’.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards require 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods. Judgments made by management in application 
of the approved accounting standards that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates 
with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in respective policy notes. The 
areas where various assumptions and estimates are significant to the Company’s financial statements or 
where judgment was exercised in application of accounting policies are as follows:

• Estimate of useful life of operating fixed assets - note 6.1
• Impairment of non financial assets - note 6.5
• Stores and spares - note 6.6
• Stock-in-trade - note 6.7
• Staff retirement benefits - note 6.10
• Provisions - note 6.13
• Contingencies  - note 6.14
• Taxation - note 6.15

5. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiary

Subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiary is fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group and is deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The assets and liabilities of Subsidiary Company have been consolidated on a line by line basis and carrying 
value of investments held by the Holding Company is eliminated against Holding Company’s share in paid 
up capital of the Subsidiary Company.

Intragroup balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Non-controlling interests are that part of net results of the operations and of net assets of Subsidiary Company 
attributable to interest which are not owned by the Holding Company. Non-controlling interests are presented 
as separate item in the consolidated financial statements.

Associate

Associates is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial 
and operating policies. Interests in associate is accounted for using the equity method. They are initially 
recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of 
equity accounted investee, until the date on which significant influence ceases.

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investee are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the Group companies’ interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in 
the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of im airment.

6. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

6.1 Operating fixed assets and depreciation

Operating fixed assets, except freehold land which is stated at cost, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any identified accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged to statement of profit or loss, unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset, at the rates stated in note 8.1 applying reducing balance method. The useful life 
and residual value of major components of fixed assets are reviewed annually to determine that 
expectations are not significantly different from the previous estimates. Adjustment in depreciation 
rate for current and future periods is made if expectations are significantly different from the previous 
estimates. Depreciation is charged from the month when an asset becomes available for use, whereas 
no depreciation is charged in the month of its disposal. Gain/loss on disposal of fixed assets is included 
in statement of profit or loss. 

Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of operating fixed assets beyond its original 
specification and its useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and is added to the cost of the 
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operating fixed assets. These are depreciated on reducing balance method at the rate mentioned in the 
relevant note.

6.2 Capital work in progress

 Capital work in progress is stated at cost less any identified impairment loss and represents direct cost 
of material, labour, applicable overheads and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Transfers are made 
to relevant property, plant and equipment category as and when assets are available for its intended 
use. 

6.3 Leases

 Operating leases

 Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of lease.

 Finance leases 

 Leases in terms of which the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Assets subject to finance lease are stated at the lower of present value of 
minimum lease payments under the lease agreements and the fair value of the assets, less accumulated 
depreciation and any identified impairment loss.

 The related rental obligations, net of finance costs are classified as current and long term liability 
depending upon the timing of the payment.

 Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate 
on the balance outstanding. The interest element of the rental is charged to statement of profit or loss 
over the lease term.

 Assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset on 
a reducing balance method at the rates given in note 8.1. Depreciation of leased assets is charged to 
statement of profit or loss.

 Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.

 Depreciation on additions to leased assets is charged from the month in which an asset is acquired, 
while no depreciation is charged for the month in which the asset is disposed off.

6.4 Intangible asset - Computer software

 Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any identified accumulated 

impairment loss. These are amortized using the reducing balance method at the rates given in note 9. 
Amortization on additions is charged from the month in which an intangible asset is acquired, while no 
amortization is charged for the month in which intangible asset is disposed off.  

 Costs associated with maintaining computer software programme are recognized as an expense as and 
when incurred. Costs that are directly attributable to identifiable software and have probable economic 
benefits exceeding one year, are recognized as an intangible asset at the time of initial recognition. 
Direct costs include the purchase cost of software and related overhead costs.

 Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its original 
specification and useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and added to the cost of the software. 
These are amortised  on straight line method at the rate mentioned in the relevant note.

6.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

 Non financial assets

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than stock in trade and stores and 
spares, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at 
each reporting date.

 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates 
cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups.

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units 
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis. Impairment 
losses on goodwill shall not be reversed.

 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Prior impairments of non-financial assets 
(other than goodwill) are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date. 

6.6 Stores and spares

 Stores and spares are carried at moving average cost. Provision is made for slow moving and obsolete 
store items when so identified. Stores and spares held for capital expenditure are included in capital 
work in progress.
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6.7 Stock-in-trade

 These are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). The methods used for the calculation 
of cost are as follows:

 Raw material - At factory Moving average cost
  - In transit Invoice value plus direct charges in respect thereof.
 Work in process and finished goods Prime cost including a proportion of production overheads.
 Wastes are valued at net realizable value.

 Stock-in-trade is regularly reviewed by the management and any obsolete items are brought down 
to their net realizable value. Net realizable value signifies the selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less costs necessary to be incurred to affect such sale.

6.8 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, cheques in hand/cheques overdrawn, balances 
with banks and include short term highly liquid investments. The cash and cash equivalents are readily 
convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

6.9 Non-current assets held for sale

 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying 
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use and a sale 
is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on re-
measurements are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

 Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, are no longer 
amortised or depreciated.

6.10 Staff retirement benefits 

(a) Defined Benefit Plan

 The Company operates an unfunded gratuity scheme for all employees according to the terms of 
employment, subject to a minimum qualifying period of service. Annual provision is made on the basis 
of actuarial valuation to cover obligations under the scheme for all employees eligible to gratuity benefits.

 The cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial 
valuation being carried out at each balance sheet date. Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability, 
which comprise of actuarial gains and losses i.e. experience adjustments and the effects of changes 
in actuarial assumptions, are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Company 
determines net interest expense/(income) on the defined benefit obligation for the period by applying 

the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period 
to then-net defined benefit, taking into account any change in the net defined benefit obligation during 
the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses 
e.g. current service cost, related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit and loss.

(b) Defined Contribution Plan

 There is a contributory provident fund for executive staff of the Company for which contributions are 
charged to profit and loss as and when incurred.  

 The Company makes monthly contribution to the fund at the rate of 7.5% whereas employees of the 
Company make monthly contributions to the fund at the rates ranging form 7.5% to 12.5% of basic 
salary. The assets of the fund are held separately under the control of trustees.

(c) Employees’ Share Option Scheme (ESOS)

 The Company operates an equity settled stock option scheme to be called ‘Interloop Limited - 
Employees Stock Option Scheme, 2016’. The compensation committee (“committee”) of the Board of 
directors (“Board”) evaluates the performance and other criteria of employees and recommends to the 
Board for grant of options. The Board on the recommendation of the committee, on its discretion, grants 
recommended options to employees. These options vest after a specified period subject to fulfillment of 
certain conditions as defined in the scheme. Upon vesting, employees are eligible to apply and secure 
allotment of Company’s shares at a pre-determined price on the date of grant of options.

 The fair value of the grant of share options is measured at grant date and difference of fair value and 
exercise price is recognized as an employee compensation expense, with a corresponding increase 
in equity, on the straight line basis over the vesting period. The amount recognized as an expense is 
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance 
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized is based on the number 
of awards that meet the related service and non- market performance conditions at the vesting date. 

 When share options are exercised, the proceeds received, net of any transaction costs, are credited to 
share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

6.11 Trade and other payables

 Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using 
effective interest rate method. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation in respect of liabilities 
in foreign currency are added to the carrying amount of the respective liabilities.

6.12 Ijarah 

 Ijarah payments under an Ijarah are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit or loss on a 
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straight-line basis over the Ijarah term.  

6.13 Provisions

 Provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

 Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed.

6.14 Contingencies

 The assessment of the contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment as the 
outcome of the future events cannot be predicted with certainty. The company, based on the availability 
of the latest information, estimates the value of contingent assets and liabilities which may differ on the 
occurrence / non-occurrence of the uncertain future events.

6.15 Taxation

 Current

 The charge for current taxation is based on taxable income at current rates of taxation after taking into 
account tax credits, rebates and exemptions available, if any. However income covered under Final 
Taxation Regime (FTR), taxation is based on the applicable tax rates under such Regime after taking into 
account tax credits, rebates and exemptions, if any.  

 Deferred

 Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax is calculated 
by using the tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. In this regard, the effect on deferred taxation 
of the portion of income subjected to Final Tax Regime is adjusted in accordance with the requirements 
of Accounting Technical Release – 27 of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, if considered 
material. 

 Deferred tax liability is recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax asset is 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits, if any, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
these can be utilized.

 Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 

assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies.

6.16 Foreign currency translation

 All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into rupees at exchange rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into rupees 
at exchange rates prevailing at the date of transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into rupees at exchange 
rates prevailing at the date of transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currency that are stated at fair value are translated into rupees at exchange rates prevailing at the date 
when fair values are determined. Exchange gains and losses are included in the statement of profit or 
loss immediately.

6.17 Government grants 

 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that entity will comply with the 
conditions attached to it and grant will be received.

6.18 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time when the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to statement of profit or loss as and 
when incurred.

6.19 Earnings per share

 The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

6.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognised at their face value.

6.21 Dividend

 Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s 
financial statements in the period in which dividends are approved.

6.22 Segment reporting

 Segment reporting is based on the operating (business) segments of the Company. An operating 
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segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to the transactions with any 
of the Company’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM’) to make decisions about resources to be allocated 
to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of the Company that makes the strategic 
decisions.

Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well 
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Those incomes, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
other balances which cannot be allocated to a particular segment on a reasonable basis are reported 
as unallocated. 

Transaction among the business segments are recorded at cost. Inter segment sales and purchases 
are eliminated from the total.

6.23 Related party transactions

 All transactions with related parties are carried out at agreed terms and conditions and on arm’s length 
basis.

7. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES DUE TO APPLICABILITY OF CERTAIN INTERNATIONAL 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

7.1 IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

7.1.1 Financial assets

 The standard introduced new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial 
asset shall be measured at amortized cost if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which 
arise on specified dates and that are ‘solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal 
amount outstanding. A debt investment shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates that are solely 
principal and interest and as well as selling the asset on the basis of its fair value. All other financial 
assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the Company makes an 
irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments in other 
comprehensive income. Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated 
as measured at fair value through profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting 
mismatch. 

Key changes in accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9

A. Classification and measurement of financial instruments
a) Investments and other financial assets

Classification:

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

-  those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or 
through profit or loss), and

-  those to be measured at amortized cost

The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows. In order for a financial asset to be classified and 
measured at amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that 
are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This 
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The Company’s 
business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business 
model in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend 
on whether the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to 
account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Company 
reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes.

Measurement:

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

i) Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement 
categories into which the Company classifies its debt instruments:

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

190 191

20
18

 -
 1

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Amortized cost

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in other 
income / (other expenses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are 
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are 
measured at FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive 
income, except for the recognition of impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses), 
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in profit or loss. 
When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other 
income / (other expenses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income 
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
other income/ (other expenses) and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets 
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading 
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets 
with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Not with standing the criteria 
for debt instruments to be classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described 
above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition 
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position 
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

B. Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognized when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to 
the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the 
rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Company could be required to repay.

C. Impairment

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s accounting for impairment 
losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking 
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Company to record an allowance for 
ECLs for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL.

ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then 
discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate.

For trade and other receivables, the Company has applied the standard’s simplified approach 
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Company has established 
a provision matrix that is based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. However, in certain 
cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. 

D. Hedge accounting

IFRS 9 requires that hedge accounting relationships are aligned with its risk management objectives 
and strategy and to apply a more qualitative and forward-looking approach to assessing hedge 
effectiveness.
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 There is no impact of the said change on these consolidated financial statements as there is no hedge 
activity carried on by the Company during the year ended June 30, 2019.

7.1.2 Financial liabilities

A. Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss 
are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The 
Company has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

ii) Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR (effective interest 
rate) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

B. Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 

of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

7.1.3 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are set off and the net amount is reported in the financial 
statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the company intends either to settle 
on a net basis, or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

7.1.4 Impacts of adoption of IFRS 9 on these consolidated financial statements

 At transition date to IFRS 9, the Company has financial assets measured at amortized cost and 
investments in mutual funds at fair value through profit or loss. The new classification and measurement 
of the Company’s financial assets are, as follows: 

 Debt instruments at amortized cost for financial assets that are held within a business model with 
the objective to hold the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI 
criterion.

 Investments in mutual funds that are held for trading in near term and has recognized initially and 
subsequently at fair value through profit or loss. On application of IFRS - 9 the Company has not opted 
to recognize investments in mutual funds at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). 
These are recognized as fair value through profit or loss.

 Further all financial assets previously classified under the head ‘loans and receivables’ are now classified 
as ‘amortised cost’.

 The accounting for the Company’s financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39. 

 Accordingly, the adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Company’s accounting 
policies related to financial assets and liabilities.

7.2 IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’:

 The Company has adopted IFRS 15 by applying the modified retrospective approach according to 
which the Company is not required to restate the prior year results.

 Key changes in accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 15

7.2.1 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company is expected 
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to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a 
customer, the Company: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations 
in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable 
consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be 
delivered; and recognizes revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that 
depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised.

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer 
such as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any 
other contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most likely 
amount’ method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle 
whereby revenue will only be recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The measurement constraint continues 
until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts 
received that are subject to the constraining principle are initially recognized as deferred revenue in the 
form of a separate refund liability.

a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when the customer obtains 
control of the goods, which is generally at the time of delivery. Otherwise, control is transferred 
over time and revenue is recognized over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company’s 
performance as the Company performs;

- the Company’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as 
the Company performs; or

- the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company 
and the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

b) Rendering of services

  Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized over time as the services are rendered.

c) Interest income

Interest income is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a 
method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income 
over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

Operating fixed assets 8.1  17,644,588  15,154,365 
Capital work-in-progress 8.2  1,254,704  302,231 

 18,899,292  15,456,596 

d) Dividend income

  Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.

e) Other income

  Other revenue is recognized when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

7.2.2 Trade and other receivables

 Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

 The Company has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been 
grouped based on days overdue.

 Other receivables are recognized at amortized cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

7.2.3 Impacts of adoption of IFRS 15 on these consolidated financial statements

 The Company has concluded that revenue from sale of goods should be recognized at the point in time 
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods. Therefore, 
the adoption of IFRS 15 did not have an impact on the timing of revenue recognition and the amount of 
revenue recognized.

 The Company provides sales discounts to certain customers which is not in the nature of volume rebates 
(discounts). The Company estimates provision for discounts and revenue is reduced by the amount of 
provision. This is also in alignment with the requirements of IFRS 15 and did not have an impact on the 
revenue of the Company. Therefore, the application of the constraint on variable consideration did not 
have any further impact on the revenue recognized by the Company.
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2018

 DESCRIPTION 

 C O S T  DEPRECIATION   W.D.V  

Rate 
%    

As on  
July 1, 
2017

 Addi-
tions 

 Deletions 

 Trans-
ferred to 
Interloop 
Holdings 
(Pvt) Ltd

As on  
June 30, 

2018

As on  
July 1, 
2017

 For the 
year 

 Adjust-
ments 

Trans-
ferred to 
Interloop 
Holdings 
(Pvt) Ltd

As on  
June 30, 

2018 

As on  
June 30, 

2018 

Rupees in ‘000

Owned

Freehold land  1,172,655  43,746  (263,919)  (23,012)  929,470  -    -    -    -    -    929,470  -   

Buildings on freehold land  4,850,502  626,968  (747,120)  -    4,730,350  1,661,266  324,386  (216,842)  -    1,768,810  2,961,540 10

Plant and machinery  13,787,025  1,982,512  (431,644)  -    15,337,893  5,456,668  928,874  (176,170)  -    6,209,372  9,128,521 10

Tools and  equipment  704,066  171,851  (22,410)  -    853,507  280,220  57,991  (5,955)  -    332,256  521,251 10

Office equipment  284,612  88,651  (9,862)  -    363,401  142,830  40,950  (7,392)  -    176,388  187,013 20

Electric installations  1,137,094  246,103  (69,142)  -    1,314,055  354,345  93,031  (20,584)  -    426,792  887,263 10

Furniture and fixtures  289,650  29,799  (5,642)  -    313,807  105,991  20,316  (2,450)  -    123,857  189,950 10

Vehicles  450,490  175,108  (95,695)  (9,104)  520,799  147,122  75,726  (48,671)  (1,569)  172,608  348,191 20

 Sub total  22,676,094 3,364,738 (1,645,434)  (32,116) 24,363,282 8,148,442 1,541,274  (478,064)  (1,569) 9,210,083 15,153,199 

Leasehold 

Vehicles  9,254  -    (6,815)  -    2,439  5,037  672  (4,436)  -    1,273  1,166 20

Sub total  9,254  -    (6,815)  -    2,439  5,037  672  (4,436)  -    1,273  1,166 

Grand total  22,685,348 3,364,738 (1,652,249)  (32,116) 24,365,721 8,153,479 1,541,946  (482,500)  (1,569) 9,211,356 15,154,365 

2019

 DESCRIPTION 

 COST  DEPRECIATION   W.D.V  

Rate 
%    As on  

July 1, 2018
 Additions  Deletions 

As on  
June 30, 

2019

As on  
July 1, 2018

 For the 
year 

 Trial Pro-
duction 
Capitali-
zation 

 Adjust-
ments 

As on  
June 30, 

2019

As on  
June 30, 

2019

Rupees in ‘000

Owned

Freehold land  929,470  871,689  -    1,801,159  -    -    -    -    -    1,801,159  -   

Buildings on freehold land  4,730,350  578,239  (17,251)  5,291,338  1,768,810  331,085  273  (7,174)  2,092,994  3,198,344 10

Plant and machinery  15,337,893  2,158,422  (298,702)  17,197,613  6,209,372  1,009,899  3,395  (193,303)  7,029,363  10,168,250 10

Tools and  equipments  853,507  185,194  (6,971)  1,031,730  332,256  61,223  175  (3,568)  390,086  641,644 10

Office equipments  363,401  76,918  (9,690)  430,629  176,388  45,653  173  (5,313)  216,901  213,728 20

Electric installations  1,314,055  155,075  (35)  1,469,095  426,792  95,518  268  (20)  522,558  946,537 10

Furniture and fixtures  313,807  95,786  (3,890)  405,703  123,857  25,466  38  (2,270)  147,091  258,612 10

Vehicles  520,799  209,123  (119,887)  610,035  172,608  84,131  -    (63,018)  193,721  416,314 20

 Sub total  24,363,282 4,330,446  (456,426) 28,237,302 9,210,083 1,652,975  4,322  (274,666) 10,592,714 17,644,588 

Leasehold 
Vehicles  2,439  -    (2,439)  -    1,273  78  -    (1,351)  -    -   20

 Sub total  2,439  -    (2,439)  -    1,273  78  -    (1,351)  -    -   

 Grand total  24,365,721 4,330,446  (458,865) 28,237,302  9,211,356 1,653,053  4,322  (276,017) 10,592,714 17,644,588 

8.1 Operating fixed assets

8.1.1 The detail of operating fixed assets disposed / written off during the year are as follows:

Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book Value Sale Proceeds
Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of Disposal Particulars of Buyers

Rupees in ‘000 

Assets having book value exceeding Rs. 500,000 each
Buildings

Civil Works - Satellite Unit  3,347  1,242  2,105  -    (2,105)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Civil Works - Satellite Unit  2,709  1,006  1,703  -    (1,703)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Civil Works - Chawla Store Expansion  5,071  2,074  2,997  -    (2,997)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Fabrication of Finished Goods Store  3,646  1,869  1,777  -    (1,777)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Sub Total  14,773  6,191  8,582  -    (8,582)

Plant and Machinery

Dyeing Machine  - Tupesa  2,503  1,972  531  344  (187)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Dryer  - Tupesa - Sc2  4,861  3,677  1,184  143  (1,041)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Dryer  - Tupesa - Sc  3,539  2,668  871  143  (728)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Suction Blower System  3,179  1,671  1,508  29  (1,479)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Bleaching Machine - Polycraft  992  460  532  29  (503)  Negotiation 
Mian Rashid - Nisar Colony, 
Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine - Lonati - L454J  2,612  2,060  552  182  (370)  Negotiation 
Nawab Spinning Mills (Pvt) Ltd, 
Chak No. 61 R.B, Near Sitara Ener-
gy, Sheikhupura Road , Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine  - Santoni  2,505  1,965  540  13  (527)  Negotiation 
Mian Maqsood - Sir Syed Town, 
Dajkot Road, Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine  - Santoni  2,505  1,965  540  13  (527)  Negotiation 
Mian Maqsood - Sir Syed Town, 
Dajkot Road, Faisalabad.

Knitting Machine  - Sangiacomo  3,045  2,227  818  13  (805)  Negotiation 
Mian Maqsood - Sir Syed Town, 
Dajkot Road, Faisalabad.

Automatic Boarding Machine - Techo-
pea  - Ghibli

 2,125  1,141  984  80  (904)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Sarfraz - Chak No. 61, 
Sheikhupura Road, Faisalabad.

Suction System Complete  3,780  633  3,147  53  (3,094)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Safdar - Zulifqar 
Colony, Faisalabad.

Diesel Generator - CMD38 Rating 
35Kva / 28Kw Prime 1500Rpm

 1,100  450  650  195  (455)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Umer Farooq - Zulifqar 
Colony, Faisalabad.

Gas Genset - Ge Jenbacher - J 620 
GSE01 (Old Parts Scraped due to 
Overhauling of Generator)

 19,241  13,757  5,484  -    (5,484)  Scraped Mr. Abdul Aziz

Sub Total  51,987  34,646  17,341  1,237  (16,104)

Tools and Equipments

Fire Alarm System - Chawla Ware-
house 

 1,439  602  837  -    (837)
Rented Building 
Vacated

Fire Alarm System - Finished Goods 
Warehouses

 4,329  2,257  2,072  91  (1,981)  Negotiation 
Muhammad Safdar - Zulifqar 
Colony, Faisalabad.

Sub Total  5,768  2,859  2,909  91  (2,818)

Furniture and Fixtures

Palletizing and Racking System  1,550  876  674  -    (674)  Negotiation 
Mr. Tariq -  Darul Ehsan Town near 
Rasheed Kanda, Samnundri Road, 
Faisalabad.

Sub Total  1,550  876  674  -    (674)

Vehicles

Toyota Land Cruiser Parado  18,151  12,600  5,551  5,551  -   Negotiation
Mrs. Nazia Navid - Wife of Chief 
Executive Officer 
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Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book Value Sale Proceeds
Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of Disposal Particulars of Buyers

Rupees in ‘000 

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,285  1,330  955  860  (95) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Arshad - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic Vti Pm  2,274  1,313  961  708  (253) Company Policy
Mr. Shahid Hameed - Company 
Employee

Honda City  1,752  281  1,471  1,472  1 Company Policy
Ms. Sadia Rashid - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic Orial Pm  2,511  1,451  1,060  860  (200) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Shahzad - Compa-
ny Employee

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,205  1,273  932  708  (224) Company Policy
Mr. Naseer Ahmad - Company 
Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,302  782  520  305  (215) Company Policy
Mr. Raza Mohay Ud Din - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Xli Le  1,626  927  699  644  (55) Company Policy
Mr. Kamran Akhtar - Company 
Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,282  731  551  424  (127) Company Policy
Mr. Kamran Sani - Company 
Employee

Honda City Aspire Mt  1,566  892  674  624  (50) Company Policy
Mr. Umer Javed - Company 
Employee

Honda City Ivtec  1,555  934  621  305  (316) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Rizwan Mohsin - 
Company Employee

Honda City Aspire Mt  1,695  1,017  678  1,300  622 Company Policy
Mr. Hasnain Abbas - Company 
Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,316  780  536  416  (120) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Atif Saleem - Com-
pany Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,811  1,101  710  658  (52) Company Policy
Mr. Aamer Tanveer - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic Vti Prosmatic  2,167  1,126  1,041  1,062  21 Company Policy
Mr. Dr Nabeel - Company Em-
ployee

Honda City Aspire Mt  1,556  902  654  488  (166) Company Policy
Mr. Adeel Asghar - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,811  1,090  721  658  (63) Company Policy
Mr. Rashid Hussain - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Xli  1,685  1,025  660  658  (2) Company Policy
Mr. Zubair Masud - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,811  1,036  775  488  (287) Company Policy Mr. Arif Butt - Company Employee

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,297  751  546  488  (58) Company Policy
Mr. Waheed Ahmad - Company 
Employee

Honda Civic  2,028  1,249  779  438  (341) Company Policy Mr. Yasir Riaz - Company Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,809  1,129  680  658  (22) Company Policy
Mr. Muhammad Naseer Ud Din - 
Company Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,771  1,030  741  488  (253) Company Policy
Mr. Javed Iqbal - Company 
Employee

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,810  1,103  707  658  (49) Company Policy
Mr. Zahid Hussain - Company 
Employee

Honda City Pts F/L  1,848  414  1,434  1,435  1 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Suzuki Swift Dlx  1,316  719  597  603  6 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Faw V-2 M/T  1,076  380  696  703  7 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,277  425  852  853  1 Negotiation
Mr. Sheraz, Saeed Autos, 22C - 
Model Town, Jail Road, Faisalabad.

Suzuki Cultus - Vxr  1,444  24  1,420  1,410  (10) Insurance claim
Security General Insurance 
Company

Honda City  1,769  888  881  881  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Toyota Corolla Altis  2,088  951  1,137  1,137  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Wagon-R Vxl  1,074  453  621  626  5 Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Cultus Vxl  1,566  78  1,488  1,488  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Honda City  1,688  731  957  957  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,124  564  560  559  (1) Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,099  501  598  598  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Toyota Hilux 4X2 S/C  2,027  857  1,170  1,171  1 Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

8.1.2 Depreciation expense for the year has been allocated as under;   

Cost of sales  1,497,725  1,404,282 
Administrative expenses  155,328  137,664 

 1,653,053  1,541,946 

8.2 Capital work-in-progress

Civil works 8.2.1  654,768  178,203 
Plant and machinery 8.2.2  151,000  32,696 
Capital stores 8.2.3  20,792  87,201 
Advances to suppliers  428,144  4,131 

 1,254,704  302,231 

8.2.1 Civil works include borrowing cost amounting to Rs. 16.005 million calculated at the rates ranging from 2.33% to 4.92% per annum.

8.2.2 Plant and machinery includes amount of Rs. 124.68 million in respect of trial production cost of denim sampling unit.

8.2.3 Capital stores include factory tools and equipments, office equipments, electric installations and furniture and fixtures that are held in store for future 
use and capitalization.

8.3 Details of immovable property in the name of the Company:

Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book Value Sale Proceeds
Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of Disposal Particulars of Buyers

Rupees in ‘000 

Mercedes - Benz E300  14,195  6,700  7,495  7,495  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Honda Civic  2,666  89  2,577  2,577  -   Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Honda Civic Oriel  2,988  149  2,839  2,838  (1) Transferred
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - 
Associated Company

Toyota Corolla Gli  1,849  702  1,147  1,147  -   Negotiation Interloop Welfare Trust 

Sub Total  100,170  50,478  49,692  47,397  (2,295)

Other assets having book value 
below Rs. 500,000 each

 284,617  180,967  103,650  86,570  (17,080)

Total - 2019  458,865  276,017  182,848  135,295  (47,553)

Total - 2018  245,558  139,961  105,597  66,452  (39,145)

Usage Location Area

Plant 1 Chak # 76 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 19 Acres 7 Kanals 12 Marlas
Chak # 194 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 2 Acres 8 Kanals 13 Marlas
Chak # 108 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 9 Marlas

Interloop Industrial  
Park - (Plant 2, Plant 4 & Spinning)

Chak # 103 RB, 7 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 97 Acres 19 Kanals 9 Marlas 5 Sarsai

Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 14 Acres 3 Kanals 12 Marlas
Chak # 103 RB, 7 - KM, Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 38 Acres 15 Kanals 15 Marlas

Plant 3 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. Kasur, Lahore. 41 Acres 3 Kanals 8 Marlas

Denim Division 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. Kasur, Lahore. 26 Acres 7 Kanals 14 Marlas

Plant 5 Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 75 Acres 13 Kanals 13 Marlas

Apparel Unit Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 28 Acres 3 Kanals 16 Marlas

Office Block Chak # 200 RB, Near Toll Plaza Gatwala, Lathianwala, Faisalabad. 2 Acres 13 Marlas 5 Sarsai

{
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10. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS  

Un-quoted associate - at equity method

IL Bangla Limited  10.1  93,540  115,456 

10.1    Investment in associated company - under equity method

Opening balance  115,456  152,437 
Share of (loss)/profit for the year  (58,485)  (53,032)
Exchange gain  36,569  16,051 

 (21,916)  (36,981)

Closing balance  93,540  115,456 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

9. INTANGIBLE ASSET  

Computer Software

Cost:
Opening balance  98,196  92,619 
Addition during the year  36,854  5,899 
Deletion during the year  -    (322)

 135,050  98,196 

Amortization:
Opening balance  55,785  45,415 
For the year amortization  9,182  10,427 

Adjustment on disposal  -    (57)

 64,967  55,785 

Net book value  70,083  42,411 

Amortization rate 20% 20%
12. LONG TERM DEPOSITS  

Security deposits - unsecured  33,120  24,817 
Lease key money  -    238 

 33,120  25,055 

13. STORES AND SPARES

Stores  235,586  185,234 
Spares  654,818  593,964 

 890,404  779,198 

14. STOCK IN TRADE

Raw material  3,735,355  3,166,265 
Work in process  597,562  471,276 
Finished goods  1,965,058  1,484,177 

 6,297,975  5,121,718 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

11.2    Loan to director

Opening balance  -    -   
Add: disbursement made during the year 11.2.1  33,250  -   

 33,250  -   

Less: amount received during the year  -    -   

 33,250  -   

Less: receivable within twelve months  (3,100)  -   

 30,150  -   

11.2.1 This represents loan paid to the directors as per house building finance policy. Under the policy, home ownership grant of Rs. 2.5 million and mortgage 
assistance of Rs. 30.75 million is disbursed during the year. Tenure of both the home ownership grant and mortgage assistance is for a period of six 
years. Mortgage assistance is repayable in 60 equal monthly installments along with mark up thereon.

11. LONG TERM LOANS  

Considered good - Secured

Loans to employees  11.1  43,112  60,747 
Loan to director  11.2  30,150  -   

 73,262  60,747 

11.1    Loans to employees

Opening balance  108,496  92,647 
Add: disbursement made during the year 11.1.1  78,870  69,149 

 187,366  161,796 

Less: amount received during the year  (90,571)  (53,300)

 96,795  108,496 
Less: receivable within twelve months  (53,683)  (47,749)

 43,112  60,747 

11.1.1 These loans are given to employees as per approved policy of the Company and are secured against employees retirement benefits.

15. TRADE DEBTS 

Considered good:

Foreign
- Secured 15.1  4,276,821  3,154,733 

- Unsecured  3,564,083  3,809,375 

 7,840,904  6,964,108 

Local
- Unsecured  433,158  328,900 

 8,274,062  7,293,008 

15.1 It includes receivables from following related parties;

IL Bangla Limited  44,280  40,366 

Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited  352,636  84,944 

Eurosox Plus BV  293,422  112,511 

 690,338  237,821 

15.2   The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 1,052.51 million (2018: Rs. 
319.60 million).

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

202 203

20
18

 -
 1

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

15.3   At June 30, 2019, trade debts due from related parties aggregating to Rs. 298.17 million (2018: Rs. 163.99 million) were past due but not impaired. 
The ageing analysis of these trade debts is as follows:

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

Not yet due  392,170  73,828 
Upto 1 month  119,452  108,536 
More than 1 month  178,716  55,457 

 690,338  237,821 

16. LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Considered good:

Loans
Current portion of loans to employees - Secured 11.1  53,683  47,749 
Current portion of loan to director - Secured 11.2  3,100  -   
Metis international (Pvt) Limited - Secured 16.1  9,560  33,414 

Advances

Advances to suppliers
Advances to employees 16.2  1,002,980  536,580 

 7,401  -   

 1,076,724  617,743 

16.1   This loan was given in foreign currency amounting to US$ 275,000 at rate of 15% per annum. Upon lapse of payment date, additional mark up at the 
rate of 2.5% will be charged on monthly mark up installment due for each day of delay upto a maximum of 20%. The loan is secured through an irrevo-
cable lien/charge on total assets of the Metis International (Pvt) Limited.

16.2   Advances to employees are given to meet business expenses and are settled as and when expenses are incurred.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000
18. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Mutual Funds - Fair value through profit or loss: 18.1 & 18.2

Alfalah GHP Income Multiplier Fund  -    56,657 
Alfalah GHP Alfa Fund  17,306  20,740 
Alfalah GHP Sovereign Fund  58,944  -   
Meezan Islamic Fund  34,795  45,978 
Meezan Sovereign Fund  7  7 
NAFA Financial Sector Income Fund  909  -   
NAFA Islamic Energy Fund  -    24,040 
NAFA Stock Fund  16,986  -   
NAFA Money Market Fund  1,555  -   
UBL Growth And Income Fund  -    3 
UBL Government Securities Fund  394  -   

 130,896  147,425 

Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) - Amortized cost: 18.3

The Bank of Punjab  150,347  -   

National Bank of Pakistan  790,908  -   

 941,255  -   

Sales Tax Refund Bonds - Amortized cost: 18.4

FBR Refund Settlement Company (Private) Limited  135,100  -   

 1,207,251  147,425 

17. DEPOSIT, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

Deposit
L/C margin  73,295  -   

Prepayment
Insurance premium  40,522  25,211 

Other receivables   
Receivables from related parties 17.1  83,980  78,743 
Accrued interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Limited  10,441  2,401 
Others  -    65,536 

 208,238  171,891 

17.1    Receivables from related parties include receivables from:

IL Bangla Limited - Unquoted associate 17.4  82,766  76,970 
Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd - an associated undertaking  -    1,273 
Interloop Welfare Trust  1,214  -   
Interloop Limited ESOS Management Trust  -    500 

 83,980  78,743 

17.2   The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 83.98 million (2018: Rs. 78.74 
million).

17.3    At June 30, 2019, receivables aggregating to Rs. 83.98 million (2018: Rs. 78.74 million) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these 
receivables is as follows:

Upto 1 month  7,154  1,773 
More than 1 month  76,826  76,970 

 83,980  78,743 

17.4     This represents balance receivable against payments made on behalf of IL Bangla Limited. Interest is charged at effective rate of 7.53% per annum.

Name of the investee
Number of  

shares / units 
as at June 30, 2019

Average Cost  
as at June 30, 2019

Fair value  
as at June 30, 2019

Remeasurement loss 
 as at June 30, 2019

No. of units '000 Rupees in ‘000

Alfalah GHP Alfa Fund  308.8077  22,272  17,306  (4,966)

Alfalah GHP Sovereign Fund  554.0604  61,221  58,944  (2,277)

Meezan Islamic Fund  725.9510  45,978  34,795  (11,183)

Meezan Sovereign Fund  0.1371  7  7  -   

NAFA Financial Sector Income Fund  86.5028  924  909  (15)

NAFA Stock Fund  1,416.4747  19,307  16,986  (2,321)

NAFA Money Market Fund  157.5662  1,563  1,555  (8)

UBL Government Securities Fund  3.7222  411  394  (17)

Total  3,253.2220  151,683  130,896  (20,787)

18.2    Fair values of these investments are determined using quoted market / repurchase price.

18.3    Short term investment in TDRs earned interest at effective rate of 11.55% to 12.05% per annum.

18.4    By virtue of enactment of section 67A in the Sales Tax Act, 1990, Sales Tax Refunds claimant have been given option to receive their refunds in shape 
of Sales Tax Refund Bonds which have been directly credited to the Corporate Investor Account maintained with CDC (Central Depository Company of 
Pakistan Limited) .

The bonds so issued have a maturity period of three (3) years and shall bear simple profit at the rate of 10% per annum. The bonds are freely tradable 
in Pakistan’s secondary markets and shall be approved security for calculating the statutory liquidity reserve and shall be acceptable by the banks as 
collateral security. After period of maturity, the Company shall return the bonds to the Board and the Board shall make the payment of amount due under 
the bonds, along with profit due, to the bond holders.

The bonds shall be redeemable before maturity only at the option of the Board along with simple profit payable at the time of redemption in the light of 
general or specific policy to be formulated by the Board.

The management intend to trade and redeem these bonds in near future, therefore, these are grouped in short term investments.

18.1    Detail of Investment in Mutual Funds
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2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000
19. TAX REFUNDS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT  

Duty drawback  647,238  1,054,370 
Sales tax refundable  418,427  532,070 
Income tax refundable  883,453  865,372 

 1,949,118  2,451,812 

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES  

Cash in hand
Cash at banks  27,837  12,051 

In current accounts
In foreign currency accounts  1,443,807  151,470 

 71,263  32,418 

 1,515,070  183,888 

 1,542,907  195,939 

21. AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018 2019 2018
Number of shares in '000  Rupees in ‘000

 965,000  265,000 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each  9,650,000  2,650,000 

 35,000  35,000 Non-voting ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each  350,000  350,000 

 1,000,000  300,000  10,000,000  3,000,000 

22. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP CAPITAL

2019 2018
Number of shares in '000

 130,900  21,400 Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid in cash  1,309,000  214,000 

 738,500  168,200 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued as fully paid  
bonus shares

 7,385,000  1,682,000 

 1,266  510 
Non-voting ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each fully  
paid in cash

 12,662  5,104 

 1,531  -   
Non-voting ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued  
as fully paid bonus shares

 15,313  -   

 872,197  190,110  8,721,975  1,901,104 

22.1 Movement in issued, subscribed and paid up capital

Ordinary Shares of Rs. 10 each fully  
paid in cash

Ordinary Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid 
bonus shares

Note Voting  Non-Voting Voting  Non-Voting 

Number of shares in ‘000

Opening balance  21,400  510  168,200  -   

Issued during the year 22.1.1  109,500  756  570,300  1,531 

Closing balance  130,900  1,266  738,500  1,531 

22.1.1 During the year the Company has issued 109 million ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each in Initial Public Offerings (IPO). (Note. 1.1.2)

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

23. RESERVES  

Capital reserve

Share premium 23.1  3,791,602  30,255 

Revenue reserve

Translation reserves 10.1  52,620  16,051 
Employee share option compensation reserve 23.2  -    8,608 

 3,844,223  54,914 

23.1 This represents premium received over and above face value of the shares issued to institutional investors, high net worth individuals and general public 
through initial public offering (IPO) and employees of the Company through employees stock option scheme (ESOS). This reserve can be utilized by the 
Company only for the purposes specified in section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017. 

23.2 EMPLOYEES SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ESOS)

The shareholders of the Company has approved Interloop Limited - Employee Stock Options Scheme, 2016 (“the scheme”) for grant of options to 
certain eligible employees to purchase ordinary shares (non-voting) of the Company, to be determined by the Compensation Committee constituted by 
the Board of directors of the Company. 

Under the Scheme, the Company may grant options to eligible employees selected by the Compensation Committee, from time to time, which shall not 
at any time exceed 15% of the paid up capital (ordinary and voting) of the Company (as increased from time to time). The option entitles an employee to 
purchase shares at an exercise price determined in accordance with the mechanism defined in the scheme at the date of grant. The aggregate number 
of shares for all options to be granted under the scheme to any single eligible employee shall not, at any time, exceed 3% of the paid up capital (ordinary 
and voting) of the Company (as increased from time to time). Further the grant of options in any one calendar year exceeding 3% of the paid up capital 
(ordinary and voting) shall require approval of the shareholders. However, once the number of shares issued under this scheme equal fifteen percent 
(15%) of the paid up capital (ordinary and voting) of the Company, the entitlement pool shall be exhausted and this Scheme shall cease to operate, 
notwithstanding any subsequent increase in the paid up capital.

The options will have a vesting period of one year and an exercise period of one year from the date options are vested as laid down in the scheme. 
Option price shall be payable by the employee on the exercise of options in full or part. The options will lapse after completion of one year from the date 
options are vested if not exercised.

Shares issued in response to exercise of options shall be Non-Voting Ordinary Shares, hereinafter called “Class B Shares” and shall not; 

(i) have voting rights or right to receive notice, attend and vote at the general meeting of the Company, except and otherwise provided by 
     the Companies Act, 2017; and

(ii) be entitled for right shares (Ordinary and Voting).

Shares issues under this scheme will convert into ordinary shares after 3 years from the date of listing of the Company or after completion of 3 years 
from the date of issue, whichever is later. The Company will not be obliged to buy back the shares. However, if the employees wishes to sell the shares, 
the Company may buy back the shares at the lesser of the prevailing price on the securities exchange or at the break up value of the shares determined 
as per the latest audited financial statements of the Company.

Before listing of the Company fair value of the options was determined based on the break up value of shares and exercise price at the date of each 
grant of options. Exercise price was determined based on latest available audited financial statements of the Company. After listing of the Company 
the exercise price shall be the weighted average of the closing market price of shares of the Company for the last 30 days prior to the date of grant of 
options.

Due to issuance of bonus shares of 300% of the existing paid up capital of the Company in current year and demerger of the investment segment of the 
Company into Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited in last year, the break up value of the shares had been reduced to Rs. 11.91 per share. This necessitated 
the repricing of the existing options outstanding during the year. Moreover, the existing exercise price of Rs. 76.04 per share was also not attractive at 
the moment due to the floor price of Rs. 45 per share set in the draft prospectus for the proposed IPO duly approved by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and the Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX) till date. Accordingly it was proposed to offer exercise price for outstanding 
options at Rs. 35 per share to make it more lucrative for the proposed eligible employees. 

The shareholders of the Company in their meeting held on March 5, 2019 resolved to reprice the options already granted and pending for exercise un-
der the Company’s Employees Stock Option Scheme, from initial exercise price of Rs. 76.04 per share to the revised price of Rs. 35 per share, without 
any change or modification in any other specific terms and conditions under which such options have been granted in accordance with rule 7(ii)of the 
Public Companies (Employees Stock Option Scheme) Rules, 2001 read with sub clause 3 of clause 6 of Chapter III of the Guidelines for Structuring and 
Offering of the Employees Stock Option Schemes approved by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan. 

Information about outstanding number of options at the end of the year is as follows:
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2019 2018

No. of options ‘000

Options outstanding at the beginning of the year  1,399  1,341 
Options granted during the year  -    933 
Options declined/lapsed but subsequently offered  426  -   
Options exercised during the year  (790)  (172)
Options expired/lapsed during the year  (465)  (703)

Options outstanding at the end of the year  570  1,399 

The Company’s management is of the view that no further options would be exercised from the outstanding balance as the same has already been 
declined by the eligible employees and management does not intend to reoffer the same. Therefore, no further expense or employee share option 
compensation reserve is created in these financial statements.

Further, it is pertinent to mention here that the scheme is not in operation since listing of the Company on PSX primarily due to the fact that the terms of 
the scheme require to be consistent with the increased legal compliance for a listed entity. The proposal for subject updation in the Existing scheme is 
under review and pending approval from shareholders of the Company and SECP respectively.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

24. LONG TERM FINANCING  

From financial institutions - secured

Diminishing musharika 24.1  2,140,117  2,263,222 
Syndicated finance facility 24.2  542,857  814,286 
Syndicated finance facility (BMR) 24.3  96,208  138,968 
Islamic long term finance facility - ILTFF 24.4  696,754  -   

 3,475,936  3,216,476 

From related party - unsecured

Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited - associated company 24.5  1,400,000  -   

 4,875,936  3,216,476 

Less: Current portion of long term financing  (1,247,191)  (968,540)

 3,628,745  2,247,936 

24.1 These  loans have been obtained under diminishing musharika arrangements and are repayable in quarterly installments. These are secured against 
1st joint pari passu charge - JPP of Rs. 6,468 million (2018: 1,474 million) over fixed assets, specific/exclusive charge of Rs. 1,992 million (2018: 3,015 
million) on fixed assets (plant and machinery) and ranking charge of Rs. 718 million (2018: 1,978 million) on  fixed assets of the Company. Mark up is 
charged at the rate of 3 months KIBOR plus 0.10% to 0.50% per annum (2018: 3 months KIBOR plus 0.10% to 0.75% per annum).

24.2 The company has entered into a syndicated long term finance facility arrangement for Rs. 1,900 million with a consortium of local banks for acquisition 
of certain assets from Kohinoor Mills Limited. The repayment of this loan is to be made in quarterly installments and the loan is secured against the 1st 
specific charge of Rs. 2,933.34 million (2018: 2,933.34 million) over the fixed assets of Interloop Limited (Hosiery Division III). The mark up is charged at 
the fixed rate of 5% per annum (2018: 5% per annum).   

24.3 The Company has also entered into syndicated long term finance facility arrangement for Rs. 300 million with a consortium of local banks for Balancing, 
Modernization and Replacement (BMR) of assets purchased from Kohinoor Mills Limited. The repayment of loan is to be made in quarterly installments 
and securities are same as mentioned in note 24.2 above. Markup is charged at the rate of 03 months KIBOR plus 1.3% per annum (2018: 03 months 
KIBOR plus 1.3% per annum).

24.4 The Company has obtained Islamic Long Term Finance Facility - ILTFF of Rs. 1,500 million for purchase of plant and machinery for a period of 10 years 
including 2 year grace period. Repayment of loan is to be made in quarterly installments and is secured against 1st JPP charge of Rs. 3,734 million 
(2018: nil) over land, building and plant and machinery of the Company. This 1st JPP charge of Rs. 3,734 million is same on both ILTFF and diminishing 
musharika facilities from HBL and is included in aggregate charge mentioned in note 23.1 above. Markup is charged at SBP ILTFF rate plus 0.75% per 
annum (2018: nil). 

24.5 The Company “Interloop Limited” has entered into loan agreement with Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited upto an amount of Rs. 3 billion for period of 
three years including one year grace period. Mark up is charged at the rate of 5% per annum and will be paid till 15th of every month, following the end 
of every quarter. Upon lapse of payment date, the Company shall pay late payment charges equivalent to 2% of the monthly mark up installment due 
for each day of late payment, which may be considered to waive off at the discretion of management of Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited. The loan is 
unsecured but is made with full recourse against the Company and its successors. 

2019 2018

 Rupees in ‘000

25. LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS 
      SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE

 

Future minimum lease payments  -    1,146 
Less: Un-amortized finance charges  -    (61)
Present value of future minimum lease payments  -    1,085 
Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities  -    (470)

 -    615 

2018

 Not later than one 
year 

 Later than one year 
and not later than 

five years 

Rupees in ‘000

Future minimum lease payments  519  627 
Less: Un-amortized finance charges  (49)  (12)

Present value of future minimum lease payments  470  615 

25.1 During the year the Company has paid off all its lease liability. 

25.2 The amount of future payments of the lease and the period in which these payments will become due are as follows:

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

26. DEFERRED LIABILITIES  

Staff retirement benefits 26.1  2,497,894  1,925,612 

26.1 Staff retirement benefits

Gratuity 26.1.2  2,497,894  1,925,612 

26.1.1 General description

This represents an unfunded gratuity scheme which provides termination benefits for all employees of the Company who attain the minimum 
qualifying period. The latest actuarial valuation of the defined benefit plan was carried out as at June 30, 2019 using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) 
Actuarial Cost Method. Details of the defined benefit plan are as follows:

26.1.2   Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening balance  1,925,612  1,580,325 

Expenses recognized in the statement of profit or loss 26.1.3  527,598  417,798 
Remeasurement changes chargeable to other comprehensive income 26.1.5  192,825  91,719 
Paid during the year  (131,021)  (153,266)
Balance transferred to Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited  (17,120)  (503)
Disposal of Interloop Dairies Limited  -    (10,461)

Closing balance  2,497,894  1,925,612 

26.1.3   Expenses recognized in the statement of profit or loss

Current service cost  341,588  301,334 
Interest cost  186,010  116,464 

 527,598  417,798 

26.1.4   Amounts charged in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Cost of sales  444,633  354,187 
Distribution expenses  14,787  11,498 
Administrative expenses  68,178  52,113 

 527,598  417,798 
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27.1 It includes an amount of Rs. 209.855 million (2018: Rs. 188.219 million) relating to infrastructure cess payable.

Honourable Sindh High Court in its decision dated 17 September, 2008 declared the imposition of infrastructure cess before December 28, 2006 as 
void and invalid. However, the Excise and Taxation Department filed an appeal before the Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan. The Honourable 
Supreme court of Pakistan had disposed off the appeal with a joint statement of the parties that during the pendency of the appeal, another law i.e. fifth 
version came into existence which was not the subject matter of the appeal hence the case was referred back to High Court of Sindh with right to appeal 
to Supreme Court. On May 31, 2011, the High Court of Sindh had granted an interim relief on an application of petitioners on certain terms including 
discharge and return of bank guarantees / security furnished on consignment released up to December 27, 2006 and any bank guarantee / security 
furnished on consignment released after December 27, 2006 shall be encashed to extent of 50% of the guaranteed or secured amount only with balance 
kept intact till the disposal of petition. In case the High Court upholds the applicability fifth version of law and its retrospective application, the authorities 
are entitled to claim the amounts due under the said law with the right to appeal available to petitioner. In the light of interim relief the Company has paid 
50% of the amount of Infrastructure cess. Imports of the Company are being released against 50% payment of Infrastructure cess to Excise and Taxation 
Department and furnishing of bank guarantee of balance amount.

The Government of Punjab imposed Punjab Infrastructure Development Levy in terms of the Punjab Infrastructure Development Cess Act, 2015 (the 
Act) read with PRA Notification No.PRA/IDC/2015 dated 16.05.2016 and PRA order No.PRA/Orders.08/2015 dated 23.05.2016. The Company being 
aggrieved filed writ petition vide WP No.24536 of 2016 before Honorable Lahore High Court challenging the constitutionality of the Act .  The Lahore 
High Court on 28.07.2016 granted interim relief for clearance of goods subject to payment of 50% of the disputed amount and upon furnishing of a bank 
guarantee for the balance of 50% of the amount. 

Both the above referred cases are pending litigation before respective Honorable High Courts.  The case of Sindh High Court is pending adjudication, 
whereas case preferred before Honorable Lahore High Court has been fixed for 24.09.2019. 

However the full amount of Infrastructure Cess forms component of cost of imported items and provision recorded in books. Bank guarantees furnished 
ragarding imposition of infrastructure cess have been disclosed in note - 31.1 to these financial statements.

27.2 This includes amount of Rs. 337,814/- payable to ESOS Management Trust for payments received against issuance of shares to employees under 
ESOS.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

26.1.5   Total remeasurement chargeable to other comprehensive income

Remeasurement of plan obligation:
Actuarial gain from changes in demographic assumptions  -    (75,521)
Actuarial losses from changes in financial assumptions  97,569  67,823 
Experience adjustments  95,256  99,417 

 192,825  91,719 

2019 2018
26.1.6   Principal actuarial assumptions used

Discount rate used for profit and loss charge 10.00% 7.75%
Discount rate for year end obligation 14.50% 10.00%

Salary increase used for year end obligation
Salary increase for FY 2019 N/A 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2020 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2021 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2022 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2023 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2024 14.00% 9.25%
Salary increase for FY 2025 onward 14.00% 9.25%

Demographic assumption
Mortality rates (for deaths in service) SLIC SLIC

2001-2005 2001-2005
Setback 1 year Setback 1 year

Retirement assumption 60 years 60 years

26.1.7 The expected contribution to defined benefit obligation for the year ending June 30, 2020 will be Rs. 746.576 million.

26.1.8 Sensitivity analysis

 The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to assumptions set out above. The following table summarizes how the impact on the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have increased / (decreased) as a result of a change in respective assumptions by 
100 bps.

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

Discount rate + 100 bps  (2,246,150)  (1,728,390)
Discount rate - 100 bps  2,799,035  2,165,469 
Salary change + 100 bps  2,802,607  2,169,128 
Salary change - 100 bps  (2,238,597)  (1,721,659)

The sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation to the significant actuarial assumptions has been performed using the same calculation 
techniques as applied for calculation of defined benefit obligation reported in the balance sheet.

26.1.9 The average duration of defined benefit obligation for the year ended 2019 is 11 years (2018: 11 years).

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors 27.1  848,521  889,974 
Accrued liabilities  2,240,530  1,464,173 
Advances from customers 27.2  7,397  13,510 
Other payables  154,457  127,403 
Employees provident fund trust  5,059  4,315 
Withholding tax payable 27.3  84,180  20,286 
Workers' profit participation fund  285,500  210,828 

 3,625,644  2,730,489 

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

27.3    Workers’ profit participation fund

Opening Balance  210,828  168,111 
Interest on funds utilized in the Company's business  21,425  7,403 

 232,253  175,514 

Less: paid during the year  (232,068)  (163,041)

 185  12,473 

Add: allocation for the year  285,315  215,040 

Less: Disposal of Interloop Dairies Limited  285,500  227,513 

 -    (16,685)

 285,500  210,828 

28. ACCRUED MARK UP 

Mark up on:
Long term financing  46,259  36,228 
Short term borrowings  67,683  101,628 

 113,942  137,856 

29. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

From banking companies - Secured
Under mark up arrangements

ERF - II  11,726,000  11,021,000 
FAPC - own source 29.1  -    2,750,000 
Running finance  129,742  1,263,364 

From related parties - Unsecured
Chief executive and directors  -    146,573 

 11,855,742  15,180,937 

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

210 211

20
18

 -
 1

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

29.1 These are secured against first Joint Pari Passu (JPP) charge of Rs. 27,351.83 million (2018: 26,083.33 million), ranking charge of Rs. 2,632 million 
(2018: Nil) by all the lending banks over all present and future current assets of the Company and lien over import/export documents. The total limits 
available to the Company for short term borrowings from all the banks are amounting to Rs. 25,250 million (2018: 19,562.5 million). 

Mark up is charged as;

ERF - II                    SBP rate + 0.25 to 0.30% p.a (2018: SBP rate + 0.25% to 0.40% p.a).

FAPC - own source   3 months Kibor + 0.25 to 0.50% p.a (2018: 3 to 6 months Kibor + 0.25 to 1.00% p.a)

Running finance        1 to 3 months Kibor + 0.20 to 1.00% p.a (2018: 1 to 3 months Kibor + 0.20 to 1.00% p.a)

2019 2018
Note  Rupees in ‘000

30. CURRENT PORTION OF NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term financing 24  1,247,191  968,540 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 25  -    470 

 1,247,191  969,010 

31. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  

31.1  Contingencies

31.1.1  Bank guarantees issued by various banks on behalf of the company in favour of:

Sui Northern Gas Pipelines limited against supply of gas.  547,069  386,804 

The Director, Excise and Taxation, Karachi against imposition of infrastructure cess  198,853  172,853 

Faisalabad Electric Supply Company (FESCO) against supply of electricity.  70,414  70,414 

Punjab Revenue Authority  8,033  4,335 

State Bank of Pakistan  127,551  25,000 

 951,920  659,406 

31.1.2   Post dated cheques issued in favour of custom authorities for release of imported 
goods

 3,291,613  2,643,166 

31.3      Commitments

Under letters of credit for:

Capital expenditure  1,275,725  747,706 
Raw material  109,974  209,206 
Stores and spares  136,399  37,153 

 1,522,098  994,065 

32. SALES - NET

Export sales 32.1  33,978,768  27,518,696 
Local sales  3,770,209  4,850,087 

Gross sales  37,748,977  32,368,783 

Less:
Sales discount  (206,793)  (206,052)
Sales tax  (31,122)  (20,773)

 (237,915)  (226,825)

 37,511,062  32,141,958 

32.1 It includes exchange gain amounting to Rs. 2,259.977 million (2018: Rs. 890.620 million).

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

33. COST OF SALES  

Raw material consumed 33.1  15,707,302  13,312,629 
Stores and spares consumed 33.2  859,712  836,747 
Feed, health and breeding expenses  -    674,172 
Knitting charges  18,930  192,135 

Salaries, wages and benefits 33.3  5,574,179  5,068,623 

Staff retirement gratuity 26.1.4  444,633  354,187 
Fuel and power  2,264,744  1,926,612 
Repairs and maintenance  129,769  144,389 
Insurance  52,485  85,903 
Depreciation 8.1.2  1,497,725  1,404,282 
Rent, rate and taxes  32,900  32,305 

Other manufacturing costs  238,042  85,766 

 26,820,421  24,117,750 
Work in process  

Opening balance  471,276  450,678 
Closing balance  (597,562)  (471,276)

 (126,286)  (20,598)

Cost of goods manufactured  26,694,135  24,097,152 

Finished goods

Opening balance  1,484,177  1,120,718 
Closing balance  (1,965,058)  (1,484,177)

 (480,881)  (363,459)

Duty drawback  (569,539)  (850,604)

 25,643,715  22,883,089 

33.1 Raw material consumed

Opening balance 3,166,265 1,994,485 
Purchases  16,276,392  14,484,409 

19,442,657 16,478,894 

Closing balance  (3,735,355)  (3,166,265)

 15,707,302  13,312,629 

33.2  Stores and spares consumed

Opening balance  779,198  702,029 
Purchases  970,918  913,916 

 1,750,116  1,615,945 

Closing balance  (890,404)  (779,198)

 859,712  836,747 

33.3 Salaries, wages and benefits include Rs. 6.321 million (2018: Rs. 5.489 million) in respect of the provident fund contribution.

34. DISTRIBUTION COST  

Sea and air freight  50,165  47,672 
Shipping expenses  623,897  660,682 
Selling commission  1,757,956  1,621,212 
Export development surcharge  83,310  66,600 
Marketing and advertisement  61,492  77,900 
Staff salaries and benefits 34.1  201,868  154,966 
Staff retirement gratuity 26.1.4  14,787  11,498 
Others  918  483 

 2,794,393  2,641,013 

34.1 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 0.961 million (2018: Rs. 0.715 million) in respect of the provident fund contribution.
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2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

35.   ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Directors' remuneration   111,952  111,470 
Staff salaries and benefits 35.1 & 35.2  1,066,010  845,765 
Staff retirement gratuity 26.1.4  68,178  52,113 
Postage and communication  39,254  35,157 
Electricity, gas and water  22,135  19,766 
Rent, rates and taxes  122,419  71,842 
Printing and stationery  63,218  53,388 
Travelling and conveyance  114,820  100,491 
Vehicles running and maintenance  24,491  20,989 
Legal and professional  74,578  41,010 
Repairs and maintenance  46,548  50,283 
Auditors' remuneration 35.4  3,000  1,786 
Insurance  18,221  17,359 
Entertainment  52,221  51,113 
Advertisement  17,576  4,379 
Newspapers and periodicals  1,190  656 
Depreciation 8.1.2  155,328  137,664 
Amortization 9  9,182  10,427 
Others  18,319  13,552 

 2,028,640  1,639,210 

35.1 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 4.746 million (2018: Rs. 3.804 million) in respect of the provident fund contribution.

35.2 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 5.031 million (2018: Rs. 4.188 million) in respect of employees’ share option compensation expense.

35.3 The investments out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Companies Act, 2017 and conditions 
specified thereunder.

35.4  Auditors' remuneration

Annual audit fee  1,950  1,376 
Other certification  400  260 
Half yearly review  500  -   
Out of pocket expenses  150  150 

 3,000  1,786 

36. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Exchange loss - net  15,272  12,801 
Loss on disposal of biological assets  -    25,871 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8.1.1  47,553  39,145 
Loss on disposal of subsidiary  -    147,065 
Charity and donations 36.1  350,176  104,847 
Workers' profit participation fund 27.3  285,315  215,040 

Loss on mutual funds measured at fair value through profit or loss 36.2  15,886  58,257 

 714,202  603,026 

36.1  Charity and donations
Donations include the following in which a director or his spouse has an interest;

Name of Donee Interest in Donee Name of Director

Interloop Welfare Trust Trustees Mr. Navid Fazal  99,223  21,766 
Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain
Mrs. Sheren Aftab
Mr. Jahanzeb Khan Banth
Mr. Muhammad Maqsood

2019 2018

Note  Rupees in ‘000

36.2   Loss on mutual funds measured at fair value through profit or loss;

Remeasurement loss on investment in mutual funds - fair value through profit or loss 18.1  20,787  10,908 

Realized loss on investment in mutual funds - fair value through profit or loss  915  49,177 

Dividend income on investment in mutual funds - fair value through profit or loss  (5,816)  (1,828)

 15,886  58,257 

37.   OTHER INCOME

Income from financial assets

Interest on long term loan to SNGPL  -    16 
Interest on loan to Metis International (Pvt) Ltd  7,211  8,923 
Profit on TDR's  1,437  43,198 
Interest on receivables from IL Bangla Limited  5,796  -   

Profit on deposit accounts  -    2,821 

Income from financial assets

Miscellaneous  -    129 

 14,444  55,087 

38.   FINANCE COST

Mark up on:
  Short term borrowings  555,942  269,986 
  Long term financing  315,730  153,931 
Interest on workers' profit participation fund 27.3  21,425  7,403 
Lease finance charges  14  129 
Bank charges and commission  106,149  67,507 

 999,260  498,956 

39.   GAIN FROM CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Gain from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets  -    9,245 

40.   TAXATION

Current 40.1  226,260  132,737 
Prior years  -    6,599 
Deferred
   Origination and reversal of temporary differences  -    16,102 
   Impact of change in tax rate  -    (2,190)

 -    13,912 

 226,260  153,248 

40.1 The Company is chargeable to tax under section 154 and 169 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 and no temporary differences are expected to arise 
in the foreseeable future. Therefore, provision for deferred tax is not required. Reconciliation of tax expense and product of accounting profit multiplied 
by the applicable tax rate is also not required in view of presumptive taxation.

40.2 Section 5A of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 imposes tax at the rate of 5% on every public company other than a scheduled bank or Modaraba, that 
derives profits for a tax year but does not distribute at least 20% of accounting profit through cash dividend within six months of the end of said tax year.

The Company has distributed sufficient cash dividend, for the year ended June 30, 2018, which complies with the above stated requirements. Accord-
ingly, no provision for tax on undistributed profits has been recognized in the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019.
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2019 2018

41. EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED 

41.1  Earnings per share - basic

Profit for the year (Rupees in '000)  5,060,551  3,718,765 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
(Numbers in'000)

 778,750  189,993 

Add: Bonus shares issued after the reporting period 
(Numbers in '000)

 -    571,831 

 778,750  761,824 

Earnings per share - basic   (Rupees)  6.4983  4.8814 

41.2 Earnings per share - diluted

 There is a dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share of the Company, after taking into the effect of options granted on Company’s shares to employees 
of the Company under the Employee share option scheme (ESOS). Such dilution is based on the fair value of the Company’s shares, which is higher than 
the respective exercise price of options granted during the year.

Profit for the year (Rupees in ‘000)  5,060,551  3,718,765 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (Numbers in '000)  778,750  189,993 

Add: Weighted average adjustment for assumed conversion of employees' share options (Numbers in '000)  -    49 

Add: Bonus shares issued after the reporting period (Numbers in '000)  -    571,831 

Weighted average number of shares for determination of diluted earnings per share (Numbers in '000)  778,750  761,873 

Earnings per share - diluted   (Rupees)  6.4983  4.8811 

2019 2018
Note  Rupees in ‘000

42. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 20  1,542,907  195,939 
Short term investments - Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) 18  941,255  -   

 2,484,162  195,939 

43. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Balance  
as on July 01, 2018

Non Cash Changes Cash Flows
Balance  

as on June 30, 2019

Rupees in ‘000 

Long term financing  3,216,476  -    1,659,460  4,875,936 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  1,085  (238)  (847)  -   

Short term borrowings  15,180,937  -    (3,325,195)  11,855,742 

Dividend to ordinary shareholders  475,276  1,090,247  (1,434,588)  130,935 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital  1,901,104  5,718,313  1,102,558  8,721,975 

Share premium net of transaction cost  30,255  (21,629)  3,782,977  3,791,603 

 20,805,133  6,786,693  1,784,365  29,376,191 

44. REMUNERATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES
2019

Chief Executive Directors Executives
 Rupees in ‘000 

Managerial remuneration  24,008  43,442  240,236 
Medical allowance  -    170  6,060 
Bonus  3,750  4,300  29,924 
Superannuation fund  -    33,825  -   
Meetings fee  -    2,250  -   
Staff retirement gratuity  -    -    14,967 
Other allowances  -    207  57,356 

 27,758  84,194  348,543 

Number of persons 1 8 63

2018
Chief Executive Directors Executives

 Rupees in ‘000 

Managerial remuneration  21,450  72,870  145,244 
Medical allowance  -    -    3,589 
Bonus  3,400  13,750  16,003 
Staff retirement gratuity  -    -    7,732 
Other allowances  -    -    21,345 

 24,850  86,620  193,913 

Number of persons 1 9 45

The chief executive officer and directors are provided with company maintained cars. 

45.  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Related parties include associated companies and undertakings, entities under common directorship, directors, major shareholders, key management 
personnel, employees benefit trust and post employment benefit plans. The Company in the normal course of business carries out transactions with these 
related parties. Amounts due from and to related parties are shown under the relevant notes to the financial statements. Remuneration to directors and key 
management personnel is disclosed in note 44. Detail of transactions with related parties, other than those which have been specifically disclosed elsewhere 
in these financial statements are as follows:

Name Nature of transaction 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

IL Bangla Limited Sale of asset  -    7,225 
Expenses paid on behalf of associate  -    7,452 
Interest on receivables from IL Bangla Limited  5,796  -   

Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Expenses paid on behalf of associate  200  1,295 
Finance management services received from Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd  7,500  -   
Sale of assets  22,323  -   
Loan obtained during the year  3,000,000  -   
Loan repaid during the year  1,600,000  -   
Mark up expense on loan from Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Ltd  83,651  -   

Interloop Limited ESOS Management Trust Funds transfer for payment to withdrawal cases under ESOS  -    500 
Payment received on behalf of ESOS Management Trust - net  838  -   

Interloop Welfare Trust Sale of assets  1,214  -   

Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Sale of assets  58,100  20,766 
Sale of yarn  644,549  60,683 

Global Veneer Trading Limited Selling commission  884,278  282,630 

Eurosox Plus BV Sale of socks  693,658  15,863 
Reimbursement of expenses  5,129  3,234 

Key management personnel and other related parties Sale of vehicle  5,551  -   
House building finance loan  33,250  -   
Mark up on house building finance loan  923  -   
Repayment of loan  146,573  -   
Issuance of bonus shares  5,587,323  -   
Issuance of ordinary shares  3,000  -   
Dividend paid  1,400,733 
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Company Name
Basis of 

Relationship
Common Directorship /  

Percentage of shareholding
Address and Country of Incorporation

IL Bangla Limited Associate 31.61%
House # 267, Road # 19, New DOHS Mohakhali, Dhaka, 
Bangladesh

Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Dairies Limited Associate Common Directors Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Printkraft (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors Dagonna Road, Minuwangoda, Sri Lanka.
Global Veneer Trading Limited Associate N/A Bahnhofasteasse22, 6300 Zug, Switzerland.
Eurosox Plus BV Associate N/A Constructieweg 1, 7451 PS Holten, Netherlands
Interloop Welfare Trust Trustee N/A Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Limited ESOS Management Trust Trustee N/A Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Interloop Provident Fund Trust Trustee N/A Al-Sadiq Plaza, P-157, Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan

Denim Division Hosiery Division-V

Amount Utilized Outstanding LCs PRs/POs Issued Amount Utilized

Rupees in ‘000

Land and building  578,637  -    1,413,736  412,708 
Plant and machinery  339,803  912,123  265,892  40,744 
Power and utilities  83,288  -    426,445  10,168 
Miscellaneous expenses  103,440  -    13,159  68,251 
Advances to suppliers  789,124  -    -    -   

 1,894,292  912,123  2,119,232  531,871 

2019 2018

46. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Average number of employees during the year 16,579 15,434

Number of employees at end of the year 17,953 15,409

47. UTILIZATION OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company planned for setting up two new projects. 

- A socks knitting unit in Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, "Hosiery Division - V".
- A denim stitching unit in Lahore, "Denim Division".

Estimated cost of these two projects is as under;
2019

 Rupees in ‘000

Hosiery Division - V  4,454,000 
Denim Division  6,750,423 

 11,204,423 

These projects are financed through issuance of share capital to general public and financing from banks. For this purpose the Company carried out a successful 
IPO during the year and have secured islamic long term finance facilities from banks. Detail of the proceeds from IPO and financing required from banks is as under;

Proceeds from IPO  5,024,900 
Financing from banks  6,179,523 

 11,204,423 

As on June 30, 2019 progress of both the projects is as under;

45.1  Following are the related parties with whom the Company had entered into transactions or have arrangements / agreements in place.
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48.2  Reconciliation of reportable segment assets and liabilities

Hosiery Spinning Apparel Dairies Others Total Company

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in ‘000

Total assets for reportable segment  24,710,831  21,621,160  5,261,938  4,933,605  715,888  4,671  -    -    5,101,383  2,983,876  35,790,040  29,543,312 

Unallocated assets:

Long term investments  93,540  115,456 
Long term deposits  33,120  25,055 
Short term investments  1,207,251  147,425 
Tax refunds due from Government  1,949,118  2,451,812 
Cash and bank balances  1,542,907  195,939 
Other corporate assets  -    5,014 

 4,825,936  2,940,701 

Total assets as per balance sheet  40,615,976  32,484,013 

Total liabilities for reportable 
segment

 5,646,890  4,535,746  206,537  276,299  64,058  75  -    -    336,988  319,257  6,254,473  5,131,377 

Unallocated liabilities:

Long term financing  3,628,745  2,247,936 
Liabilities against assets subject
to finance lease

 -    615 

Short term borrowings  11,855,742  15,180,937 
Current portion of non current 
liabilities

 1,247,191  969,010 

Accrued mark up  113,942  137,856 

 16,845,620  18,536,354 

Total liabilities as per balance sheet  23,100,093  23,667,731 

48.3  Geographical information

 48.3.1 The Company’s revenue from external customers by geographical locations is detailed below:

Asia  3,940,408  2,704,549 
Europe  17,013,762  14,129,141 
North America  12,488,901  10,177,458 
South America  333,885  307,116 
Pakistan  3,734,106  4,823,694 

 37,511,062  32,141,958 

 48.3.2 All non-current assets of the Company as at reporting dates are located and operating in Pakistan.

48.4 The Company’s revenue is earned from a large mix of customers.

49. PLANT CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION

[ UOM ] 2019 2018

Figures in ‘000
Hosiery

Installed capacity - knitting [DZN]  57,871  51,289 
Actual production - knitting [DZN]  43,242  45,935 

Spinning

Installed capacity after conversion into 20/s [LBS]  29,949  29,949 
Actual production after conversion into 20/s [LBS]  26,630  27,219 

Yarn Dyeing

Installed capacity [KGs]  4,928  4,818 

Actual production [KGs]  4,324  4,440 

Active Wear & Apparel

The plant capacity of these divisions is indeterminable due to multi product plans involving varying processes of manufacturing and run length of order lots.

 49.1 Reasons for shortfall

The short fall in actual production during the year when compared with capacity is mainly on account of:

– The actual production is planned to meet the internal demand and orders in hand.

50. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying values of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

 Fair value hierarchy

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the company is a going concern and there is no intention or requirement to curtail materially the 
scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ requires the company to classify fair value measurements and fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements of fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 : Fair value measurements using quoted (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liability.

Level 2 : Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 : Fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of the reporting period during which the changes have occurred.

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does 
not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation 
of fair value.
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2019

Carrying amount Fair Value
Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Rupees in ‘000

On balance sheet financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments in mutual funds  130,896  -    -    130,896  130,896  -    -    130,896 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Long term loans  -    73,262  -    73,262  -    -    -    -   

Long term deposits  -    33,120  -    33,120  -    -    -    -   

Trade debts  -    8,274,062  -    8,274,062  -    -    -    -   

Loans and advances  -    66,343  -    66,343  -    -    -    -   

Other receivables  -    94,421  -    94,421  -    -    -    -   

Short term investments  -    1,076,355  -    1,076,355  -    -    -    -   

Cash and bank balances  -    1,542,907  -    1,542,907  -    -    -    -   

 130,896  11,160,470  -    11,291,366  130,896  -    -    130,896 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Long term financing  -    -    4,875,936  4,875,936  -    -    -    -   

Trade and other payables  -    -    3,248,567  3,248,567  -    -    -    -   

Dividend payable  -    -    130,935  130,935  -    -    -    -   

Accrued mark up  -    -    113,942  113,942  -    -    -    -   

Short term borrowings  -    -    11,855,742  11,855,742  -    -    -    -   

 -    -    20,225,122  20,225,122  -    -    -    -   

2018

Carrying amount Fair Value
Fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Amortized 
cost

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Rupees in ‘000

On balance sheet financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments in mutual funds  147,425  -    -    147,425  147,425  -    -    147,425 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Long term loans  -    60,747  -    60,747  -    -    -    -   

Long term deposits  -    24,817  -    24,817  -    -    -    -   

Trade debts  -    7,293,008  -    7,293,008  -    -    -    -   

Loans and advances  -    81,163  -    81,163  -    -    -    -   

Other receivables  -    146,680  -    146,680  -    -    -    -   

Cash and bank balances  -    195,939  -    195,939  -    -    -    -   

 147,425  7,802,354  -    7,949,779  147,425  -    -    147,425 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Long term financing  -    -    3,216,476  3,216,476  -    -    -    -   

Liabilities against assets subject to finance 
lease

 -    -    847  847  -    -    -    -   

Trade and other payables  -    -    2,485,865  2,485,865  -    -    -    -   

Dividend payable  -    -    475,276  475,276  -    -    -    -   

Accrued mark up  -    -    137,856  137,856  -    -    -    -   

Short term borrowings  -    -    15,180,937  15,180,937  -    -    -    -   

 -    -    21,497,257  21,497,257  -    -    -    -   
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working capital with a view to maintain an appropriate mix between 
various sources of finance to minimize risk. The Company follows an effective cash management and planning policy and maintains flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available. Market risks are managed by the Company through the adoption of appropriate policies to cover currency risks and 
interest rate risks.

The Company has exposures to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

– Market risk

– Credit risk

– Liquidity risk

51.1 Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk 
comprises interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk such as equity risk. The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position 
as at June 30, 2019 and 2018.

51.1.1 Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. Majority of the interest rate exposure arises from investments in term deposit receipts, long term and short term loans, short term borrowings, 
long term financing and liabilities against assets subject to finance lease. 

At the balance sheet date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest bearing financial instruments is as follow

2019 2018

Fixed rate instruments
Short term investments (Rupees in '000)  1,076,355  -   

Loan to Metis International (Pvt) Limited - Secured (Rupees in '000)  9,560  33,414 

Long term financing - Secured (Rupees in '000)  2,639,611  814,286 

Variable rate instruments

Loan to director - Secured (Rupees in '000)  33,250  -   
Effective interest rate in percentage  6.07  -   

Receivables from IL Bangla Limited (Rupees in '000)  82,766  -   
Effective interest rate in percentage  7.53  -   

Long term financing from financial institutions - Secured (Rupees in '000)  2,236,325  2,402,190 
Effective interest rate in percentage  13.35  7.33 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease - Secured (Rupees in '000)  -    847 
Effective interest rate in percentage  -    7.94 

Short term borrowings from financial institutions - Secured (Rupees in '000)  11,855,742  15,034,364 
Effective interest rate in percentage  3.03  4.17 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate 
at the balance sheet date would not affect statement of profit or loss of the Company.

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

If interest rates on loan, receivables, long term financing, liabilities against assets subject to finance lease and short term borrowings from banks, at the 
year end date, fluctuate by 100 bps higher / lower with all other variables, in particularly foreign exchange rates held constant, profit before taxation for 
the year 2019 and 2018 would have been affected as follows:

2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for loan to director  144  -   

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for receivables from IL Bangla Limited  786  -   

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for long term financing  14,696  15,188 

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for liabilities against assets subject to finance 
lease

 -    10 

Effect on profit and loss of an increase in interest rate for short term borrowings  63,191  61,542 

 78,817  76,740 

Decrease in interest rates at June 30 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts. Sensitivity analysis has been prepared on 
symmetric basis.

51.1.2 Currency risk / Foreign Exchange risk:

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exist due to foreign currency transactions.

 Exposure to Currency Risk

The Company’s exposure to currency risk is restricted to the amounts receivable from/payable to the foreign entities and bank balances which are 
denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the Company. The Company’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:

2019 2018

Particulars Currency F.Currency ‘000 Rupees in '000 F.Currency ‘000 Rupees in ‘000

Foreign currency bank accounts US $  390.39  64,024  261.55  31,752 
EUR   38.84  7,239  4.71  666 

 71,263  32,418 

Trade debts US $  47,810.39  7,840,904  57,364.98  6,964,108 

Loans and advances US $  58.48  9,560  275.00  33,414 

Less: Payables - Creditors US $  345.28  54,661  467.42  56,744 
EUR  152.36  28,490  89.78  12,688 
CNY  0.93  23  -    -   
CHF  0.45  75  0.35  43 

 83,249  69,475 

On Balance sheet Exposure  7,838,479  6,960,465 

Under letter of credit US $  4,160.32  684,373  1,971.64  239,357 
EUR  4,271.95  798,812  5,297.17  748,650 
JPY ¥  21,776.31  33,285  3,100.00  3,402 
GBP £  27.00  5,628  -    -    
CHF  -    -    21.75  2,656 

Off Balance Sheet Exposure  1,522,098  994,065 
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 The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year :

Foreign Currency
2019 2018

Average Rate Reporting Date Rate Average Rate Reporting Date Rate

[ R    U   P    E     E     S ] [ R    U   P    E     E     S ]

US $  142.70  164.00  113.10  121.40 

EUR   163.85  186.37  130.62  141.33 

GBP £  183.80  208.45  147.78  159.14 

CHF  145.07  168.03  115.83  122.11 

CNY  21.29  23.85  -    -   

JPY ¥  1.31  1.53  1.02  1.10 

  Currency rate sensitivity analysis

If the functional currency, at reporting date, had weakened by 10% against the foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the profit 
before taxation would have increased for the year 2019 and 2018 by the following amounts:

Foreign Currency 2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

US $  746,684  662,390 
EUR   (2,019)  (1,142)
CNY  (2)  -   
CHF  (7)  (4)

 744,655  661,244 

A 10% strengthening of the functional currency against foreign currencies at June 30 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts.

Currency risk sensitivity to foreign exchange movements has been calculated on a symmetric basis. The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remained constant.

 51.1.3 Other price risk:

Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices 
(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is exposed to price risk, because of 
the investments held by the Company in money market mutual funds, and classified on the balance sheet as fair value through profit and loss. To 
manage its price risk arising from investments in mutual funds, the Company diversifies its portfolio.

Short term investments include fair value through profit and loss investments of Rs. 130.90 million (2018: Rs. 147.43 million) which were subject to 
price risk.

If redemption price on mutual funds, at the year end date, fluctuate by 5% higher / lower with all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the 
year would have been Rs. 6,218 thousand (2018: 7,003 thousand) higher / lower, mainly as a result of higher / lower redemption price on units of 
mutual funds.

 51.2 Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk representing accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if one party to a financial instrument will fail 
to discharge an obligation or its failure to perform duties under the contract as contracted. Concentration of credit risk arises when a number 
of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations that is susceptible to changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of 
the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows :

Long term loans
Long term deposits  73,262  60,747 
Trade debts  33,120  24,817 
Loans and advances  8,274,062  7,293,008 
Other receivables  66,343  81,163 
Short term investments  94,421  146,680 
Bank balances  1,207,251  147,425 

 1,515,070  183,888 

 11,263,529  7,937,728 

Loans and advances consist of loans to employees & director and Metis International (Pvt) Ltd. Loans to employees and director are secured against 
their retirement benefits and loan to Metis International is also secured through an irrevocable lien/charge on total assets of the Metis International 
(Pvt) Limited. Therefore, Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk on these loans.

Long term deposits have been mainly placed with suppliers of electricity, gas and telecommunication services and against rent of factory building. 
Considering the financial position and credit quality of the institutions and counter parties, Company’s exposure to credit risk is not significant.

Trade debts amounting to Rs. 4,277 million out of total debts are secured against letters of credit and insured contract. Furthermore, credit quality 
of customers is assessed taking into consideration their financial position and previous dealings and on that basis, individual credit limits are set. 
Moreover, the management regularly monitors and reviews customers’ credit exposure. Accordingly, the company is not exposed to any significant 
credit risk.

Other receivables constitute mainly receivables from the related parties and mark up subsidy from banks. Considering the financial position of 
related parties and credit quality of banks and insurance company exposure to credit risk is not significant.

Short term investments are investments in mutual funds, TDRs and sales tax refund bonds. The credit risk on these investments is limited because 
counter parties are fund management Companies, banks and Government with reasonably high credit ratings. The credit quality of mutual funds 
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings or to historical information about counter party default rate.

2019 2018

Credit  Ratings

Al Meezan Investment Management Limited
NBP Fund Management Limited  AM1  AM1 
Alfalah GHP Investment Management Limited  AM1  AM1 
UBL Fund Managers Limited  AM2+  AM2+ 

 AM1  AM1 

The credit quality of Company’s bank balances can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings or to historical information about counterparty 
default rate:

Name of Bank Date Long term Short term Outlook Agency

Allied Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
Askari Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
Bank Alfalah Limited 28-Jun-19 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
Burj Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 A A1 Stable PACRA
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited 28-Jun-19 AA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
Faysal Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AA A1+ Stable PACRA
Habib Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
MCB Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
MCB Islamic Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 A A1 Stable PACRA
Meezan Bank Limited 28-Jun-19 AA+ A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
National Bank of Pakistan 28-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
Silk Bank Limited 27-Jun-19 A- A-2 Stable JCR-VIS
Standard Chartered Bank Pakistan Limited 25-Jun-19 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
The Bank of Punjab 28-Jun-18 AA A1+ Stable PACRA
United Bank Limited 28-Jun-18 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS

Due to Company’s long standing relationships with these counterparties and after giving due consideration to their strong financial standing, man-
agement does not expect non-performance by these counter parties on their obligations to the Company. Accordingly, the risk is minimal.

 51.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. 

The company’s approach to manage liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient level of liquidity by holding highly liquid assets and the availability of fund-
ing through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. At June 30, 2019 the Company has Rs. 13,394.26 million (2018: Rs 4,381.563 million) 
unutilized borrowing limits available from financial institutions and Rs. 1,544.674 million (2018: Rs. 195.939 million) cash and bank balances. The 
management believes that the company is not exposed to any liquidity risk.

The following are the contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

226 227

20
18

 -
 1

9
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

2019

Carrying amount
Contractual cash 
flows

Within 6 
months

More than 6 
months and up 

to 1 year

More than 1 
year and up to 5 

years
Rupees in ‘000 

Financial Liabilities :
Long term financing  4,875,936  5,764,488  677,420  934,605  4,152,463 

Trade and other payables  3,248,567  3,248,567  3,248,567  -    -   

Dividend payable  130,935  130,935  130,935  -    -   

Accrued mark up  113,942  113,942  113,942  -    -   

Short term borrowings  11,855,742  11,941,219  11,941,219  -    -   

 20,225,122  21,199,151  16,112,083  934,605  4,152,463 

2018

Carrying amount
Contractual cash 
flows

Within 6 
months

More than 6 
months and up 

to 1 year

More than 1 
year and up to 5 

years

Rupees in ‘000 

Financial Liabilities :

Long term financing  3,216,476  3,652,002  550,166  594,099  2,507,737 

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  847  1,168  260  519  389 

Trade and other payables  2,485,865  2,485,865  2,485,865  -    -   

Dividend payable  475,276  475,276  475,276  -    -   

Accrued mark up  137,856  137,856  137,856  -    -   

Short term borrowings  15,180,937  15,329,105  15,329,105  -    -   

 21,497,257  22,081,272  18,978,528  594,618  2,508,126 

The contractual cash flows relating to the above financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of interest rates / mark-up rates effective as at 30 
June. The rates of interest / mark up have been disclosed in note 24 and note 29 to these financial statements.

51.4. Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, maintain healthy capital 
ratios, strong credit rating and optimal capital structures in order to ensure ample availability of finance for its existing and potential investment projects, 
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders thereby maximizing their wealth, benefits for other stakeholders and reduce the cost of capital. 

The Company manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Company may, for example, adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to 
reduce debt.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of debt to equity ratio, calculated on the basis of total debt to equity.

2019 2018

Rupees in ‘000

Long term financing  4,875,936  3,216,476 
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease  -    847 
Short term borrowings  11,855,742  15,180,937 

Debts  16,731,678  18,398,260 

Equity  17,515,883  8,816,282 

Total capital (equity + debt)  34,247,561  27,214,542 

Gearing ratio (Percentage)  48.86  67.60 

Particulars From To 
Rupees in 

'000

Operating fixed assets - Cost Freehold land Building on freehold land  143 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Building on freehold land Electric installations  1,290 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Plant and machinery Tools and equipments  1,680 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Plant and machinery Electric installations  22,157 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Building on freehold land  4,249 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Plant and  machinery  14,782 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Furniture and fixtures  2,729 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Tools and equipments Electric installations  4,871 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Office equipments Furniture and fixtures  6,225 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Office equipments Vehicles  11 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Electric installations Building on freehold land  5,999 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Electric installations Tools and equipments  2,894 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Electric installations Plant and  machinery  2,529 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Building on freehold land  105 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Tools and equipments  2,731 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Electric installations  134,836 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Furniture and fixtures Plant and  machinery  10,339 
Operating fixed assets - Cost Vehicles Tools and equipments  102,813 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Building on freehold land Electric installations  5,316 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Plant and machinery Tools and equipments  474 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Building on freehold land  1,460 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Plant and  machinery  10,941 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Furniture and fixtures  161 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Tools and equipments Electric installations  312 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Office equipments Furniture and fixtures  4,831 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Office equipments Vehicles  11 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Electric installations Tools and equipments  2,326 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Electric installations Plant and  machinery  2,644 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Furniture and fixtures Tools and equipments  1,659 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Furniture and fixtures Electric installations  54,925 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Furniture and fixtures Plant and  machinery  1,562 
Operating fixed assets - Accumulated depreciation Vehicles Tools and equipments  74,003 
Depreciation expense Administrative expenses Cost of sales  17,470 
Advertisement expense Distribution cost Administrative expense  4,379 

 54.2 Rounding

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

52. EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Board of Directors in their meeting held on September 23, 2019 have proposed a final cash dividend for the year ended June 30, 2019 of Rs.1.75 per 
share, amounting to Rs. 1,526.34 million for approval of the members at the Annual General Meeting of the holding Company.  

53. DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

The financial statements were authorized for issue on September 23, 2019 by the Board of Directors of the Company. 

54. GENERAL

 54.1 Corresponding figures

Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified wherever necessary for the purpose of better presentation. However, during the year 
following reclassifications are made in the corresponding figures.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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INFORMATION



1 880,001                   885,000                           883,382
1 915,001                   920,000                           915,520
1 945,001                   950,000                           946,662
1 1,120,001                1,125,000                        1,125,000
1 1,260,001                1,265,000                        1,264,500
1 1,435,001                1,440,000                        1,438,222
1 1,440,001                1,445,000                        1,442,415
1 1,495,001                1,500,000                        1,500,000
1 1,575,001                1,580,000                        1,577,750
1 1,695,001                1,700,000                        1,696,970
1 1,970,001                1,975,000                        1,970,328
1 2,130,001                2,135,000                        2,133,000
1 2,170,001                2,175,000                        2,174,000
1 2,270,001                2,275,000                        2,272,500
1 2,710,001                2,715,000                        2,713,500
1 3,020,001                3,025,000                        3,020,110
1 3,605,001                3,610,000                        3,606,000
1 3,730,001                3,735,000                        3,735,000
1 3,745,001                3,750,000                        3,746,250
1 3,880,001                3,885,000                        3,884,420
2 3,995,001                4,000,000                        8,000,000
2 4,340,001                4,345,000                        8,681,396
2 7,195,001                7,200,000                        14,400,000
1 7,660,001                7,665,000                        7,664,062
1 7,810,001                7,815,000                        7,812,500
1 8,090,001                8,095,000                        8,095,000
1 10,775,001              10,780,000                      10,776,172
1 13,865,001              13,870,000                      13,867,560
1 14,635,001              14,640,000                      14,639,500
1 16,680,001              16,685,000                      16,681,396
1 37,225,001              37,230,000                      37,229,040
1 73,005,001              73,010,000                      73,008,720
1 282,495,001            282,500,000                    282,498,838
1 298,495,001            298,500,000                    298,498,840

                

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
AS ON JUNE 30, 2019    
    

Number of Shareholders
Shareholding

From To
Total Shares Held Number of Shareholders

Shareholding

From To
Total Shares Held

80 1                               100                                  2,472
1,979 101                          500                                  984,967
1,351 501                          1,000                               1,345,440
1,267 1,001                       5,000                               2,872,841

184 5,001                       10,000                             1,308,254
64 10,001                     15,000                             794,662
24 15,001                     20,000                             434,648

9 20,001                     25,000                             196,491
14 25,001                     30,000                             378,563
33 30,001                     35,000                             1,054,858
11 35,001                     40,000                             416,302

3 40,001                     45,000                             127,517
2 45,001                     50,000                             94,367
3 50,001                     55,000                             152,879
2 55,001                     60,000                             115,631
2 60,001                     65,000                             125,718
6 65,001                     70,000                             408,942
7 70,001                     75,000                             509,004
6 75,001                     80,000                             461,094
1 80,001                     85,000                             81,717
2 95,001                     100,000                           192,682
2 100,001                   105,000                           203,603
1 105,001                   110,000                           105,918
2 115,001                   120,000                           240,000
4 120,001                   125,000                           487,971
1 125,001                   130,000                           125,719
1 130,001                   135,000                           134,005
1 140,001                   145,000                           143,319
2 145,001                   150,000                           297,375
3 160,001                   165,000                           486,927
2 165,001                   170,000                           339,235
2 195,001                   200,000                           394,000
2 200,001                   205,000                           401,786
1 220,001                   225,000                           224,500
1 250,001                   255,000                           254,000
1 275,001                   280,000                           277,313
1 285,001                   290,000                           286,129
1 310,001                   315,000                           310,250
1 315,001                   320,000                           319,148
1 345,001                   350,000                           345,727
1 360,001                   365,000                           363,303
1 385,001                   390,000                           385,250
1 395,001                   400,000                           400,000
1 400,001                   405,000                           401,438
1 410,001                   415,000                           413,829
2 450,001                   455,000                           903,500
1 700,001                   705,000                           701,250
1 720,001                   725,000                           724,712
1 725,001                   730,000                           726,500
2 755,001                   760,000                           1,511,642
1 760,001                   765,000                           761,377
1 770,001                   775,000                           772,672

5,131  869,400,000 

Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children 10 709,326,004 81.59
Associated Companies, undertakings and related parties -                              
Executives 8 23,611,384 2.72
Banks, development finance institutions, non-banking finance companies, 
insurance companies, takaful, modarabas and pension funds 18 51,257,548 5.90
Mutual Funds 43 32,463,723 3.73
General Public                                  a. Local 4,998                      42,998,995              4.95

b. Foreign 3 153,515
Foreign Companies - -                                                   
Others 51 9,588,831 1.10

Total  5,131 869,400,000 100

Share holders holding 10% or more 2 596,997,680 68.66 

Categories of Shareholders Shareholders  Shares Held  Percentage 

Shareholders  Shares Held  Percentage 
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ToShareholdings From Total Number of Shares HeldNumber of Shareholders

101 2,7675009

501 5,3851,0007

1,001 454,5885,000162

5,001 815,86110,000114

10,001 410,53615,00033

15,001 171,23720,00010

20,001 155,90025,0007

25,001 28,59430,0001

30,001 99,15035,0003

35,001 39,07440,0001

40,001 83,54945,0002

45,001 47,50750,0001

50,001 103,54755,0002

55,001 56,06460,0001

75,001 76,46280,0001

95,001 97,142100,0001

150,001 150,087155,0001

2,797,450356

356 100.002,797,450Individuals

Company Registered Office
Interloop Limited
Al – Sadiq Plaza, P – 157,
Railway Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan
Phone: +92 – 41 – 2619724
Fax: +92 – 41 – 2639400

Share Registrar Central Depository 
Company of Pakistan Limited
Karachi Office:
Share Registrar Department
CDC House, 99-B, Block B,
S.H.C.H.S, Main Shahra-e-Faisal, 
Karachi – 74400
Tel: (92-21) 111-111-500
Fax: (92-21) 34326031

Lahore Office:
Mezzanine Floor,
South Tower, LSE Plaza,
19-Khayaban-e-Aiwan-e-Iqbal, Lahore.
Tel: (042) – 36362061-66

Company Website
Updated information regarding the Company can be accessed at  
www.interloop-pk.com. The website contains the latest 
financial results of the Company together with Company’s profile 
and product range.

Listing
Interloop Limited is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange as on 
April 5,2019.

Stock Symbol
The stock symbol for dealing in equity shares of Interloop 
Limited is “ILP”

Annual Listing Fee
The Annual listing fee for the Financial year 2018-19 has been 
paid within the prescribed time limit.

Financial Information
The Company has published the Annual and Quarterly Accounts 
on the Company’s website.

Statutory Compliance
During the year, the Company has complied with all applicable 
provisions, filed all returns/forms and furnished all the relevant 
particulars as required under the Companies Act 2017 and allied 
rules, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 
(SECP)Regulations and the Listing requirements.

Share Transfer System
Share transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar are 
registered within the prescribed period.

Annual General Meetings
Pursuant to Section 132 of the Companies Act 2017 The 
Company holds a General Meeting of shareholders at least 
once a year. Every shareholder has a right to attend the General 
Meeting. 

The notice of such meeting is sent to all the shareholders at least 
21 days before the meeting and also advertised in at least one 
English and one Urdu newspaper having circulation in Karachi, 
Lahore & Islamabad.

Proxies
Pursuant to Section 137 of the Companies Act 2017 and 
according to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of 
the Company, every shareholder of the Company who is entitled 
to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company can 
appoint another person as his/her proxy to attend and vote on 
his/her behalf. Every notice calling a general meeting of the 
Company contains a statement that a shareholder entitled to 
attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy who sought to be 
a member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy 
(duly signed by the shareholder appointing that proxy) should 
be deposited at the registered office of the Company not less 
than forty-eight hours before the meeting.

.

Dividend Mandate (Mandatory)
As per provision of Section 242 of Companies Act, 2017 any 
dividend payable in cash shall only be paid through electronic 
mode directly into the bank account designated by the entitled 
shareholders and SECP vide S.R.O.1145(I)/2017 (as amended) 
directed all shareholders to provide their valid International Bank 
Account Numbers (IBAN) to receive cash dividend electronically. 
Company shall be constrained to withhold the payment of 
Dividend to the shareholders, in case of non-availability of IBAN 
of the shareholder or authorized person.

Tax/Zakat Implications on Dividends
Increased Tax Rates on Filers/ Non-Filers through the Finance 
Act, 2017, enhanced rate of withholding tax on dividend amount 
has been prescribed in the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, 
(Ordinance).
New tax rates are as under:

(a)- Person appearing in the Active Taxpayer list 15%
(b)- Person not appearing in the Active Taxpayer list 30%

The corporate shareholders having CDC accounts are required 
to have their NTN updated with their respective participants, 
whereas corporate physical shareholders should send a copy 
of their NTN certificate to our Share Registrars, mentioning their 
Folio No. and the name of the Company. Amount of under Zakat 
& Ushr Ordinance 1980, Zakat has been deducted at source at 
the rate of 2.5% of the paid-up value of the share and deposited 
into the Central Zakat Fund, within the prescribed period.

INFORMATION FOR
SHAREHOLDERS 

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
AS ON JUNE 30, 2019
NON - VOTING ORDINARY SHARES 

Number of Shareholders
Shareholding

From To
Total Shares Held

Shareholder’s 
Category

Number Of 
Shareholders

Number Of Shares 
Held Percentage

A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

18
-1

9

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

234 235



attached with the proxy form. Representatives of corporate 
members should bring the usual documents required for 
such purpose.

CDC Account Holders will also have to follow the under 
mentioned guidelines as laid down in Circular 1 dated 
January 26, 2000 issued by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP):

a)  For Attending AGM
• In case of individuals, the account holder or sub-

account holder and / or the person whose securities 
are in group account and their registration details are 
uploaded as per the regulations, shall authenticate 
identity by showing his / her original Computerized 
National Identity Card (CNIC) or original passport at 
the time of attending the Meeting.

• Members registered on CDC are also requested to 
bring their particulars, I.D. numbers and account 
numbers in CDS.

• In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ 
resolution / power of attorney with specimen 
signature of the nominee shall be produced (unless 
it has been provided earlier) at the time of the 
meeting.

b) For Appointing Proxy
• In case of individuals, the account holder or sub-

account holder and / or the person whose securities 
are in group account and their registration detail is 
uploaded as per the regulations, shall submit the 
proxy form as per the above requirement.

• The proxy form shall be witnessed by the person 
whose name, address and CNIC number shall be 
mentioned on the form.

• Attested copies of CNIC of the beneficial owners 
and the proxy shall be furnished with the proxy form. 

• The proxy shall produce his / her original CNIC or 
original passport at the time of meeting.

• In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ 
resolution / power of attorney with specimen 
signature shall be submitted (unless it has been 
provided earlier) along with proxy form to the 
Company.

iv. Notify The Changes in Addresses 

of Shareholders
The shareholders of the Company are requested to notify 
changes in their mailing addresses (if any), to our share 
registrar/transfer agent.

v. CNIC / NTN number on Electronic 
Dividend (Mandatory) 
a As per SRO 831 (1) / 2012 dated July 05, 2012 and 

other relevant rules the electronic Dividend should 
also bear the CNIC Number of the registered 
shareholder or the authorized person, except in 
case of minor[s] and corporate shareholder[s].

b As per Regulation no. 4 & 6 of SRO 1145 (1)/2017 
dated November 2017, the Company shall be 
constrained to withhold the payment of Dividend 
to the shareholders, in case of non-availability 
of identification number (CNIC or National Tax 
Number) of the shareholder or authorized person.

c Accordingly, the shareholders, who have not yet 
submitted copy of their valid CNIC or NTN are once 
again requested to immediately submit the same 
to the Share Registrar. 

vi. Transmission of Audited Financial 
Statements / Notices Through 
Email

Members are hereby informed that pursuant to SECP SRO 
787(1)/2014 dated September 8, 2014, and under section 
223(6) of the Companies Act 2017, circulation of Audited 
Financial Statements and Notice of Annual General Meeting 
has been allowed in electronic format through email.

In compliance with the above requirements, members who 
wish to receive the Annual Report 2019 in electronic form 
may file an application as per the form provided on the 
Company’s website in compliance with the subject SRO. 
The members who have provided consent to receive Annual 
Report 2019 can subsequently request any other media 
including hard copy which shall be provided free of cost
within seven days.

 vii. Transmission of Annual Financial 
Statements Through CD/DVD/
USB

Members are hereby informed that pursuant to SECP SRO 
787(1)/2014 dated September 8, 2014, and under section 
223(6) of the Companies Act 2017, circulation of Audited 
Financial Statements and Notice of Annual General Meeting 

NOTICE OF  27TH ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the 27th Annual General Meeting of 
the members of Interloop Limited (“Company”) is scheduled 
to be held on Monday, October 14th, 2019 at 10:00 a.m. at 
Serena Hotel, Club Road, Civil Lines, Faisalabad, to 
transact the following business:

Ordinary Business
1 To confirm the minutes of the Extra Ordinary General 

Meeting held on March 5, 2019.  

2 To receive, consider and adopt audited accounts of the 
Company for the year ended June 30, 2019 together 
with the Chairman’s Review Report, Directors’ and 
Auditors’ Report thereon.

3 To approve Final Cash Dividend @ 17.5% [i.e. Rs. 
1.75/share for the year ended June 30, 2019 as 
recommended by the Board of Directors.

4 To appoint auditors for the year ending June 30, 
2020 and fix their remuneration. The retiring Auditors 
M/s Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Company, Chartered 
Accountants, being eligible have offered themselves for 
reappointment.

Special Business
5 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without 

modification(s), the following resolution as special 
resolution, as circulated to the members of the Company 
along with the notice of this AGM and initialed by the 
Company Secretary for the purpose of identification, 
in substitution of and to the exclusion of the existing 
Articles of Association of the Company. 

       
The text of this special resolution is as under:

“Resolved That
the existing Articles of Association of the Company be and 
are hereby altered and be replaced with a new set of Articles 
of Association of the Company.”

“Resolved Further That
any changes, as may be required by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP), in the new set 
of Articles shall be treated as approved and adopted by the 
shareholders and the same shall have effect from the date of 
passing of this special resolution.”

“Resolved Further That 
The Chief Executive Officer or the Company Secretary be and 
are hereby authorized singly to fulfill all legal, corporate and 

procedural formalities and to do all necessary acts, deeds 
and things in connection therewith and ancillary thereto as 
may be required or expedient to give effect to the spirit and 
intent of the above resolution and filings with SECP along 
with all requisite documents, affidavits, statements etc. for 
recording of the alterations of Articles of Association .”

Other Business
6 To transact any other business with the permission of 

the Chair.  

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

(Rana Ali Raza) Faisalabad:
Company Secretary  Date: September 23, 2019

Notes
i. Closure of Share Transfer Books
The Share Transfer Books of the Company shall remain 
closed from 07th October 2019 to 14th October 2019 (both 
days inclusive). Transfer received in order at our Share 
Registrar/Transfer agent, CDC Share Registrar Services 
Limited (CDCSRSL), CDC House, 99-B, S.M.C.H. Society, 
Main Shahrah-e-Faisal, Karachi 74400, at the close of 
business on Friday, October 04th, 2019 will be considered in 
time for the purpose of above entitlement to the transferees.

ii.  Participation in Annual General 

Meeting
A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at this Annual 
General Meeting shall be entitled to appoint another 
member, as a proxy to attend and vote on his / her behalf. 
The instrument appointing Proxy must be received at the 
Registered Office or Share Registrar of the Company not 
less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting. For the 
convenience of the members a Proxy Application Form is 
dispatched with the Notice of the Meeting.

iii. Further Guidelines for CDC 

Account Holders
Any Individual Beneficial Owner of CDC, entitled to vote at 
this Meeting, must bring his / her original Computerized 
National Identity Card (CNIC) to prove identity, and in case 
of proxy, a copy of shareholder’s attested CNIC must be 
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has been allowed in electronic format through email.

SECP through its SRO.470(I)/2016 dated May 31, 2016 have 
allowed companies to circulate their annual balance sheet, 
profit and loss account, auditor’s report and directors’ report 
to its members through CD/DVD/USB at their registered 
addresses. In view of the above the Company has sent its 
Annual Report to the shareholders in the form of CD/DVD. 
Any Member can send request for printed copy of the Annual 
Report to the Company on standard request form placed 
under the Investor Information section on its website:

https://www.interloop-pk.com/forms-notices-
announcements//

viii. Placement of Financial 
Statements on Website

The Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 
June 30, 2019 along with reports have been placed on the 
website of the Company:

https://www.interloop-pk.com/wp-content/
uploads/2019/09/ANNUAL-AUDITED-FINANCIAL-
STATEMENTS-AND-REPORT-2019.pdf

ix. Consent for Video Conference 
Facility

Pursuant to Section 132(2) & section 134(b) of the 
Companies Act, 2017, if company receives consent 
form from shareholders holding aggregate 10% or more 
shareholding residing at geographical location to participate 
in the meeting through video conference at least 7 days 
prior to the date of meeting, the company will arrange video 
conference facility in that city subject to availability of such 
facility in that city. To avail this facility please provide following 
information and submit to registered office of the Company: 

I/We, __________________________________ of 
_________________, being a member of Interloop 
Limited, holder of __________________________ ordinary 
share(s) as per Registered Folio/CDC Account No. 
______________________ hereby opt for video conference 
facility at ____________________________.

_____________________

Signature of Member

x. Requirement of Companies 
(Postal Ballot) Regulations 2018

Pursuant to Companies (Postal Ballot) Regulations 2018, 
for any other agenda item subject to the requirements of 
Sections 143 and 144 of the Companies Act 2017, members 
present in person, through video-link or by proxy, and having 
not less than one-tenth of the total voting power can also 
demand a poll and exercise their right of vote through postal 
ballot, that is voting by post or through any electronic mode, 
in accordance with requirements and procedure contained 
in the aforesaid regulations.

xi. Payment of Cash Dividend 
Electronically (E-Dividend 
Mechanism)

As per provision of Section 242 of Companies Act, 2017 
any dividend payable in cash shall only be paid through 
electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by 
the entitled shareholders and SECP vide S.R.O.1145(I)/2017 
(as amended) directed all shareholders to provide their valid 
International Bank Account Numbers (IBAN) to receive cash 
dividend electronically.

The shareholders are hereby advised to provide details of 
their bank mandate specifying: (i) Title of Account, (ii) IBAN, 
(iii) Bank Name, (iv) Branch Name and Address to the 
Company’s Share Registrar, shareholders who hold shares 
with Participants/CDC are advised to provide the mandate 
to the concerned Broker/Participant/CDC Investor account 
services.

The form for providing such information has been made 
available under the Investor Information section at 
Company’s website https://www.interloop-pk.com/
forms-notices-announcements/

xii. Unclaimed Dividends
As per the provision of section 244 of the Companies 
Act, 2017, any shares issued or dividend declared by the 
Company which have remained unclaimed/unpaid for a 
period of three years from the date on which it was due and 
payable are required to be deposited with the Commission 
for the credit of Federal Government after issuance of notices 
to the shareholders to file their claim. 

Shareholders are requested to ensure that their claims for 
unclaimed dividend and shares are lodged timely. In case, 
no claim is lodged with the Company in the given time, the 
Company shall proceed to deposit the unclaimed/unpaid 
amount and shares with the Federal Government pursuant 
to the provision of Section 244 (2) of Companies Act, 2017.

xiii. Withholding Tax On Dividend
Government of Pakistan through Finance Act, 2019, has 
made certain amendments in withholding tax provision by 
substituting the definition of “Filers” with “Active Taxpayer 
List” (ATL), whereby the company is required to collect tax 
on dividend under Section 150 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 
2001 from the person not appearing in the ATL at the rates 
specified  in the Ordinance as increased by 100%. These tax 
rates are as under:

(a) For persons appearing in Active Taxpayer List 15.0%
(b) For persons not appearing in Active Taxpayer List 30.0%

Shareholders who are flers, are advised to make sure that 
their names are entered into latest ATL provided on the 
website of FBR at the time of dividend payment, otherwise 
they shall be treated as person not appearing in ATL and tax 
on their cash dividend will be deducted at the rate of 30% 
instead of 15%.

xiv. For Joint Shareholders
For shareholders holding their shares jointly as per the 
clarifcation issued by the Federal Board of Revenue, 
withholding tax will be determined separately as per status 
of their names appearing in the ATL for principal shareholder 
as well as joint-holder(s) based on their shareholding 
proportions. Therefore, all shareholders who hold shares 
jointly are required to provide shareholding proportions of 
principal shareholder and joint-holder(s) in respect of shares 
held by them to our Share Registrar in writing as follows:

xv.  Details of Beneficial Ownership
Attention of corporate entities / legal persons is also invited 
towards SECP Circular No. 16 and 20 of 2018. Respective 
shareholders (corporate entities / legal persons) are advised 
to provide the information pertaining to ultimate beneficial 
owners and / or other information as prescribed in the subject 
SECP Circulars to the Share Registrar of the Company.

xvi. Zakat Declaration (CZ-50)
Zakat will be deducted from the dividends at source at 
the rate of 2.5% of the paid-up value of the share (Rs. 10 
each) and will be deposited within the prescribed period 
with the relevant authority. In case of claiming exemption, 
please submit your Zakat Declaration under Zakat and 
Ushr Ordinance, 1980  and Rule 4 of Zakat (Deduction and 
Refund) Rules, 1981, CZ-50 Form with our Share Registrar. 
Physical shareholders are requested to submit the said 
declaration to our Share Registrar in the proper manner. 
The Shareholders must write Interloop Limited’s name and 
their respective CDS A/C # or Folio numbers on Zakat 
Declarations at relevant place.

Interloop Limited

  Principal 
Shareholder

Joint Shareholder

Folio/CDC 
Account 

#

Total 
Shares

Name 
and 

CNIC

Shareholding 
Proportion

(Number. of 
Shares)

Name 
and 

CNIC

Shareholing 
Proportion

(Number. of 
Shares)
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STATEMENT UNDER SECTION
134 (3) of the Companies Act, 2017

This statement sets out the material facts pertaining to the 
special business, being Items on the notice, intended to be 
transacted at the annual general meeting of the Company to 
be held on October 14, 2019.

Explanation on Item # 5
The Companies Act, 2017 has replaced the Companies 
Ordinance, 1984 and it is desirable to amend the Articles 
of Association of the Company to reflect the provisions 
and sections of the new Companies Act, 2017. Also, the 
Company has now become listed and it requires to add few 
additional clauses relevant in the context of a listed entity. 
As the amendments have been numerous, it is proposed to 
adopt the revised revision as a whole in substitution of the 
existing Articles of Association.

The Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting held 
on September 23, 2019, has recommended alteration in the 

existing Articles of the Company and its replacement with a 
new set of Articles of Association, to bring it in line with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2017 and other applicable 
regulations.

A copy of new set of Articles of Association is being circulated 
to members with the notice of Annual General Meeting.

The new set of Articles of Association have been kept at the 
Registered Office of the Company and may be inspected 
by members on working days during usual business hours 
from Monday to Friday (9.00 a.m. - 5.00 p.m.) from the date 
of issuance/publication of this notice till the date of general 
meeting.

The Directors of the Company have no direct or indirect 
interest in the special resolution proposing alterations 
in the Articles of Association, except to the extent of their 
shareholding  in the Company.
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https://www.interloop-pk.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/ANNUAL-AUDI
TED-FINANCIAL-STATEMENTS-AND-REPORT-2019.pdf

A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

18
-1

9

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

244 245



A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

18
-1

9

In
te

rlo
op

 L
im

ite
d

246 247



 
Folio No.

 CDC Account No.
  Participant I.D. Account No.

I / We

of

being a member(s) of Interloop Limited hold

Ordinary Shares hereby appoint Mr / Mrs / Miss

 of   or failing him / her

of                     as my/our proxy in my/our absence to attend and vote for me/us and 

on my/our behalf at the 27th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, 

October 14, 2019 and /or any adjournment there of.

As witness my/our hand/seal this   day of   October 2019.

Signed by    

in the presence of   

Signature on
Five Rupees

Revenue Stamp

The Signature should
agree with the

specimen registered
with the Company

Important:
1. This Proxy Form, duly completed and signed, must be received at the Registered 

Office of the Company, Interloop Limited, Al-Sadiq Plaza P-157, Railway Road, 
Faisalabad, not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

2. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxies 
are deposited by a member with the Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be 
rendered invalid. 

3. For CDC Account Holders/Corporate Entities

 In addition to the above the following requirements have to be met.

(i)  Attested copies of CNIC or the passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall 
be provided with the proxy form. 

(ii)  The proxy shall produce his original CNIC or original passport at the time of the 
meeting.

(iii)  In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors resolution/power of attorney with 
specimen signature shall be submitted (unless it has been provided earlier alongwith 
proxy form to the Company).

FORM OF PROXY INTERLOOP LIMITED

27th Annual General Meeting
NOTES
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